
  
 
 

Head of Legal and  
Democratic Services 

 

 
This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

MEETING : EXECUTIVE 

VENUE : COUNCIL CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD 

DATE : TUESDAY 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 

TIME : 7.00 PM 
 
 
MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE 
 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Martin Ibrahim 
Tel: 01279-502173 

Email: martin.ibrahim@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

 

Councillor Linda Haysey - Leader 
Councillor Eric Buckmaster - Executive Member for Health 

 and Wellbeing 
Councillor Tony Jackson - Ambassador and Executive 

 Member for Shared Services 
Councillor Gary Jones - Deputy Leader and Executive 

 Member for Economic 
 Development 

Councillor Graham McAndrew - Executive Member for 
 Environment and the Public 
 Space 

Councillor Suzanne Rutland-Barsby - Executive Member for 
 Development Management 
 and Council Support 

Councillor Geoffrey Williamson - Executive Member for 
 Finance and Support Services 

Public Document Pack

mailto:martin.ibrahim@eastherts.gov.uk


 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
 
1. A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, 

sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the 
Authority, with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to 
be considered or being considered at a meeting: 

 

 must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; 

 

 must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 
meeting; 

 

 must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered or 
not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism Act 
2011; 

 

 if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a 
pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest within 28 days; 

 

 must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes place. 
 
 
2. A DPI is an interest of a Member or their partner (which means 

spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they were 
civil partners) within the descriptions as defined in the Localism Act 
2011. 

 
 
3. The Authority may grant a Member dispensation, but only in limited 

circumstances, to enable him/her to participate and vote on a matter 
in which they have a DPI. 

 



 

 
4. It is a criminal offence to: 
 

 fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it 
is not on the register; 

 fail to notify the Monitoring Officer, within 28 days, of a DPI that 
is not on the register that a Member disclosed to a meeting; 

 participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which a 
Member has a DPI; 

 knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or 
misleading in notifying the Monitoring Officer of a DPI or in 
disclosing such interest to a meeting. 

 
(Note: The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a 

fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale and 
disqualification from being a councillor for up to 5 years.)  

 
               
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings 
 
 
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its 
Committees using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you 
think are suitable, which may include social media of any kind, 
such as tweeting, blogging or Facebook.  However, oral 
reporting or commentary is prohibited.  If you have any 
questions about this please contact Democratic Services 
(members of the press should contact the Press Office).  
Please note that the Chairman of the meeting has the 
discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons, 
including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of the 
business being conducted.  Anyone filming a meeting should 
focus only on those actively participating and be sensitive to 
the rights of minors, vulnerable adults and those members of 
the public who have not consented to being filmed.   
 



 

 
AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

2. Leader's Announcements  
 

3. Minutes  
 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 July 
2016 (previously circulated as part of Council Agenda of 27 July 2016). 
 

4. Declarations of Interest  
 

 To receive any Member(s) declaration(s) of interest. 
 

5. Corporate Annual Report 2015/16 (Pages 9 - 22) 
 

6. Hertford Urban Design Strategy – Request for Capital Funding (Pages 23 - 
28) 

 

7. Herts Home Improvement Agency Proposal (Pages 29 - 90) 
 

8. Proposed Use of Article 4 Directions (Pages 91 - 110) 
 

9. Hertingfordbury Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 
(Pages 111 - 180) 

 

10. Little Hadham Neighbourhood Plan Area Designation (Pages 181 - 190) 
 

11. Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 - 2020/21 
(Pages 191 - 216) 

 

12. 2015-16 Annual Governance Statement (Pages 217 - 248) 
 

13. Quarterly Performance Report - Quarter 1 (June 2016) (Pages 249 - 288) 
 



 

14. District Planning Executive Panel: Minutes - 21 July 2016 (Pages 289 - 
298) 
 

 To consider recommendations on the following matters: 
 

(A) Heritage Impact Assessment for Panshanger Park and its Environs, 
June 2016  

 

 Minute 14 refers 
 

(B) Hertford and Ware Employment Study, June 2016  
 

 Minute 15 refers 
 

(C) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 1 – Introduction: Response to 
Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation  

 

 Minute 16 refers 
 

(D) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 2 – Vision and Strategic 
Objectives: Response to Issues Raised During Preferred Options 
Consultation  

 

 Minute 17 refers 
 

(E) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 7 – Hertford: Response to 
Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation  

 

 Minute 18 refers 
 

(F) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 8 – Sawbridgeworth: 
Response to Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation  

 

 Minute 19 refers 
 

(G) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 9 – Ware: Response to Issues 
Raised During Preferred Options Consultation  

 

 Minute 20 refers 



 

 

(H) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 11 – East of Welwyn Garden 
City: Response to Issues Raised During Preferred Options 
Consultation  

 

 Minute 21 refers 
 

(I) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 12 – Gilston Area: Response 
to Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation  

 

 Minute 22 refers 
 

(J) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 14  – Employment: Response 
to Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation, Further 
Amendments and Draft Revised Chapter (Renamed Economic 
Development)  

 

 Minute 23 refers 
 

(K) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 18 – Community Facilities, 
Leisure and Recreation: Response to Issues Raised During Preferred 
Options Consultation, Further Amendments and Draft Revised 
Chapter  

 

 Minute 24 refers 
 

15. District Planning Executive Panel: Minutes - 25 August 2016  
 

 Report to follow 
To consider recommendations on the following matters: 
 

(A) East Herts Draft District Plan – New Draft Chapter 1 – Introduction  
 

(B) East Herts District Plan – New Draft Chapter 2 – Vision and Strategic 
Objectives  

 

(C) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 3 – Development Strategy: 
Response to Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation  

 



 

(D) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 4 – Green Belt and Rural Area 
Beyond the Green Belt: Response to Issues Raised During Preferred 
Options Consultation  

 

(E) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 6 – Buntingford: Response to 
Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation  

 

(F) East Herts Draft District Plan – Sawbridgeworth – Settlement 
Appraisal and New Draft Chapter 8  

 

(G) East Herts Draft District Plan – Ware – Settlement Appraisal and New 
Draft Chapter 9  

 

(H) East Herts Draft District Plan – East of Welwyn Garden City – 
Settlement Appraisal and New Draft Chapter 13  

 

(I) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 13 – Housing: Response to 
Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation and Draft 
Revised Chapter (Renumbered Chapter 14)  

 

(J) East Herts Draft District Plan – Chapter 25 – Delivery: Response to 
Issues Raised During Preferred Options Consultation, Further 
Amendments and Draft Revised Chapter (Renamed Delivery and 
Monitoring)  

 

(K) Strategic Land Availability Assessment, August 2016  
 

(L) Final Village Hierarchy Study August 2016  
 

(M) Duty to Co-operate Update Report  
 

16. Urgent Business  
 

 To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration and is not likely to 
involve the disclosure of exempt information. 
 

17. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

 To move that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 



 

the press and public be excluded from the meeting during the discussion of 
item 18 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said 
Act of the following description: 
 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) 
 

18. Sale of Land at Aubries, Walkern (Pages 299 - 306) 
 
 



 
  

EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
EXECUTIVE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER OF FINANCE AND SUPPORT 
SERVICES          
 

 2015/16 ANNUAL REPORT 

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED:  (None specific) 

       
 
Purpose/Summary of Report 
 

 This report provides a draft of the council’s Annual Report for 
2015/16. 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S) FOR EXECUTIVE:  That: 
 

(A) the 2015/16 Annual Report be approved. 
 

 
 
1.0 Background  
 
1.1 The Annual Report documents the council’s key achievements for 

each of the corporate priorities over the last financial year. It also 
contains an overview of the council’s performance. 

 
1.2  The Annual Report complements and mirrors the 2015 – 2019 

Corporate Plan but looks back on performance rather than 
offering any forward looking planning.  

 
1.3 The 2015 – 2019 Corporate Plan contained the council’s old 

priorities which were replaced from 1 April 2016 with a smaller, 
more streamlined set. 
 

1.4 The achievements within the report have primarily been sourced 
from Team Update, Service Plan Progress Reports and Link 
Magazine. 

 
2.0 Report 
 
2.1 This report provides a draft of the Annual Report for 2015/16 for 

comment and approval.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 
  

 
2.2 The report allows residents to judge the effectiveness and 

contribution of the council to the district and local communities as 
well as enabling councillors and employees to reflect on 
performance.  

 
2.3 The Annual Report will be designed and published on the 

council’s website.  
 
2.4 The Annual Report is attached as Essential Reference Paper 

‘B’. Performance information which compliments the Annual 
Report is attached as Essential Reference Paper ‘C’ and will be 
published separately. 

 
3.0 Implications/Consultations 
 
3.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 

with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’.   

 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
Contact Member: Councillor Geoffrey Williamson – Executive Member 

of Finance and Support Services 
geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk 

 
Contact Officer: Benjamin Wood – Head of Communications, Policy 

and Strategy   
 01992 531699  
 Benjamin.wood@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Ceridwen Pettit – Corporate Planning and 

Performance Manager 
ceri.pettit@eastherts.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 10

mailto:geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Benjamin.wood@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:ceri.pettit@eastherts.gov.uk


 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 
 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives: 

This report focuses on the councils old priorities for 
2015/16, which were: 

 

People – Fair and accessible services for those that 
use them and opportunities for everyone to 
contribute 

This priority focuses on delivering strong services and 
seeking to enhance the quality of life, health and 
wellbeing, particularly for those who are vulnerable. 

Place – Safe and Clean  

This priority focuses on sustainability, the built 
environment and ensuring our towns and villages are 
safe and clean. 

Prosperity – Improving the economic and social 
opportunities available to our communities  

This priority focuses on safeguarding and enhancing our 
unique mix of rural and urban communities, promoting 
sustainable, economic opportunities and delivering cost 
effective services. 

 

Consultation: The leadership team were consulted on the draft 2015/16 
Annual Report. 

 

Legal: There are no legal implications. 

 

Financial: There are no financial implications. 

 

Human 
Resource: 

There are no human resources implications. 

Risk 
Management: 

Effective performance management arrangements helps 
to ensure that the council’s priorities and objectives are 
met and supports greater transparency and increases 
local accountability. The Annual Report is one tool 
designed to help deliver this.  

 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 

There are no direct Health and Wellbeing implications in 
regard to this report, although a number of achievements 
detailed in the report support this priority area. 

Page 11



 
  

impacts: 

 

 
 

Page 12



Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ 

 

 

Annual Report 2015/16 

Priority and outcomes  

1. People – fair and accessible services and opportunities for everyone to contribute: 

 Improve health and wellbeing of residents 

 Reduce fuel poverty 

 Increase community engagement 

 Deliver customer focused services 

 Improve outcomes for vulnerable families and individuals. 

Achievements so far… 

 Launched a three year “Forever Active in East Herts” sports and leisure 

programme for over 50s with a “Come and Try” taster event attended by 

over 200 people 

 Used funding of £100,000 from county to deliver 14 health and wellbeing 

outcomes to benefit local people including Meet and Eat Project, Exercise 

to Wellbeing Project, Dementia Homes Project 

 Launched an action plan to tackle fuel poverty which includes 50% grants 

for cavity  wall and loft insulation, advice and assistance to residents in 

need 

 Active partner of the Herts Healthy Homes Project which benefited 58 

elderly residents 

 Establishing a dedicated post to focus on sustaining tenancies in the 

private rented sector using a £49,000 homelessness prevention grant to 

support residents with rental deposits 

 Held fifth Community Sports Awards 

 Developed new community volunteering scheme 

 Granted a 30 year lease to Ware Arts Centre to transform Southern 

Malting into a community arts hub 

 Undertook biennial residents survey that showed 69% of residents 

satisfied with how the council runs things 

 Customer satisfaction is 83% for face to face contact, supported the 

opening of a Dementia Café in Bishop’s Stortford 

 Offered free dementia awareness sessions for residents, businesses and 

students 

 Funded eight Silver Sunday events celebrating older people with activity 

grants 

Page 13



Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ 

 

 

 Reduced average processing times for housing benefit applications to 

under 10 days in spite of increased demand 

2. Place – safe and clean: 

 Reduce residual waste and increase recycling rate 

 Reduce C02 emissions from our own operations by 25% by 2020 and 

work with partners to reduce the emissions of households and businesses 

 Maintain clean streets and reduce litter 

 Maintain parks, play areas and open spaces in good order 

 Reduce anti-social behaviour (ASB) and the fear of crime 

 Ensure future development best meets the need of the district and its 

residents. 

Achievements so far … 

 49% of waste recycled 

 Two air quality projects delivered 

 1600 tonnes of C02 saved 

 New powers to tackle anti-social behaviour 

 RSPCA gold footprint award 

 First compulsory purchase order of derelict home 

 Retained Green Flag Awards 

 Delivered 147 new affordable homes 

 Supported launch of community youth champions and Op Stomp 

initiatives, 

 Summer activities programme enjoyed by 621youngsters 

 Granted planning permission for up to 2,200 new homes at Bishop’s 

Stortford North incorporating affordable homes 

 Improved planning application processing times 

 Completed and adopted the Hertford Urban Design Strategy 

3. Prosperity – improving the economic and social opportunities available to our 

communities: 

 Deliver value for money and reduce our reliance on central government 

funding 

 Enhance the economic wellbeing of East Herts 

 Deliver sustainable rural business growth 

 Protect the environment. 

Page 14



Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ 

 

 

Achievements so far … 

 Council tax bill frozen 

 Supported county’s business awards 

 Purchased Old River Lane site in Bishop’s Stortford and started work on a 

town centre framework for consultation at end of 2016 

 Created more short stay car parking availability at Gascoyne Way 

Hertford and Crown Terrace Bishop’s Stortford car parks 

 Contributed to set-up of Better Business for All (BBfA) 

 Jointly launched new Eastern Plateau Rural Development Programme 

(RDPE), continued with flood alleviation works across the district.   

 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 'C'

Past 

Performance

2014/15

Short 

term 

trend

Status

EHPI 1a
% of customers satisfied with leisure services 

- All
N/A N/A 81.00% N/A N/A

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 1b
% of customers satisfied with  leisure 

services  - Leventhorpe
N/A N/A 91.00% N/A N/A

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 1c
% of customers satisfied with leisure services 

- Hartham
N/A N/A 80.00% N/A N/A

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 1d
% of customers satisfied with leisure services 

- Fanshawe
N/A N/A 72.00% N/A N/A

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 1e
% of customers satisfied with leisure services 

- Buntingford
N/A N/A 80.00% N/A N/A

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 1f
% of customers satisfied with leisure services 

- Grange Paddocks
N/A N/A 57.00% N/A N/A

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 3a Usage: number of swims (under 16) 50,261 49,000 47,787

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 3b Usage: number of swims (16 - 60) 95,590 95,000 92,856

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 3c Usage: number of swims (60 +) 29,268 27,000 25,352

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 4a Usage: Gym (16 - 60) 193,446 187,000 163,671

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 4b Usage: Gym (60 +) 21,267 16,800 20,292

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 129
Response time to Anti Social Behaviour 

complaints made to East Herts Council
100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 3.1

The number of formal warnings issued to 

drivers and operators by the Licensing team. 

(This includes matters like - failure to 

produce documents, parking issues and 

driver conduct)

N/A Trend only 22 N/A N/A
Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 3.2
The number of taxi licensing matters taken 

forward to the Licensing Sub Committee
N/A Trend only 11 N/A N/A

Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 3.3
Number of events notified to the Safety 

Advisory Group by event organisers
N/A Trend only 76 N/A N/A

Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 3.4
The number of visits by Licensing 

Enforcement officers to Licensed premises
N/A Trend only 201 N/A N/A

Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 3.5

The number of applications received by the 

Licensing team in respect of Licensed 

premises

N/A Trend only 1125 N/A N/A
Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 3.6
The number of these applications that have 

received representations against them
N/A Trend only 8 N/A N/A

Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 3.7
The number of these applications that are 

taken forward to Licensing Sub Committee
N/A Trend only 2 N/A N/A

Community Safety 

and Health

2015/16 outturns

Lead Service

Corporate Priority: People

Performance 
Code Indicator

Current Performance

Outturn

2015/16

Target 

2015/16
Outturn

1 Page 17



Appendix 'C'Past 

Performance

2014/15

Short 

term 

trend

Status
Lead Service

Performance 
Code Indicator

Current Performance

Outturn

2015/16

Target 

2015/16
Outturn

EHPI 184
Food establishments in the area which are 

broadly compliant with food hygiene law
94% 85%

Not available 

until 

December 

2016

TBA TBA
Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 2.12 Service requests: environmental health 94% 98%

Not available 

until 

December 

2016

TBA TBA
Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 10.1 Council Tax Support caseload 6,623 Trend only 6,267 N/A

Revenues and 

Benefits Shared 

Service

EHPI 10.3 Housing benefit caseload 6,173 Trend only 6,017 N/A

Revenues and 

Benefits Shared 

Service

EHPI 151

Number of homeless households living in 

temporary accommodation at the end of the 

quarter

N/A new PI 

from 2015/16
Trend only 19 N/A N/A Housing Services

EHPI 152

The number of applicants accepted as owed 

the main homelessness duty to secure 

accommodation

N/A new PI 

from 2015/16
Trend only 71 N/A N/A Housing Services

EHPI 153
Number of applicants that presented to the 

council as homeless

N/A new PI 

from 2015/16
Trend only 113 N/A N/A Housing Services

EHPI 181
Time taken to process Housing Benefit new 

claims and change events (Calendar days)
10.00 days

10.00 

days
9.73 days

Revenues and 

Benefits Shared 

Service

EHPI 154 Net additional homes provided 581 604

Not available 

until 

December 

2016

TBA TBA
Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 155
Number of affordable homes delivered 

(gross)
124 200 147 Housing Services

Corporate Priority: Place

2Page 18



Appendix 'C'Past 

Performance

2014/15

Short 

term 

trend

Status
Lead Service

Performance 
Code Indicator

Current Performance

Outturn

2015/16

Target 

2015/16
Outturn

EHPI 157a
Processing of planning applications: major 

applications
63.00% 60.00% 78.00%

Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 157b
Processing of planning applications: minor 

applications
85.00% 80.00% 89.00%

Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 157c
Processing of planning applications: other 

applications
92.00% 90.00% 92.00%

Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 159 Supply of ready to develop housing sites 60.0% Trend only

Not available 

until 

December 

2016

TBA N/A
Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 2.1d Planning Enforcement: Initial Site Inspections 75.80% 75.00% 84.00%
Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 2.1e
Planning Enforcement: Service of formal 

Notices
100.00% 85.00% 100.00%

Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 2.23 Planning decisions delegated 96% 90% 97%
Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 204 Planning appeals allowed 29% Trend only 39.0% N/A
Planning and 

Building Control

EHPI 64
Vacant dwellings returned to occupation or 

demolished
13 10 11

Community Safety 

and Health

EHPI 191 Residual household waste per household 456 kgs 448 kgs 467 kg

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 192
Percentage of household waste sent for 

reuse, recycling and composting
49.61% 51.00% 48.69%

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 195a
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness: Litter
2% 2% 3%

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 195b
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness: Detritus
5% 7% 8%

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 195c
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness: Graffiti
0.00% 1.00% 0.11%

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

3 Page 19



Appendix 'C'Past 

Performance

2014/15

Short 

term 

trend

Status
Lead Service

Performance 
Code Indicator

Current Performance

Outturn

2015/16

Target 

2015/16
Outturn

EHPI 195d
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness: Fly-posting
0% 1% 0%

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI2.2 

(45)

Waste: missed collections per 100,000 

collections of household waste
29.18 45.00 22.47

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 2.4 Fly-tips: removal 1.70 days 2.00 days 1.88 days

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 2.5
Total waste collected by the district (kg per 

household)
904 kgs 916 kgs 910 kgs

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 2.6
Percentage of residual waste (refuse) sent for 

disposal
50% 47% 51%

Environmental 

Services and 

Leisure

EHPI 86 Cost of household waste collection £47.55 £52.61 £48.66

Financial and 

Support Services 

and Performance

EHPI 90b Satisfaction with waste recycling
No survey in 

2014/15
80% 79%

Environmental 

Services

EHPI 5.1 % of complaints resolved in 14 days or less 77.89% 70.00% 77.63%

Information, 

Parking and 

Customer Services

EHPI 5.2a
% of complaints about the Council and its 

services that are upheld a) 1st stage
35.44% 30.00% 24.60%

Information, 

Parking and 

Customer Services

EHPI 5.2b

% of complaints about the Council and its 

services that are upheld b) 2nd stage 

(appeal)

31.25% 25.00% 18.18%

Information, 

Parking and 

Customer Services

EHPI 5.4
% of complaints to the Local Government 

Ombudsmen that are upheld
37.50% 0% 0%

Information, 

Parking and 

Customer Services

EHPI 7.2
Turnaround of PCN Challenges and 

Representations

N/A new PI 

from 2015/16
21 days 11 days N/A

Information, 

Parking and 

Customer Services

EHPI 7.3
Percentage of appeals to the traffic penalty 

tribunal against the number of PCNs issued

N/A new PI 

from 2015/16
0.35% 0.14% N/A

Information, 

Parking and 

Customer Services

EHPI 8 Percentage of invoices paid on time 98.02% 98.50% 98.23%
Governance and 

Risk Management

EHPI 3 Overall satisfaction with the authority
No survey in 

2014/15
65% 69%

Communications, 

Engagement and 

Cultural Services

EHPI 10.2
Council tax collection, % of current year 

liability collected
98.2% 98.3% 98.4%

Revenues and 

Benefits Shared 

Service

EHPI 10.4
NNDR (Business rates) collection, % of 

current year liability collected
97.0% 97.0% 97.8%

Revenues and 

Benefits Shared 

Service

Corporate Priority: Prosperity

4Page 20



Appendix 'C'Past 

Performance

2014/15

Short 

term 

trend

Status
Lead Service

Performance 
Code Indicator

Current Performance

Outturn

2015/16

Target 

2015/16
Outturn

EHPI 11.1 Rental income from market traders £97,132.35 Trend only £61,580.40 N/A
Economic 

Development

EHPI 11.2
Number of producers at Hertford farmers 

market
57 Trend only 61 N/A

Economic 

Development

EHPI 12a
Number of short- term sickness absence days 

per FTE staff in post
3.35 days 4.50 days 3.92 days

Human Resources 

and Organisational 

Development

EHPI 12b
Number of long-term sickness absence days 

per FTE staff in post
1.02 days 2.00 days 1.71 days

Human Resources 

and Organisational 

Development

EHPI 12c
Total number of sickness absence days per 

FTE staff in post
4.37 days 6.50 days 5.62 days

Human Resources 

and Organisational 

Development

EHPI 15 Ill Health Retirements 0.00% 3.23% 0.00%

Human Resources 

and Organisational 

Development

EHPI 9.1
Percentage availability of core ICT systems 

during supported hours
98.83% 99.00% 99.34%

Shared Business 

and Technology 

Services

EHPI 9.2
Percentage Resolution of ICT Incidents Within 

4 Hours
62.96% 82.50% 80.79%

Shared Business 

and Technology 

Services

EHPI 9.3 Average ICT Incidents per day 7.96 10.00 7.06

Shared Business 

and Technology 

Services

EHPI 9.4
Percentage of Calls Abandoned on ICT 

Service Desk
9.30% 6.00% 6.72%

Shared Business 

and Technology 

Services

EHPI 9.6 Satisfaction with ICT Services 50.78% 53.75% 63.00%

Shared Business 

and Technology 

Services

EHPI 9.8
Delivery of Key Milestones in the ICT 

Strategy

N/A new PI 

from 2015/16
100.00% 76.47% N/A

Shared Business 

and Technology 

Services

indicator is 6% or more off target

indicator is 1-5% off target

indicator is on or above target

performance is improving

performance is the same

performance in worsening

The 'arrows' reflect performance against 2014/15

Status

The 'smiley faces' reflect performance against target

5 Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
THE EXECUTIVE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 
REPORT BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
HERTFORD URBAN DESIGN STRATEGY – REQUEST TO FUND 
TOWN CENTRE IMPROVEMENTS  
 

WARD(S) AFFECTED:  Hertford Wards 
       

 
Purpose/Summary of Report 
 

 Herford Urban Design Strategy was adopted by East Herts Council 
in May 2016 and a member steering group comprising councillors 
from Hertfordshire County Council, East Herts Council and Hertford 
Town Council has been established to implement or support the 
implementation of the recommendations. This is the first significant 
step forward in implementation, and addresses the areas of The 
Wash, Maidenhead Street and Bull Plain. 
 

RECOMMENDATION FOR DECISION:  That: 
 

(A) East Herts Council commits 50% of the £1m required to 
implement key improvements to The Wash, Maidenhead 
Street and Bull Plain Hertford, as detailed in the Hertford 
Urban Design Strategy. 
 

 
1.0 Background  
 
1.1 The Hertford Urban Design Strategy sets out a vision for    

Hertford Town Centre, and addresses the key issues of 
movement, design and public realm – all of which play a critical 
role in the success of any town centre and particularly  so in 
Hertford. 

 
1.2 Extensive research and consultation was undertaken during  the 

development of the strategy, which has been formally adopted by 
both East Herts and Hertford Town Councils, creating a clear set 
of priorities for town centre improvements.  The final report can be 
found at: 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 

 

  

 http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/documents/s32498/Hertford%2
0Town%20Centre%20UDS%20-%20ERP%20B%20strategy.pdf  

 
1.3 Hertford Urban Design Steering Group is a member group 

representing all three tiers of local government (HCC, EHDC and 
HTC).  The group has drawn up an action plan of short, medium 
and long term actions and its role is to implement, or support the 
implementation of these actions. 

  
2.0 Report 
 
2.1 Maidenhead Street, Bull Plain and The Wash 
 An early piece of work that the group believes is deliverable, and 

would make significant impact, is to improve the public realm and 
traffic flows on these three key streets in the town centre.  The 
three locations intersect each other and are all within the historic 
heart of the town, within the conservation area.  

 
2.2 The Place-making objectives, as set out in the Hertford Urban 

Design Strategy, are to: 
 

 Reduce the number of cars in the area and reduce pedestrian 
/ vehicle conflict. 

 Create a unified public realm to strengthen the east west link 
of Maidenhead Street, Salisbury Square and Railway Street. 

 Create a focus for Hertford and enlarge the focal point around 
Salisbury Square with high quality public realm and retail 
units. 

 Improve wayfinding with a focus on signposting, retail areas 
cultural and historic assets, such as the museum and the 
River Lea.  

 Improve the management of Maidenhead Street, reinforce 
the pedestrianisation order and restrict servicing.  

 Make the most of the Town’s heritage and character. 
Enhancing the setting of Bull Plain and redefining as a public 
space. 

 
2.3  HCC (through their consultants, Opus) have indicated that work to 

improve these three streets is a significant scheme, which would 
take 18-24 months and cost in the region of £1m. Significant 
consultation will be required to develop the scheme.  In the 
current climate, HCC has also made it clear that whilst very 
supportive in principle, there is no highways funding available for 
this type of work.   

Page 24

http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/documents/s32498/Hertford%20Town%20Centre%20UDS%20-%20ERP%20B%20strategy.pdf
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/documents/s32498/Hertford%20Town%20Centre%20UDS%20-%20ERP%20B%20strategy.pdf
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/documents/s32498/Hertford%20Town%20Centre%20UDS%20-%20ERP%20B%20strategy.pdf


 

 

  

 
2.4    The option we therefore face is to put the proposals on hold, 

pending funding from HCC, or to look for other sources of funding.  
Hertford is the second largest town in East Herts, and whilst 
buoyant, does not deliver what might be expected of a town of its 
historic importance and demographic make-up.  It is a town that 
has significant potential to punch well above its weight. 
Implementing the recommendations in the design strategy will be 
critical for Hertford’s future success. 

 
2.5  To enable the project to proceed it is therefore recommended that 

East Herts Council commit to funding 50% of the £1m (using 
unallocated capital funds).  Hertford Town Council have already 
committed £100,000 to Maidenhead Street improvements and are 
considering whether more funding can be directed towards this 
wider project. The councils are also investigating whether it would 
be possible to access Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) funding. 

 
2.6 An update on funding secured/likely will be provided at the 

meeting. 
 
3.0 Implications/Consultations 
 
3.1 Information on the financial and corporate issues and 
 consultation associated with this report can be found within 
 Essential Reference Paper ‘A’. 

 

 Background Papers 

 The final report can be found at: 
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/documents/s32498/Hertford%20
Town%20Centre%20UDS%20%20ERP%20B%20strategy.pdf  

 
Contact Member: Councillor Linda Haysey, Leader of the Council 
   linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk 

 
Contact Officer: Liz Watts – Chief Executive, Extn: 1410 
   liz.watts@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Liz Watts – Chief Executive, Extn: 1410 
   liz.watts@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

Page 25

http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/documents/s32498/Hertford%20Town%20Centre%20UDS%20%20ERP%20B%20strategy.pdf
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/documents/s32498/Hertford%20Town%20Centre%20UDS%20%20ERP%20B%20strategy.pdf
mailto:linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:liz.watts@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:liz.watts@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 
IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS: 

 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives  
 

Priority 3: Enable a flourishing local economy 
Objective 2: Vibrant Town Centres 

Consultation: Hertford Town Council, HCC, HUDS Member Steering 
group. 
 

Legal: Legal: N/A 
 

Financial: As specified within the report 
 

Human 
Resource: 
 

n/a 
 

Risk 
Management: 

The key risk to this project is that the remaining funding 
is not secured.  However, no EH funding will be spent 
until the whole project is funded; therefore this is not a 
risk that will materialise. 
 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 
 

Making Hertford town centre a more attractive and 
welcoming place will encourage visitors and residents to 
use the town. 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
EXECUTIVE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

 PROPOSAL TO SET UP A COUNTY WIDE HOME IMPROVEMENT 
AGENCY SERVICE IN HERTFORDSHIRE      

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED:  ALL 
 

       
 
Purpose/Summary of Report 
 

 This report sets out a proposal to establish a county-wide Home 
Improvement Agency, HIA, to help elderly and vulnerable persons 
to remain living independently at home. The initial focus would be 
the provision of statutory Disabled Facilities Grants, DFGs. In time, 
the HIA could provide handyperson schemes and promote 
measures to tackle fuel poverty and the like.  
 

 East Herts Council has been working with other Hertfordshire 
districts and the County Council on a business case for a shared 
service with the aim of providing a consistent, high quality service 
that has the potential for financial efficiencies.  
 

 All participating authorities are now being asked to confirm their 
commitment to participate in a shared service to enable detailed 
implementation plans to be devised with a view to the service 
‘going live’ in 2017/18. 
 

 Corporate Business Scrutiny is considering the report on 30th 
August 2016. Due to report deadlines, feedback will be provided 
verbally at this Executive meeting. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE:  That: 
 

(A) the comments of Corporate Business Scrutiny Committee 
be received; 
 

(B) the proposal that East Herts Council becomes a partner in 
the Hertfordshire Home Improvement Agency (HIA) be 
approved; 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



 
  

(C) using the Council’s revenue and capital budgets allocated 
to processing and paying for Disabled Facilities Grants for 
2017/18 onwards to fund East Herts’ contributions to the 
shared Home Improvement Service be approved; 
 

(D) the Head of Housing and Health be authorised, in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Health and 
Wellbeing, to contribute to and agree the detailed 
arrangements to establish the HIA; and  
  

(E) the Head of Housing and Health be authorised, in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Health and 
Wellbeing, to amend the Council’s Private Sector Housing 
Assistance Policy to accommodate the new arrangements. 
 

 
 
1.0 Background  
 
The legislative basis for Disabled Facilities Grants 
 
1.1 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

requires Local Housing Authorities (LHAs), including East Herts 
Council, to provide financial assistance with adaptations to the 
homes of disabled people, save those living in council housing 
whose works are funded through those councils’ overall rental 
income stream. The financial assistance to an individual takes the 
form of a means-tested Disabled Facilities Grant for adult disabled 
people and a non-means tested DFG for disabled children. 

 
1.2 The grant administration process has remained largely 

unchanged for some years, namely: 
 

 East Herts Council promotes DFGs locally 

 when someone in East Herts applies for assistance, the 
County Council’s Occupational Therapy service carries out 
an assessment and makes recommendations about the 
necessary and appropriate adaptations 

 East Herts Council receives the referral, assesses whether 
the works are reasonable and practicable, undertakes a 
means test to determine whether the client is required to 
make a contribution to the cost of works, and oversees the 
undertaking of the works. 

 
 

Page 30



 
  

Adaptation services for disabled people in Hertfordshire 
 
1.3 LHAs receive a capital grant from central Government to support 

the requirement to give grants. Unlike in previous years, there is 
now no requirement to provide any match-funding locally. That 
said, East Herts, just as do all districts in Hertfordshire, 
supplements the national grant monies. 

 
1.4 Since 2013, central Government’s capital grant has been paid to 

Social Services authorities through the Better Care Fund. So, 
locally, Hertfordshire County Council receives the resources and 
passes them onto the districts. In 2016/17, the national DFGs 
allocations were increased markedly, with East Herts receiving 
£530,136, an uplift of £237,009 between 2015/16 and 2016/17.  

 
1.5 In addition to DFGs, disabled people can benefit from 

Hertfordshire County Council’s Equipment Service which provides 
minor adaptations such as grab rails, ramps and the like free of 
charge for recipients. It is understood that there is increased 
pressure on this budget due to the County Council’s wider 
preventative duties under the Care Act 2014. 

 
1.6 There are a number of handyperson services operating in 

Hertfordshire that undertake very minor works, such as repairing 
dripping taps. There are generally modest charges for these 
services. There is currently only a limited service in East Herts 
covering smoke alarm installation, security measures and the like. 

 
The need to review services  
 
1.7 There are a number of significant drivers for a fundamental reform 

of home adaptations services in Hertfordshire, principally: 
 

 East Herts has an ageing population, with increasing 
numbers wishing to remain living independently in their 
own homes 

 many LHAs lack the scale to provide DFGs services 
consistently  

 two-tier working arrangements are inherently confusing and 
can introduce inconsistency, delays and inefficiency 

 there is a track record in Hertfordshire of developing 
consistent, sustainable services for older and disabled 
people, such as Hertfordshire Community Meals, and 
Hertfordshire Careline, on which the HIA proposals can 
build 

Page 31



 
  

 there is growing evidence that DFGs and related 
intervention can reduce hospital admissions, hasten patient 
discharge and delay moves to expensive residential care 

 older and disabled people’s support needs are multi-
faceted and not necessarily solely reliant on financial 
support –guidance and being able to access trusted traders 
can be helpful. 

 
The benefits of a proposed shared service HIA 
 
1.8 Bringing both tiers together and pooling staffing in a shared 

service HIA has a number of significant benefits, including: 
 

 the processing of applications can become more 
streamlined. Of note, in recent years the number of 
Occupational Therapist referrals for DFGs in East Herts 
has fallen below expected trends. The reasons for this are 
unclear, but closer working and communication should help 
ensure residents receive timely and appropriate advice and 
assistance 

 a combined service would be more resilient to staffing 
absences and turnover  

 a county-wide integrated service is an investment 
opportunity for the Clinical Commissioning Groups 
operating in Hertfordshire. The current arrangement of 11 
providers with different service standards is arguably less 
likely to attract such investment. 

 
1.9 East Herts Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee considered 

an update report on the DFG programme on 16th February 2016. 
This included the background to the County-wide project. The 
Committee supported the principle of the proposed approach.  

 
2.0 The Proposal for a Hertfordshire Home Improvement Agency 
 
2.1 Given the context described above, the Hertfordshire districts 

have together with the County Council reviewed the current 
delivery of services across all authorities, considered examples of 
alternative delivery models in other parts of the country and 
assessed the future needs of residents across the County. 

 
2.2 The outcome is this proposal for a shared Home Improvement 

Agency, HIA. The vision for the shared HIA is to: 
 

 establish a cost effective service that will not only deliver 

Page 32



 
  

statutory services such as DFGs but will also be able to 
provide a service to those who fall outside of the grant 
eligibility  

 promote independent living more generally by offering 
residents housing related services, such as housing 
advice, a handyperson service, and home improvements. 

 

2.3 The objectives of the shared HIA would be to:  
 

 ensure all individuals in Hertfordshire who need housing 
adaptations can access a timely, accessible, equitable and 
fit for purpose service   

 reduce health inequalities across the county 

 deliver a fully standardised and streamlined service, 
enhancing operational efficiency, customer satisfaction and 
improving value for money 

 implement robust monitoring arrangements against key 
performance indicators 

 improve service resilience  

 support the wider health and social care integration 
programme across Hertfordshire. 

 
Outline operating model 
 

2.4 The proposed operating model is as follows: 
 

 a shared service model, not an outsourced service, hosted 
by the County Council 

 Occupational Therapists drawn from the County Council’s 
Occupational Therapy Service 

 technical staff drawn from the district and borough councils 
choosing to join the shared service 

 case officers would act as a single point of contact for the 
client with other professionals such as the Occupational 
Therapists and technical staff drawn in as required, thus 
reducing multiple handoffs between authorities. Of note, 
having Occupational Therapists and technical staff in the 
same team will significantly shorten the process of 
commissioning adaptation works compared with the current 
arrangements. 

 
2.5 It is intended to deliver efficiencies in the costs of works by 

procuring a contractor framework for common adaptation works 
such as stair lifts and level access showers. This should also 
simplify the ordering of works. 

Page 33



 
  

 
2.6 The business case demonstrates that the service can be 

delivered across the county in a revenue neutral way – see 
Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ for the full business case.  

 
2.7  The Business Case assumes that the Council maintains its capital 

contribution for provision of disabled facilities grants to residents 
in the district at current or similar levels. 

 
2.8 It is also believed that the proposed service has the potential to 

generate income by offering other housing services, for example 
to people wanting adaptations who do not qualify for a disabled 
facilities grant, in return for a fee.  

 
2.9 The exact arrangements for the new service will depend on the 

number of authorities deciding to join the service. It is hoped that 
at least half of the ten districts along with the County Council will 
join at the outset. The intention is to launch the service in 
2017/18. 

 
3.0 Implications/Consultations 
 
3.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 

with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’.   

 
Human Resources 
 
3.2 As the Home Improvement Agency proposals include the 

provision of services currently carried out by East Herts Council 
staff, TUPE rules may apply. The extent to which TUPE applies, 
and to which staff if any, will be fully explored as part of the work 
to produce a full, final business case during the remainder of 
2016/17. 

 
3.3 At this stage, it is considered that there may be TUPE and re-

location implications for at least one member of staff. There are 
also possibly additional staff whose workload includes some 
functions that would be transferred to the HIA, albeit to a smaller 
extent.  

 
3.4 The staff potentially affected have been kept abreast of work to 

date on the HIA proposals, as have HR officers. Full consultation 
and engagement with staff would be completed as part of 
preparation of the full business case. 

Page 34



 
  

Finance 
 
3.5 The Council’s Finance team has worked closely with colleagues in 

the other participating districts and the County Council to pull 
together and scrutinise the financial case for the shared HIA.  

 
3.6 The overall business case is predicated on the East Herts using 

current revenue and capital resources allocated for the processing 
and payment of DFGs as the Council’s contribution to the HIA. It 
is recognised, however, that as functions are transferred, there is 
likely to be a small level of residual costs remaining with the 
Council. This has been allowed for in the outline business case – 
see Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ – which shows that overall, 
the proposals are cost neutral to the Council. 

 
3.7 It will be important to review both the revenue and capital 

contributions to the HIA on a regular basis to ensure best value 
for East Herts is being maximised. 

 
 
Background Papers 
Review of DFG Services in Hertfordshire Nov 2014 
 
Supporting Independent Living Options Paper, Report to Chief 
Executives Co-ordinating Group Jan 2016  
 
 
 
 
Contact Member: Eric Buckmaster – Executive Member for Health and 

Wellbeing 
eric.buckmaster@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

Contact Officer: Jonathan Geall – Head of Housing and Health   
 Contact Tel No extn 1594 
 jonathan.geall@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Sheila Winterburn – Environmental Health Manager 

- Residential 
sheila.winterburn@eastherts.gov.uk 
  

 

Page 35

mailto:eric.buckmaster@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:jonathan.geall@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:sheila.winterburn@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 
 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives: 

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities  
 
Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives  
 
Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy  
The proposal is to deliver a stronger service for home 
adaptations to more residents, to enhance quality of life, 
health and wellbeing. The proposal allows for continued 
use of local builders to carry out these works. 
 

Consultation: The proposals were developed in partnership with 
Hertfordshire District and Borough Councils and 
Hertfordshire County Council.  
 

Legal: The proposal seeks to continue to meet statutory 
obligations for Disabled Facilities Grants under the 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996, and to better meet joint obligations under the Care 
Act 2014. 
  

Financial: The Council’s Finance team has worked closely with 
colleagues in the other participating districts and the 
County Council to pull together and scrutinise the 
financial case for the shared HIA. The overall business 
case is predicated on the East Herts using current 
revenue and capital resources allocated for the 
processing and payment of DFGs as the Council’s 
contribution to the HIA.  
 
It will be imperative to review the funding arrangement on 
a regular basis. 
 

Human 
Resource: 

There are TUPE and re-location implications for at least 
one member of staff. The agency is most likely to be 
located at the Hertfordshire County Council offices in 
Stevenage, with touch-down bases in the 
District/Borough offices. There are other staff affected 
whose duties currently include DFG functions but to a 
lesser percentage than would trigger TUPE. HR officers 
have been involved during the review. 

Page 37



 
  

Risk 
Management: 

The overall project group has considered the risks of the 
project and risk log is regularly reviewed. 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 
 

The DFG service contributes directly to the health and 
wellbeing of affected residents. Improvements in service 
through the proposal aim to address needs of residents 
with disabilities. 

 
 

Page 38



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘B’ 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Hertfordshire Shared Home 
Improvement Agency (HIA)  
    
 
 
Final Business Case 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
July 2016 
 
Jamie Sutterby- Assistant Director, Health  
Integration   
 
Helen Maneuf - Assistant Director, Integrated 
Planning & Resources 

 

Page 39



CONTENTS 
                  

 Page No 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY       4 

  

1 INTRODUCTION      14 

1.1 National Background   14 

1.2 Local Background   14 

1.3 Purpose of the Business Case   15 

  

2  STRATEGIC CONTEXT      16 

2.1 Why Consider Sharing Home Improvement  Services    16 

2.2  Project Vision, Objectives and Benefits 16 

  

3          APPROACH TO DEVELOPING THE BUSINESS  CASE    17 

3.1  Remit of the Project 17 

3.2 Setting up the Project 18 

3.3  Stages in Developing the Business Case  19 

  

4 ESTABLISHING THE BASELINE   20 

4.1  Current Cost of Home Improvement Service  20 

4.2 Current Service 23 

  

5 SCOPE OF SERVICES    26 

5.1 Overview  26 

5.2 Core Service  26 

5.3       Enhanced Services 26 

5.4       Future Service Development  27 

5.5       Business Management and Support Processes 28 

5.6 Exclusions 29 

  

6  QUANTIFYING COSTS AND BENEFITS  30 

6.1  Proposal 30 

6.2 Benefits 30 

6.3 Costs 30 

6.4 Apportionment of Running Costs  33 

6.5       Future Planning 39 

  

7 PROJECT MANAGEMENT DELIVERY AND NEXT STEPS    40 

7.1  Project Constraints, Assumptions and   
            Dependencies 

40 

7.2  Project Next Steps 40 

7.3  Project Stakeholders 42 

7.4  Project Issues and Risks 42 

 

 

Page 40



2 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A      Options Analysis   
  
Appendix B   Home Improvement Service Process Draft  
 
Appendix C   High Level Timeline   

Appendix D  List of Tables and Figures     
 

 

Relevant papers available on request 

Shared Home Improvement Agency Function - Options Paper  

 Presented to the Chief Executive’s Co-ordination Group (CECG) in January 2016  

 Presented to HCFO in March 2016  

Shared Home Improvement Agency Function -  Financial Business Case 

 Presented to HCFO in May 2016 

 

GLOSSARY 

BBC Broxbourne Borough Council 

BCF 
Better Care Fund – a single allocation to top tier authorities combining 
a number of previously separate revenue and capital grants aimed 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CECG Chief Executives Co-ordination Group 

DBC Dacorum Borough Council 

DFG 
Disabled Facilities Grant – note: the same term is often used to cover 
the capital grant made by central government as part of the Better 
Care Fund allocation and the grant made to individual receipts 

EHC East Herts Council 

EIT OTs Extend Involvement Team in Occupational Therapy 

HBC Hertsmere Borough Council 

HCC Hertfordshire County Council 

HCFO Hertfordshire Chief Finance Officers 

HIA Home Improvement Agency 

HRA 
Housing Revenue Account – account held by stock holding local 
authorities to fund their council housing  

NHDC North Herts District Council 

OT Occupational Therapy / Occupational Therapist 

SADC St Albans District Council 

SBC Stevenage Borough Council 

SCCG Social Care Capital Grant – now rolled into the Better Care Fund 

TRDC Three Rivers District Council 

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 

WBC Watford Borough Council 

WHBC Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

  

Page 41



3 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 

 

 

 
 
 

  

REVISION RECORD 

Author Creation Date Version  Status 

Jenny Howell 04/07/16 1 Draft 

Inclusions from Helen Maneuf / 

Jamie Sutterby / Hayley King 

12/07/16 1.01 Draft 

Updated following comments from 

HCFO meeting on 21/07/2016 

26/07/2016 2 Draft 

Page 42



4 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 

Introduction 
  
The purpose of this document is to establish the financial case and final business case for the 
setting up of a Shared Home Improvement Agency function.   
 
The Business Case offers the Hertfordshire Chief Financial Officers (HCFO) Chief Executive’s 
Co-ordination Group (CECG) the opportunity to consider the merits of the proposal and the 
investment required before deciding on their appetite to proceed. 
 
For the purposes of clarity the costing assumptions have been presented in two ways in this 
business case: 
 

1. For a smaller group of six authorities which have indicated a significant interest in 
progressing with the shared service, and  

2. For the ‘full’ shared service which at present would include ten district authorities, plus the 
county council. Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (WHBC) has an external contract until 
2017 and so has not been shown in these calculations  
 

Table 1: Representation of authorities  
 

Model 1.  
Smaller group of six District 

authorities   

 Model 2.  
Full Shared Service – Ten District authorities 

exc WHBC 

 Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) 

 East Herts Council (EHC) 

 Hertfordshire County Council (HCC)  

 Hertsmere Borough Council (HBC) 

 North Hertfordshire District Council 

 Watford Borough Council (WBC) 
 

 Dacorum Borough Council  (DBC) 

 East Herts Council (EHC)  

 Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) 

 Hertsmere Borough Council (HBC) 

 North Hertfordshire District Council (NHDC)  

 Watford Borough Council (WBC)  
 Broxbourne Borough Council (BBC) 

 St Albans City & District Council (SACDC)  

 Stevenage Borough Council (SBC) 

 Three Rivers District Council (TRDC) 

 
Vision and Objectives  
 
The vision for the DFG proposal is to create a Shared Home Improvement Agency function 
inclusive of Disabled Facilities Grant service and integrated Occupational Therapy.   
 
The background to the proposed new service is described in Section 1. 
 
The objectives of a Shared Home Improvement Agency function are to:  
 

 Ensure that all individuals in Hertfordshire who need housing adaptations to support 
independent living will have access to an appropriate service that is timely, accessible, 
equitable and fit for purpose to address rising demographic pressures 

 Deliver a fully standardised service, enhancing operational efficiency, customer 
satisfaction and improving value for money 

 Implement robust monitoring arrangements against key performance indicators 

 Improve service resilience through joined up working, adopting a common methodology 
and service standards, sharing staff knowledge, skills and expertise   

Page 43



5 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 Open up future opportunities to expand into private sector adaptations and align to wider 
Clinical Commissioning Group activity in order to maximise income generation, efficiency 
and value and impact of the DFG element of the Better Care Fund. 

 
The strategic drivers and benefits are further described in Section 2. 
 
High Level Proposals 
 
The preferred proposals recommended as a result of this Business Case are to: 
 

 Provide a common framework for procuring contractors to deliver adaptations in clients’ 
homes, and the centralisation of the assessment and administrative functions  

 Deliver a professional Home Improvement function to meet the needs of the partner 
Councils and the requirements defined in Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 and the Care Act 2014 

 Ensure ongoing value for money of home improvement services in the Councils which 
participate in the Shared Service, in order to maximise the housing, health and social care 
system benefits of the DFG element of the Better Care Fund 

 Governance of the shared service by a Memorandum of Understanding which will set out 
the detailed arrangements for the Shared Service.  Partners will be required to sign up to 
the terms and conditions of this document for a set period of time in order to be part of the 
Shared Service. 

 
The scope of the proposed Service is described in Section 5. 
 

Financial Summary  

Total spend on DFG and HRA adaptations by district councils within the county has been of the 
order of an average of £6.2m per year in recent years.  In addition, HCC funds minor works: 
£378k was budgeted for these in 2014/15.   In the same year, District Council staffing costs 
totalled an estimated £624k, with HCC’s Housing Occupational Therapy service delivered via 
Serco costing £804k.    
 
A number of national developments created an opportunity to review the delivery of DFG within 
the county area and consider how to integrate provision of help with home adaptations across 
housing, health and social care system.  
 
Table 2 – 6 below provide a summary of the current cost and funding position, and proposed 
ongoing cost of the Shared Home Improvement Agency Service.  
 
 
Table 2 Existing Cost & Funding - District Average Annual Cost of Home Improvement  

 Services 
 
Table 2 reflects the following  
 

 Gross and net costs of running the Home Improvement service, and details how this is 
financed in each authority. 

Page 44



6 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 2: District Average Annual Cost of DFG and Home Improvement Related Spend 
 
The table below summarises the average annual cost of DFG and Home Improvement related services in the participating authorities.  
 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC WHBC 
Districts 

total 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Running Costs  133   101   113   82   50   70   80   94   111   49   882  

Disabled Facilities  450   567   384   435   605   701   350   418   386   442   4,738  

HRA adaptations  0   0   0   0   0   0   500   0   0   0   500  

Gross cost of service  583   668   497   517   655   771   930   512   497   490   6,120  

Client contributions ( 15) ( 8)  0   0  ( 99)  0   0   0  ( 39)  0  ( 160) 

Agency fee income  0  ( 35)  0   0  ( 50)  0   0   0   0   0  ( 85) 

Net cost of service  568   626   497   517   506   771   930   512   459   490   5,875  

Funded by                       

Grant ( 314) ( 366) ( 293) ( 295) ( 360) ( 291) ( 305) ( 250) ( 279) ( 316) ( 3,070) 

Revenue resources ( 80) ( 32) ( 113) ( 82) ( 0) ( 70) ( 80)  0  ( 36) ( 49) ( 541) 

HRA resources (revenue and capital)  0   0   0   0   0   0  ( 500)  0   0   0  ( 500) 

Other capital financing (usually capital receipts) ( 174) ( 228) ( 90) ( 140) ( 146) ( 409) ( 45) ( 262) ( 144) ( 126) ( 1,765) 

Total financing ( 568) ( 626) ( 497) ( 517) ( 506) ( 771) ( 930) ( 512) ( 459) ( 490) ( 5,875) 

 

Notes 

 Baseline figures have been investigated thoroughly since the outline business case; the most significant changes are that running costs 

have been amended from £539k to an increased figure of £882k.  This is following the verification of district information, and the 

inclusion in running costs of system costs, overheads, and travel costs, where previously only staffing costs were known. 

 There is differing treatment among districts regarding whether staffing costs are charged to revenue or capital. 

 Registered housing providers also fund some adaptations, in some cases in full but more commonly by contributing a percentage 
towards the cost of works; these figures are not generally included in table 2. 

 Three Rivers, St Albans and Welwyn Hatfield did not respond to the request for updated and verified information, therefore, the original 
information received has been used.      
 

P
age 45



7 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 3  Total HIA Related Expenditure  
 
Table 3 reflects the following  
 

 HCC’s total adaptations expenditure (2015/16 figures) alongside the countywide OT 
resource. This is added to the district total (from above – see table 2)  

 This gives a Hertfordshire wide total for all HIA related expenditure, and details how this is 

financed. 

  

HCC 
Districts 

Total 
Hertfordshire 
Total 

£000s £000s £000s 

Running Costs  800   882   1,682  

Disabled Facilities  559   4,738   5,297  

HRA adaptations  0   500   500  

Gross cost of service  1,359   6,120   7,479  

Client contributions ( 153) ( 160) ( 313) 

Agency fee income  0  ( 85) ( 85) 

Net cost of service  1,206   5,875   7,081  

Funded by       

Grant  0  ( 3,070) ( 3,070) 

Revenue resources ( 1,206) ( 541) ( 1,747) 

HRA resources (revenue and capital)  0  ( 500) ( 500) 

Other capital financing (usually capital receipts)  0  ( 1,765) ( 1,765) 

Total financing ( 1,206) ( 5,875) ( 7,081) 
 
 
Table 4  Proposed Ongoing cost of the Shared Home Improvement Agency Service  
 
Table 4 reflects the following: 
 

 The model allows the costs of the shared service to be flexed according to the level of 
resource needed to run activities with different numbers of participating councils.   

 Costs of adaptations are forecast in the model to continue as in current operations.  

 Forecast running costs exceed the running costs noted in Table 2 above; solutions to this 
are shown in Table 5 below. 

 The Shared Home Improvement Agency function has been costed at a level which will 
deliver sufficient capacity to work to develop specialisms and build new service offerings. 

 The proposed size of the OT service will remain constant under both the six authority 
model and the all authority model.  OT’s will continue to provide a service to all districts 
whether they are in or out of the shared service model.  This will be fully funded by HCC. 

    

  

Six authority model All authority model 

£000s £000s 

HIA Service staffing  390   505  

OT Service  671   671  

HIA Service costs and overheads  51   59  

Total running costs  1,112   1,236  

Page 46



8 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 5 and 6  Revenue and Capital Impact per Authority  
 
 
Table 5.1: Six Authority Model - Revenue Impact 
 
 

  

DBC EHC HBC NHDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Running costs of shared service 103 69 79 109 70 682 1,112 

Client contributions ( 8)  0   0  ( 99) ( 39) ( 153) ( 299) 

Net cost of service 95 69 79 10 31 529 813 

                

Current revenue budget for DFG 32 113 82 0 36 1,206 1,469 

Residual costs in district i.e. non cashable savings 22 48 38 31 36 559 733 

Extra revenue budget required 85 4 35 41 31 ( 118)  77  

                

Fee income at 10% of DFG spend ( 57) ( 38) ( 44) ( 60) ( 39) n/a ( 238) 

                

Extra revenue budget required if charge fee income  28  ( 35) ( 9) ( 20) ( 8) n/a ( 42) 
 
 

 To show the revenue impact on each authority, client contributions (assumed to continue at current levels) have been subtracted from 
running costs of the proposed shared service to give a net cost of service.  

 Residual costs in each authority have been identified; these are non-cashable savings if the district moved to the shared service model 
such as IT system costs, overhead recharges – which would still need to be met from other budgets.  

 Residual costs of £559k in HCC reflect the current spend on adaptations, which is assumed to continue at this point, and is out of scope 
of the shared service model. 

 The revenue cost of the shared service has been compared to the current revenue budget for DFG taking into account residual costs.  
This shows that all districts would have to make an extra revenue contribution. 

 Due to the caveat given by districts that the shared service would only be a feasible option if costs were maintained at current levels, the 
option of using fee income has also been included.  If this option was approved, this would result in revenue savings for all districts 
apart from Dacorum.  For all districts to show revenue savings, fee income of 15% would need to be charged, as shown below: 

P
age 47



9 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 

  

DBC EHC HBC NHDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Extra revenue budget required with fee income at 
13%  17  ( 42) ( 18) ( 32) ( 15) n/a ( 90) 

Extra revenue budget required with fee income at 
14%  6  ( 50) ( 26) ( 44) ( 23) n/a ( 138) 

Extra revenue budget required with fee income at 
15% ( 0) ( 54) ( 31) ( 50) ( 27) n/a ( 161) 

 

P
age 48



10 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 5.2: All Authority Model – Revenue Impact 
 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Running costs of shared service 58 74 50 57 79 91 45 54 50  678   1,236  

Client contributions ( 15) ( 8)  0   0  ( 99)  0   0   0  ( 39) ( 153) ( 313) 

Net cost of service  44   66   50   57  ( 21)  91   45   54   11   525   922  

                        

Current revenue budget for DFG  80   32   113   82   0   70   80   0   36   1,206   1,698  

Residual costs in district i.e. non-cashable 
savings  79   22   48   38   31   43   40   0   36   559   895  

Extra revenue budget required for shared 
service  43   56  ( 16)  12   10   64   6   54   11  ( 122)  119  

                        

Fee income at 10% of DFG spend ( 45) ( 57) ( 38) ( 44) ( 60) ( 70) ( 35) ( 42) ( 39) n/a ( 430) 

                        

Extra revenue budget required if charge fee 
income ( 2) ( 1) ( 54) ( 31) ( 50) ( 6) ( 29)  13  ( 27) n/a ( 188) 
 
 

 To show the revenue impact on each authority, client contributions (assumed to continue at current levels) have been subtracted from 
running costs of the proposed shared service to give a net cost of service.  

 Residual costs in each authority have been identified; these are non-cashable savings if the district moved to the shared service model 
such as IT system costs, overhead recharges – which would still need to be met from other budgets.  

 Residual costs of £559k in HCC reflect the current spend on adaptations, which is assumed to continue at this point, and is out of scope 
of the shared service model. 

 The revenue cost of the shared service has been compared to the current revenue budget for DFG taking into account residual costs.  
This shows that all districts, apart from East Herts, would have to make an extra revenue contribution. 

 Due to the caveat given by districts that the shared service would only be a feasible option if costs were maintained at current levels, the 
option of using fee income has also been included.  If this option was approved, this would result in revenue savings for all districts 
apart from Three Rivers.  For all districts to show revenue neutrality or savings, fee income of 13% would need to be charged, as shown 
below: 

 

P
age 49



11 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 
 
 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Extra revenue budget required with fee 
income at 12% ( 11) ( 12) ( 62) ( 40) ( 62) ( 20) ( 36)  4  ( 35) n/a ( 274) 

Extra revenue budget required with fee 
income at 13% ( 16) ( 18) ( 66) ( 44) ( 69) ( 27) ( 39) ( 0) ( 39) n/a ( 317) 
 
 
In the tables above, fee income is based on DFG spend.  During the implementation phase, other options for distribution of the fee income will 
be investigated.  It may be that a fairer method will be to give each district enough fee income to generate a net nil budget and then pool any 
surplus for joint investment. 
 
Table 6 reflects: 

 The current level of spend on DFG’s continuing, as well as the current capital contributions from each district 

 Each district will receive a significant increase in capital grant available to them 
 
Table 6.1: Six Authority Model – Capital Impact 
 

  

DBC EHC HBC NHDC WBC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

DFG works spend  567   384   435   605   386   2,377  

District capital contribution ( 228) ( 90) ( 140) ( 146) ( 144) ( 748) 

Increased DFG grant 16/17 ( 675) ( 530) ( 538) ( 654) ( 523) ( 2,920) 

              

Extra capital money available ( 336) ( 237) ( 242) ( 195) ( 281) ( 1,290) 

 
  

P
age 50



12 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 
 
Table 6.2: All Authority Model – Capital Impact  
 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

DFG works spend  450   567   384   435   605   701   350   418   386   4,296  

District capital contribution ( 174) ( 228) ( 90) ( 140) ( 146) ( 409) ( 45) ( 262) ( 144) ( 1,639) 

Increased DFG grant 16/17 ( 577) ( 675) ( 530) ( 538) ( 654) ( 531) ( 576) ( 456) ( 523) ( 5,060) 

                     0  

Extra capital money available ( 301) ( 336) ( 237) ( 242) ( 195) ( 240) ( 271) ( 300) ( 281) ( 2,402) 

 
 
Districts are asked to consider investing some of the extra capital money in county-wide preventative work, which would meet the grant 
conditions.  The BCF Policy Framework clearly encourages innovative use of DFGs and sets out the expectation that local authorities with 
housing responsibility are expected to engage in joint BCF planning with welfare and health authorities.  It is expected that health priorities, 
such as delayed transfer of care and readmission to hospital, will become more important in the way DFG is spent.  Top-slicing 10% of the 
extra capital funding would provide £240,000 for preventative investment, and 20% would provide £480,000. 
 
 
 
Any remaining Disabled Facilities Grant, which is not jointly pooled, will be retained by each district.  However, there are restrictions around the 
use of the grant as outlined under the Regulatory Reform Order, detailed in Section 6.5.

P
age 51



13 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Next Steps 
 
The next phase of the project will include:  
 

 Defining governance and oversight arrangements  

 Developing a change management approach 

 Designing the management and operating model for the Shared HIA Service  including 
processes, vision, structures, behaviours, location, Service Level Agreements, Key 
Performance Indicators 

 Establishing targets for delivery (see Appendix C for timeline and next steps) 

 Compiling an implementation plan including systems convergence, policy harmonisation 
 
A shadow form of the service will be in operation from April 2017 with full go-live from September 
2017.  A high level timeline is contained within Appendix C. 
 
The next steps for the project are further described in Section 7. 
 

Required Decisions 

The Project Team is seeking the following from the Hertfordshire Chief Financial Officers (HCFO) 
Group:  
 
1) Agreement to the high level recommendations  

 Create a Shared Home Improvement Agency function inclusive of Disabled Facilities 
Grant service and integrated Occupational Therapy. 

 Consideration as to the opportunity presented by the increase in funding from the Better 
Care Fund to consider the best way of investing this capital 
 

2) Approval to progress to Service Development phase 
The service development phase incorporates the governance arrangements, the operating 
model, charging arrangements, and the detailed implementation plan, to be in place by 
autumn 2016 



3) Commitment to this project  
Delivery of the project requires: 
 A commitment to fund set up costs and preparations for the recruitment to the Head of 

Service role to commence by the Autumn, as detailed on p32 
 Covering of any revenue pressures arising from the new service 
 A commitment to maintain local contribution levels to home adaptations for a two year 

period, thereafter this will be subject to an annual review of budgets by participating 
authorities 

 
4) Recommend the Business Case to their Members 

To review the Business Case and assess its merits against the local baseline financial 
position, and to recommend to Members the adoption of a Shared Home Improvement 
Agency function by using the September / October political processes.  A clear decision 
should be reached as to whether districts are in or out by the end of October 2016. 

 
 

 

Page 52



14 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

1 INTRODUCTION  
 

1.1  National Background  
 
The Spending Review 2015 has detailed one of its main objectives for the next four years is to 
develop an integrated health and care system, and that there would be £500m available by 2019-
20 for the Disabled Facilities Grant. The grant is currently worth £220m in 2015-16.  It has been 
stated that this increased level of funding will enable around 85,000 home adaptations in 2019-
20, which is expected to prevent 8,500 people that year from needing to move to residential care.  
 

1.2 Local Background  
 
Disabled Facilities Grant is used to fund adaptations to property to help disabled people to 
remain independent in their homes.  The requirement for Councils to deliver a Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG) service is a mandatory and statutory function for local housing authorities.  The 
delivery of this function sits within District Council housing services.  It is governed by the 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  
 
Total spend on DFG and HRA adaptations by district councils within the county has been of the 
order of an average of £6.2m per year in recent years.  In addition, HCC funds minor works: 
£378k was budgeted for these in 2014/15.   In the same year, District Council staffing costs 
totalled an estimated £624k, with HCC’s Housing Occupational Therapy service delivered via 
Serco costing £804k.    
 
A number of national developments created an opportunity to review the delivery of DFG within 
the county area and consider how to integrate provision of help with home adaptations across 
housing, health and social care systems: 
 
In 2013, the Government announced the creation of the Better Care Fund (BCF), as part of 
ongoing changes to the delivery of health and social care services across the country. Health and 
social care services were required to create a single pooled fund to support closer working 
between organisations in the area.   
 
The BCF includes the Government’s capital grant contribution for Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFG).  This had previously been provided to District Councils directly from Central Government.  
This funding change for DFG provided an ideal opportunity, especially as the BCF may not have 

the requirement to passport funds directly through to local authorities in the future. 
 
For the first time the contribution of housing to the care and support system has been recognised 
via the Care Act, defining housing as a ‘health related’ activity 
The Care Act 2014 also stipulates that Hertfordshire County Council retains social care duties in 
relation to the delivery of home adaptations. 
 
In response, a partnership review between the District and Borough Councils and the County 
Council was commissioned by the Chief Executive’s Co-Ordination Group (CECG).  The 
governance arrangements for the review include a Steering Group with representatives from 
each of the Councils and a project group made up of two representatives from the local 
authorities, HCC project management resource, a professional lead and an external subject 
matter expert. 
 
The partnership has undertaken work to develop a proposal for a Shared HIA Service and 
brought a paper to the CECG in December 2015 setting out the options for the delivery of the 
service. 

Page 53



15 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 

1.3 Purpose of the Business Case  
 
The purpose of this document is to establish whether there is a sufficient business case for 
exploring in more detail the setting up of a Shared Housing Improvement Agency (HIA) function 
and whether there is a particular way of sharing this service that is preferred.  
 
The business case will test how far the potential partner Councils are prepared to work together 
towards common ends, informed by a high level analysis of whether a shared service model has 
sufficient cost and service benefits to proceed with the initiative.  
 
The business case offers the Project Board and members of the respective Councils the 
opportunity to consider the merits of the proposal and the investment required before committing 
further resource.  
 
The Business Case document describes:   
 
 Why the Councils are considering sharing Housing Improvement Services  
 The objectives of the project 
 The approach taken  
 The options that were considered  
 The recommendation that is being proposed with associated costs and timescales  
 The major implications and risks of the project 

 
If the proposal is accepted, the Business Case will be developed further into a Service 
Development phase which will require approval before any potential implementation.  

Page 54



16 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

2  STRATEGIC CONTEXT   

2.1  Why Consider Sharing Home Improvement Services   
 
Councils across Hertfordshire work effectively in a wide range of partnerships in many service 
areas. The drivers behind a Shared Home Improvement Agency (HIA) Service are: 
 

 To think strategically about the use of home adaptations and take a joined up approach to 
improving outcomes across health, social care and housing 

 Supporting independent living by enabling Hertfordshire residents access to an appropriate 
service that is robust and equitable with transparency of delivery.  

 More efficient and resilient service that  helps local authorities deal with increased budget 
pressures 

 The existing track record of effective two-tier working in the County 

 The opportunity to explore new and innovative ways of working such as development of a 
Home Improvement hub 

 The wish to avoid duplication of improvement efforts 
 

 
2.2  Project Vision, Objectives and Benefits  
 
Vision 
 
The vision for the DFG proposal is to create a Shared Home Improvement Agency function 
inclusive of Disabled Facilities Grant service and integrated Occupational Therapy.   
 

Objectives 

The key deliverables of the Shared Home Improvement Service are set out below   
 

 Ensure that all individuals in Hertfordshire who need housing adaptations to support 
independent living will have access to an appropriate service that is timely, accessible, 
equitable and fit for purpose to address rising demographic pressures 

 Deliver a fully standardised service, enhancing operational efficiency, customer 
satisfaction and improving value for money 

 Implement robust monitoring arrangements against key performance indicators 

 Improve service resilience through joined up working, adopting a common methodology 
and service standards, sharing staff knowledge, skills and expertise   

 Open up future opportunities to expand into private sector adaptations and align to wider 
Clinical Commissioning Group activity in order to maximise income generation, efficiency 
and value and impact of the DFG element of the Better Care Fund. 

Benefits  
 
The benefits of a Shared Home Improvement Service are:  
 

 Increasingly effective use of the total DFG resource available to participating authorities 
resulting from knowledge sharing and efficiency of process  

 Economies of scale in terms of staffing structure, working practices and systems 

 A resilient service able to deal with fluctuations of demand, and therefore accessible to 
those when needed 

 Increased customer satisfaction 

 A solution which is available to all Hertfordshire councils  

 A size of team which allows for career progression  

Page 55



17 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 

3 APPROACH TO DEVELOPING THE BUSINESS CASE  

3.1  Remit of the Project 
 
The purpose of this document is to establish whether there is a sufficient business case for 
exploring in more detail the setting up of a Shared Housing Improvement Agency (HIA) function 
and whether there is a particular way of sharing this service that is preferred.  
 
The business case will test how far the potential partner Councils are prepared to work together 
towards common ends, informed by a high level analysis of whether a shared service model has 
sufficient cost and service benefits to proceed with the initiative.  
 
In light of the change in funding stream for DFGs, the district councils, in partnership with the 
County Council held a workshop in August 2015 to discuss current DFG service arrangements 
and areas for improvement.  It was agreed that it would be useful to conduct a review of the way 
DFG services are accessed and delivered across the county.  
 
In January 2016 the Chief Executive’s Co-ordination Group (CECG) considered an options 
paper.  CECG authorised the creation of a project to examine the Business Case for a Shared 
Home Improvement Agency function, committing to funding project management support to 
achieve this.  
 
Subject to Business Case approval, the intention is to implement new structural arrangements in 
2017/18 year followed by a two year period of service development as new ways of working are 
established.  
 
For the purposes of clarity the costing assumptions have been presented in two ways in this 
Business Case: 
 

1. For a smaller group of six authorities which have indicated a significant interest in 
progressing with the shared service, and  

2. For the ‘full’ shared service which at present would include ten district authorities, plus 
the county council.  Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council has an external contract until 
2017 and so has not been shown in these calculations  

 
Underpinning this Business Case is a set of workings which can easily be flexed for other  
combinations of authorities depending on appetite for inclusion within the proposal.  This would  
include WHBC should this authority wish to participate in the shared service from 2017 or at a 
future point in time. The authorities are treated as follows according to the project team’s current 
understanding of each individual authority’s position on this project: 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



18 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 1: Representation of authorities within the Business Case 
 

Model 1. 
Smaller group of six authorities   

Model 2. 
Full Shared Service – Ten authorities  

 Dacorum Borough Council 

 East Herts Council  

 Hertfordshire County Council 

 Hertsmere Borough Council 

 North Hertfordshire District Council 

 Watford Borough Council 
 Hertfordshire County Council 
 

 Dacorum Borough Council 

 East Herts Council  

 Hertfordshire County Council 

 Hertsmere Borough Council 

 North Hertfordshire District Council 

 Watford Borough Council 
 Broxbourne Borough Council 

 St Albans City & District Council 

 Stevenage Borough Council 

 Three Rivers District Council 

 
3.2 Setting up the Project 
 
Following the August workshop the project structure was agreed as set out below. A Project Lead 

was identified and Operational Group established.  
 
Project Governance 
 
The following governance groups are already in existence for this project:  

 Fortnightly Operational Group (Project Team) chaired by the Project Lead – Jamie 
Sutterby, with representatives from two District Councils. 

 Steering Group (Project Team) chaired by a District Council lead, representatives from 
every District councils attend 

 Chief Executive’s Co-ordination Group (CECG) to provide steer where necessary 

 Member updates where necessary for decision making 
 
 

3.3  Stages in Developing the Business Case Below are the key phases which make up 

the Business Case process:   
 
Figure 1: Business Case Development Stages 

 
Following approval of this Outline Business Case the project will progress to developing the Final 
Business Case, including Implementation Plan over Summer 2016.  This will include a detailed 
Service Specification, more detailed financial information including a re-charging mechanism.  
See Appendix C for a high-level timeline of the project. 
 
Section 4  Establish Baseline  
This section seeks to outline the position each authority in relation to the cost of their current 
service, performance, staffing numbers, grades, roles, and IT systems.   
  
Section 5  Appraise Option  

Define 
Scope

Establish 
Baseline

Appraise 
Options

Quantify 
Costs and 
Benefits 

Page 57



19 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

This section seeks analyse options that have been considered and provide appropriate 
recommendations as to the preferred option.  
 
Section 6  Define Scope  
This section seeks to clarify what the shared service could deliver, as well as boundaries of its 
activity and how these activities will interface with partner Councils.  
 
Section 7  Quantify Costs and Benefits  
This section seeks to set out the quantitative benefits of the shared service model, and detail 
both the current running costs for each authority, as well as the future running costs under the 
proposal, including set-up costs, and ongoing staffing costs.  It looks at methods of apportioning 
the costs between the authorities involved 
Section 8  Project Management Delivery and Next Steps  
This sections seeks to outline of how the project is set-up, will be managed and the key risks 
involved. 

Page 58



20 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 4 ESTABLISHING THE BASELINE  

4.1 Current Cost of Home Improvement Services 

Since the outline business case, baseline cost information has been rechecked with districts.  
The most significant change resulting from this is that running costs have been amended from 
£539k to an increased figure of £882k. 
 
The following caveats were noted regarding the baseline cost information: 
 

 There is a mixture of information from both financial and service records, not all of which 
was consistent within individual authorities. 

 DFG staffing is set up in a number of different ways in authorities which made it hard to 
compare costs on a like for like basis.    

 Not all authorities took the same approach regarding the charging of costs to capital and 
costs were not always separately identified to DFG activity. 

 
With these caveats in mind, the exercise demonstrated that total spending on DFG and HRA  
adaptations by district councils within the county has been of the order of an average of  
£6.2m per year in recent years. DBC spends an additional £1.5m on HRA adaptation works  
and equipment, but these are currently delivered through an outsourced arrangement so  
have been excluded.  
 
The baseline position of district council expenditure on Disabled Facilities Grant and other  
adaptations, along with funding is summarised as shown in table 2 below.  The table  
summarises average costs using all available data provided by district councils which,  
depending on the authority, covered the period 2012/13 to 2015/16

Page 59



21 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 2: District Average Annual Cost of DFG and Home Improvement Related Spend 
 
The table below summarises the average annual cost of DFG and Home Improvement related services in the participating authorities.  
 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC WHBC 
Districts 

total 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Running Costs  133   101   113   82   50   70   80   94   111   49   882  

Disabled Facilities  450   567   384   435   605   701   350   418   386   442   4,738  

HRA adaptations  0   0   0   0   0   0   500   0   0   0   500  

Gross cost of service  583   668   497   517   655   771   930   512   497   490   6,120  

Client contributions ( 15) ( 8)  0   0  ( 99)  0   0   0  ( 39)  0  ( 160) 

Agency fee income  0  ( 35)  0   0  ( 50)  0   0   0   0   0  ( 85) 

Net cost of service  568   626   497   517   506   771   930   512   459   490   5,875  

Funded by                       

Grant ( 314) ( 366) ( 293) ( 295) ( 360) ( 291) ( 305) ( 250) ( 279) ( 316) ( 3,070) 

Revenue resources ( 80) ( 32) ( 113) ( 82) ( 0) ( 70) ( 80)  0  ( 36) ( 49) ( 541) 

HRA resources (revenue and capital)  0   0   0   0   0   0  ( 500)  0   0   0  ( 500) 

Other capital financing (usually capital receipts) ( 174) ( 228) ( 90) ( 140) ( 146) ( 409) ( 45) ( 262) ( 144) ( 126) ( 1,765) 

Total financing ( 568) ( 626) ( 497) ( 517) ( 506) ( 771) ( 930) ( 512) ( 459) ( 490) ( 5,875) 
 
 
Notes 

 Baseline figures have been investigated thoroughly since the outline business case; the most significant changes are that running costs 

have been amended from £539k to an increased figure of £882k.  This is following the verification of district information, and the 

inclusion in running costs of system costs, overheads, and travel costs, where previously only staffing costs were shown. 

 There is differing treatment among districts regarding whether staffing costs are charged to revenue or capital. 

 Registered housing providers also fund some adaptations, in some cases in full but more commonly by contributing a percentage 
towards the cost of works; these figures are not generally included in table 2. 

 Three Rivers, St Albans and Welwyn Hatfield did not respond to the request for updated and verified information, therefore, the original 
information received has been used.      
 

 

P
age 60



22 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

4.1.2 County Council Overview 
 
HCC funds minor adaptations including grab rails, stair rails, bath rails or other works  
that are below £1,000.  If the work is over £1,000 and the person is eligible for a  
Disabled Facilities Grant they are encouraged to apply for the grant unless the work  
is urgent (i.e. to facilitate hospital discharge or if the person is terminally ill). For those  
who are assessed to pay a contribution to the Disabled Facilities Grant and the work  
costs less than £1,000, HCC can pay the person’s contribution.  
 
Major adaptations may be arranged and funded in various ways, depending on the  
cost of the adaptation, whether the property is Council, Housing Association, privately  
rented or owner-occupied, the financial circumstances of the person and the differing  
policies and practices of other agencies. Funding for major adaptations may be  
available where the person is deemed to be eligible, and no other sources of funding  
are available. 
 
Given the focus on DFG via the BCFs, in March 2016 the Department of Health discontinued the 
Social Care Capital Grant (SCCG) from 2016/17. The SCCG in Hertfordshire was worth £2.302m 
in 2015/16.  
 
In respect of Adult Social Care, HCC employs Occupational Therapists (OTs) under its contract 
with Serco.  The OTs work in partnership with district council DFG services, giving advice and 
making prescriptions in relation to DFG activity.   Staffing costs currently relating to the OT 
resource are estimated at £800k, and ongoing OT staffing costs are expected to be fully funded 
by HCC in any shared service arrangement.  Serco advise that an OT resource of 13 FTE would 
be required in the new arrangement. 
 
Table 3 shows HCC’s total adaptations expenditure (2015/16 figures)  
alongside the countywide OT resource. This is added to the district total (from above) 
to show a Hertfordshire total.  
 
Table 3: Total HIA Related expenditure 
 

  

HCC 
Districts 

Total 
Hertfordshire 
Total 

£000s £000s £000s 

Running Costs  800   882   1,682  

Disabled Facilities  559   4,738   5,297  

HRA adaptations  0   500   500  

Gross cost of service  1,359   6,120   7,479  

Client contributions ( 153) ( 160) ( 313) 

Agency fee income  0  ( 85) ( 85) 

Net cost of service  1,206   5,875   7,081  

Funded by       

Grant  0  ( 3,070) ( 3,070) 

Revenue resources ( 1,206) ( 541) ( 1,747) 

HRA resources (revenue and capital)  0  ( 500) ( 500) 

Other capital financing (usually capital receipts)  0  ( 1,765) ( 1,765) 

Total financing ( 1,206) ( 5,875) ( 7,081) 
 
 
 

Page 61



23 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 
4.1.3 DFG Grant Funding  
 
BCF allocations of DFG to individual authorities increased in 2016/17 as per Table 4 below.   
 
Table 4: DFG Grant Allocation 2015/16 and 2016/17 
 

 2015/16 2016/17 Change 

£’000s £’000s £’000s 

BBC 314 577 263 

DBC 366 675 309 

EHC 293 530 237 

HBC 295 538 242 

NHDC 360 654 294 

SADC 291 531 240 

SBC 305 576 271 

TRDC 250 456 206 

WBC 279 523 244 

WHBC 316 592 276 

Hertfordshire Total 3,070 5,652 2,581 

 
 

4.2 Current Services  
 
Making comparisons between districts is very difficult because each authority 
has developed a DFG service in its own way to respond to local needs and 
maximise use of resources within their organisation.  
 

4.2.1  Service type 
 
In six authorities, the service is managed within the environmental health 
service and in the other four districts, it sits within the housing service. In most 
authorities, the DFG service is part of the wider private sector housing function 
although in one authority, it is in a different part of the housing service 
altogether. 
 
There are a number of different delivery models. All authorities have some 
direct input into the grant process although the range of involvement varies 
from minimal with the main activity being grant approvals and completions, to 
more detailed involvement akin to that provided by an HIA. This might include 
discussing options around adaptations, supporting clients in completing 
application paperwork, obtaining estimates on behalf of clients and overseeing 
works. 
 
Staffing levels vary between different authorities. In most authorities, the DFG 
function is carried out by officers who provide a range of services and it has 
been necessary to estimate the proportion related to the DFG function. The 
required officer resource is also affected by the extent to which agents or other 
support services are used. 

 
 

Page 62



24 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 
4.2.2  Waiting Lists  
 
HCC has reported that the current average waiting time for an Occupational Therapy assessment 

is 8-12 weeks. 

Districts have reported that once a referral is received from the OT Service, an initial response is 

made within 2 weeks or less, so effectively there are no waiting lists across districts.  Completion 

of the adaptation required will depend on a number of factors including the nature of the works, 

input from the client, and availability of contractors. 

 
4.2.3  Types of adaptation 
 
The charts below indicate the main types of adaptation that DFGs are used to fund. It can be 
seen that in every district, level access showers are the most common adaptation, a total of 361 
accounting for nearly 50% of all adaptations across the County. Level access showers and stair 
lifts total around 70% of all adaptations 
 
Figure 2 Adaptation type by district authority  
 
 

 
 
4.2.4  Timescales 
 
The timescales for assessment, processing of grant applications and completion of works were 
investigated as part of a previous project. However, it was impossible to even provide an 
indication of how long the process is from a client perspective. 
 
Once district councils receive a referral, there are a number of stages that need to be gone 
through, first to complete an application and then, once a grant is approved, to complete the 
works. District councils were asked to estimate the typical time for these two stages, the results 
of which are shown in the chart below. Again, it has to be accepted that there will be variations 
because larger jobs, for example an extension to incorporate a bathroom, will obviously take 
longer than the fitting of a stair lift. 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

N
o
. 
o
f 
g
ra

n
ts

District

Stair lifts

Level access showers

Ramps/vehicle 
crossovers/other access

Extensions

Other

Children

Page 63



25 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 

Figure 3 Timescales for processing grant applications by district councils 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Months

Receipt of referral-
Grant approval

Grant appoval-grant 
completion

Page 64



26 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 
5 SCOPE OF SERVICES  

The scope section of this Business Case seeks to clarify what the shared service could deliver, 
as well as boundaries of its activity and how these activities will interface with partner Councils.  
 
The Operational Group considered which responsibilities and functions within the DFG service 
could be shared across the participating Councils.  
 
5.1 Overview 
 
The vision for the HIA is that it will provide a range of services to support independent living. The 
core element of the service would be delivery of the disabled facilities grant function. However, it 
is envisaged that this core service can be enhanced in a number of ways to provide an improved 
service to clients who qualify for a DFG and those who do not qualify but nonetheless need 
adaptations or other support, which if not provided, could result in increased costs to the health 
and social care authorities. 
 
 
5.2  Core Service 
 
The service will both manage the application process for Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) and 
discretionary grants, assessment of applications and applicants (including Occupational 
Therapist (OT) assessments) plus the delivery, including supporting people through the repairs 
and adaptation to their home.   
 
The key objective will be to provide an advice service which ensures people have information 
about their housing options and where the choice is made to enable older people, people with 
disabilities (including children) and those on low incomes to remain living in their homes safely, 
securely and independently.  Support provided will be delivered to people in their own home.   
 
The services to be provided will include: 
 

 Information, advice and guidance, including administration of grant applications, test of 
resources and income management advice/benefit checks 

 Advice about housing options and other support/housing schemes plus sign posting as 
appropriate to schemes such as equity release 

 OT assessments 

 Scheme design and project management including letting the works contract. 
 

By integrating the OT assessment and adaptation delivery elements of the process into a single 
service, it is envisaged that the timescales for delivery of adaptations can be significantly reduced 
from many months to weeks for straight forward adaptations. 
 
5.3 Enhanced Services 
 
Currently, some clients are assessed as requiring adaptations but due to their financial situation 
are not entitled to a DFG. At present no further support is offered and clients are expected to 
make their own arrangements for the adaptations that they require. The HIA would be in a 
position to offer assistance in arranging the required adaptation work for a proportionate fee.  
This fee income would contribute to the overall cost of running the service. 
 

Page 65



27 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Many HIA services around the country offer a handyman service to assist people in carrying out 
basic maintenance and repair tasks in their own homes. A reasonable fee is charged, which may 
be a fixed fee for specific tasks or a reasonable hourly rate. Such services from reliable agencies 
are valued by elderly people or other vulnerable groups. The aim would be to operate this service 
on at least a cost neutral basis, with any surplus contributing to the Service’s overall costs. 
 
5.4 Future Service Development 
 
The Care Act 2014 sought to put in place significant changes in how health and social care 
services are delivered, which all authorities and agencies working in this sector need to respond 
to. The Better Care Fund presents an opportunity to integrate provision of help with home 
adaptations across housing, health and social care systems to achieve better health and 
wellbeing outcomes. The success of this regime will be measured by outcomes including: 
 

 Numbers of people admitted to residential and care homes; 

 Effectiveness of reablement; 

 Delayed transfers of care (‘bed-blocking’); 

 Avoidable emergency admissions; and 

 Patient / service user experience 
 
The HIA will be well placed to develop enhanced services to contribute towards these outcomes, 
for example by enabling people to continue to live independently at home rather than being 
admitted to residential and care homes.  
 
 
The table below uses the workshop results to give a view, based on the mapping exercise, of 
which activities would be performed by the shared service, and which by council partners.     
 
Table 5: Core HIA Process: Boundaries and Interfaces with Councils  
 
 

Activity Shared Service Councils 

Home 
Improvement 
Risk  
Assessment 

Maintain risk assessment of 
activity & use this to inform 
work planning 

Contribute information to 
the risk assessment 

Work Planning Formulate an annual plan of 
activity 

Consider, influence and 
accept the annual plan 

Work 
Allocation 

Determine how resources to 
be allocated and when 
activity will occur 

Agree the timing of 
activity and make 
available resources to 
support this 

Reporting Report on activity to 
Councils 

Share reports with 
stakeholders 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



28 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

5.5 Business Management and Support Processes 

The service will have business management needs as set out below: 
 
Figure 4: Business Management and Support 
 

 

 
 
Table 6: Business Management and Support: Boundaries and Interfaces with Councils 
 
This table gives a view of the allocation of business management and support tasks between a 
shared service and partner councils. 
 

Task Distribution 

 Shared Service Councils 

Performance 
reporting 

Generate performance reports 
according to agreed format 
and timetable 

Monitor and review activity 

Finance Generate bills 
Maintain trading account 

 

ICT Implement and maintain ICT 
systems 

Provide access to local systems 

Work allocation Determine how resources to Agree the timing of activity and 

Mgt Info

•Production of management information on KPIs, Performance Targets

•SLAs

•Client feedback

Finance

•Maintaining trading account

•Production of financial information for billing purposes

ICT

•Superuser role

•Defining and ensuring the ICT needs of the service

•Using ICT systems to generate management and client information

Work 
alloc'n

•Planning and scheduling

Bus 
Devm't

•Developing new services

•Marketing

•Introducing new clients

Comms

•Taking referrals

•Sharing learning points

•Supporting campaigns

Page 67



29 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Task Distribution 

 Shared Service Councils 

be allocated and when activity 
will occur 

make available resources to 
support this 

Business 
Development 

Identify and develop 
opportunities to grow the 
service 

 

Communications  Communicate the results of 
activity  

Provide feedback on service 
performance 
Communicate the work of the 
service to stakeholders 

. 
 
 
5.6 Exclusions 
 
The following areas are excluded from the scope of this business case: 

 
Extended Involvement Team OTs – the EIT OTs remit is large and varied and a large proportion 

of their time is spent on other work besides adaptations.  For this reason it would be too 

complicated to extract from the service now.  However the EIT will be a key interface with the 

new Shared Housing Improvement Agency and with a view to include this in the future. 

 

 
  

Page 68



30 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

6.  QUANTIFYING COSTS AND BENEFITS OF THE PROPOSED MODEL 

 
 6.1 Proposal  

The Business Case proposal is to set up a Shared Service to deliver a Shared Housing 
Improvement Agency function across Hertfordshire. 
 

6.2 Benefits  
 
A shared service model will deliver financial and qualitative benefits that meet the project’s 
objectives.  Qualitative benefits were outlined in the executive summary.   

 
Financial benefits, which would accrue even in the six authority approach, include:   
 

 Joint procurement 

 Sharing of management overheads & other specialist and process-related economies 
of scale  

 Opportunity for a consolidated financial assessments process. 
 

6.3 Costs 
 
A model has been developed which allows the costs of the service to be developed for any 
combination of authorities joining the service.  The assumptions and caveats relating to this 
modelling are: 

  

 Figures include HRA adaptations information where available, so the total movements 
may be split between General Fund and HRA.  

 Staffing structure and grading of the proposed service will require HAY evaluation (or 
similar). 

 We have not attempted to model for increasing demand or costs.  

 We have not estimated savings from changes to procurement practice. 

 We have made no estimate of savings from financial assessments - there may be 
duplication between financial assessments carried out by districts and by HCC, 
providing scope for efficiency savings.  

 We have assumed that the OT service for DFGs will transfer to the shared service 
and this will be fully funded by HCC.  

 There may be scope for savings or increased capacity on the part of the service by 
flexing the mix of professionally qualified and non-qualified staff in the proposed 
structure.   

 

6.3.1 Sizing the Team 
  
In order to determine a model for the team the caseload numbers of the district and borough 
councils and of the OT service were obtained.   
 
Benchmarking states that a Technical Officer (TO) working in a high-performing HIA, with a good 
efficient system, a contractor framework and a robust case management IT system, should be 
able to process around 175 cases a year and a Caseworker (CO) between 120 and 150, 
depending on the complexity of the case. 
 
 

Page 69



31 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

For OT activity a figure of 4.4 cases per week (taken from the HCC Performance Dashboard) has 
been used, along with an average leave, sickness, and training absence of 15%). This was then 
used to develop the staffing model shown in Figure 5 below.   

 
This staffing model is for the scenario where all the districts and borough councils join the shared 
service, and is reduced accordingly in the scenario where a smaller number of authorities joint 
the shared service.   

 
Figure 5: Staffing Model for Shared Home Improvement Agency Function  

 
 
 
 
 

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

   

6.3.2  Proposed Ongoing Costs of the model 
 
The annual running costs of the above model are demonstrated in table 7 below: 
 
 

 

 

HIA Service Manager 
PMC grade £52k 

 

Casework 
Team Leader 

H8-9 £28k 
 

Technical Team 
Leader 

H8-9 £28k 
 

Business 
Development 

Manager 
M1-2 £37k 

 

OT Team 
Manager 

M3-4 £43k 
 

Technical 
Officers x3 

H7 £25k 
 

Case 
Workers x4 
H5-6 £21k 

 

Admin 
Support 

H3-4 £18k 
 

Senior 
Practitioner 
M1-2 £37k 

 

Trusted 
Assessors / CCOs 

x3 
H5-7 £22k 

 

OTs x13 
H8-9 £28k 

 

Children’s 
OTs x2 

H8-M2 £33k 
 

Page 70



32 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 7: Proposed Ongoing cost of the Shared Home Improvement Agency Service 

  

Six authority model All authority model 

£000s £000s 

HIA Service staffing  390   505  

OT Service  671   671  

HIA Service costs and overheads  51   59  

Total running costs  1,112   1,236  
 

OT Service costs above include the cost of two Children’s Occupational Therapists; however 

there are still ongoing discussions about where these posts will be funded from. 

Costs of adaptations are forecast in the model to continue as in current operations.  
 
The forecast running costs exceed the current running costs noted in Table 2 above; 
solutions to this potential barrier are discussed in Section 7.4. 
 
It will be helpful to design a service with a structure that is fit for purpose going forward in view of 
rising levels of demand resulting from demographic pressures, and the government’s wish to 
invest more funding in this area through to 2019/20. 
 
The proposed size of the OT service will remain constant under both the six authority model and 
the all authority model.  OT’s will continue to provide a service to all districts whether they are in 
or out of the shared service model.  This will be fully funded by HCC. 
 
 
6.3.3 Initial Set-up Costs   
 
Areas of expenditure have been identified below; these are estimates of costs based on the 
experience of setting up a Shared Anti-Fraud Service.  Extra costs may be identified once more 
detailed implementation planning has taken place but costs are not likely to be material to each 
authority involved. 
 
Table 8: Set-up costs of the Shared Service  
 

Description of expenditure 

Cost 

£000s 

Project management 
Covered by 
BCF 

Legal support 
1.5 per 
partner 

Case management system; assumes new system 
purchased 25 

IT, telephony, other supplies and services set-up costs 25 

Head of Service from Jan 2017 - April 2017 17 

    

Cost per partner based on six authority model 13 

Cost per partner based on all authority model 7 
 
 

Page 71



33 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

6.4 Apportionment of Running Costs  

 
Grant conditions relating to DFG advise that the monies can only be used to fund 
capital expenditure.  Therefore we have assumed for these purposes that the running  
costs of the shared service need to be charged to revenue 

Three options for apportionment of running costs were set out in the outline business    
case and Option A was recommended.  This option entailed apportioning the running costs 

based on the expenditure on aids and adaptations, using a three year average over the 
period 2013/14 to 2015/16.  All further financial information is based on this option. 

 
In all three scenarios it is assumed that HCC pays for the full costs of the OT resource, plus a 

proportionate amount of the overall head of service, and does not bear any of the other running 

costs. 

Tables 9 and 10 below show the overall before and after position for each authority of joining the 
shared service.  This has been split to show separately the revenue and capital impact on the 
authorities. 
 
The option to charge fee income has been included in order to maintain revenue costs within the 
current funding envelope as far as possible, as requested by district CFO’s.  Currently, a number 
of districts charge an agency fee on DFG works.  This process involves using an agent to carry 
out the works which enables a project management fee to be charged.  This can then be used to 
offset the extra revenue costs.   
 
Districts who charge fee income charge a percentage of between 8-10% currently but there is 
scope to charge more if necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



34 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 9.1: Six Authority Model - Revenue Impact 
 

  

DBC EHC HBC NHDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Running costs of shared service 103 69 79 109 70 682 1,112 

Client contributions ( 8)  0   0  ( 99) ( 39) ( 153) ( 299) 

Net cost of service 95 69 79 10 31 529 813 

                

Current revenue budget for DFG 32 113 82 0 36 1,206 1,469 

Residual costs in district i.e. non cashable savings 22 48 38 31 36 559 733 

Extra revenue budget required 85 4 35 41 31 ( 118)  77  

                

Fee income at 10% of DFG spend ( 57) ( 38) ( 44) ( 60) ( 39) n/a ( 238) 

                

Extra revenue budget required if charge fee income  28  ( 35) ( 9) ( 20) ( 8) n/a ( 42) 
 
 
Notes 

 To show the revenue impact on each authority, client contributions (assumed to continue at current levels) have been subtracted from 
running costs of the proposed shared service to give a net cost of service.  

 Residual costs in each authority have been identified; these are non-cashable savings if the district moved to the shared service model 
such as IT system costs, overhead recharges – which would still need to be met from other budgets.  

 Residual costs of £559k in HCC reflect the current spend on adaptations, which is assumed to continue at this point, and is out of scope 
of the shared service model. 

 The revenue cost of the shared service has been compared to the current revenue budget for DFG taking into account residual costs.  
This shows that all districts would have to make an extra revenue contribution. 

 Due to the caveat given by districts that the shared service would only be a feasible option if costs were maintained at current levels, the 
option of using fee income has also been included.  If this option was approved, this would result in revenue savings for all districts 
apart from Dacorum.  For all districts to show revenue savings, fee income of 15% would need to be charged, as shown below: 

 
 
 

P
age 73



35 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

  

DBC EHC HBC NHDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Extra revenue budget required with fee income at 
13%  17  ( 42) ( 18) ( 32) ( 15) n/a ( 90) 

Extra revenue budget required with fee income at 
14%  6  ( 50) ( 26) ( 44) ( 23) n/a ( 138) 

Extra revenue budget required with fee income at 
15% ( 0) ( 54) ( 31) ( 50) ( 27) n/a ( 161) 

 
 
In the tables above, fee income is based on DFG spend.  During the implementation phase, other options for distribution of the fee income will 
be investigated.  It may be that a fairer method will be to give each district enough fee income to generate a net nil budget and then pool any 
surplus for joint investment. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 74



36 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Table 9.2: All Authority Model – Revenue Impact 
 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Running costs of shared service 58 74 50 57 79 91 45 54 50  678   1,236  

Client contributions ( 15) ( 8)  0   0  ( 99)  0   0   0  ( 39) ( 153) ( 313) 

Net cost of service  44   66   50   57  ( 21)  91   45   54   11   525   922  

                        

Current revenue budget for DFG  80   32   113   82   0   70   80   0   36   1,206   1,698  

Residual costs in district i.e. non-cashable 
savings  79   22   48   38   31   43   40   0   36   559   895  

Extra revenue budget required for shared 
service  43   56  ( 16)  12   10   64   6   54   11  ( 122)  119  

                        

Fee income at 10% of DFG spend ( 45) ( 57) ( 38) ( 44) ( 60) ( 70) ( 35) ( 42) ( 39) n/a ( 430) 

                        

Extra revenue budget required if charge fee 
income ( 2) ( 1) ( 54) ( 31) ( 50) ( 6) ( 29)  13  ( 27) n/a ( 188) 
 
 
Notes 

 To show the revenue impact on each authority, client contributions (assumed to continue at current levels) have been subtracted from 
running costs of the proposed shared service to give a net cost of service.  

 Residual costs in each authority have been identified; these are non-cashable savings if the district moved to the shared service model 
such as IT system costs, overhead recharges – which would still need to be met from other budgets.  

 Residual costs of £559k in HCC reflect the current spend on adaptations, which is assumed to continue at this point, and is out of scope 
of the shared service model. 

 The revenue cost of the shared service has been compared to the current revenue budget for DFG taking into account residual costs.  
This shows that all districts, apart from East Herts, would have to make an extra revenue contribution. 

 Due to the caveat given by districts that the shared service would only be a feasible option if costs were maintained at current levels, the 
option of using fee income has also been included.  If this option was approved, this would result in revenue savings for all districts 
apart from Three Rivers.  For all districts to show revenue savings, fee income of 13% would need to be charged, as shown below: 

 

P
age 75



37 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC HCC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Extra revenue budget required with fee 
income at 12% ( 11) ( 12) ( 62) ( 40) ( 62) ( 20) ( 36)  4  ( 35) n/a ( 274) 

Extra revenue budget required with fee 
income at 13% ( 16) ( 18) ( 66) ( 44) ( 69) ( 27) ( 39) ( 0) ( 39) n/a ( 317) 
 
 
In the tables above, fee income is based on DFG spend.  During the implementation phase, other options for distribution of the fee income will 
be investigated.  It may be that a fairer method will be to give each district enough fee income to generate a net nil budget and then pool any 
surplus for joint investment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 76



38 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 
Table 10.1: Six Authority Model – Capital Impact 
 

  

DBC EHC HBC NHDC WBC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

DFG works spend  567   384   435   605   386   2,377  

District capital contribution ( 228) ( 90) ( 140) ( 146) ( 144) ( 748) 

Increased DFG grant 16/17 ( 675) ( 530) ( 538) ( 654) ( 523) ( 2,920) 

              

Extra capital money available ( 336) ( 237) ( 242) ( 195) ( 281) ( 1,290) 
 
 
 
Table 10.2: All Authority Model – Capital Impact  
 

  

BBC DBC EHC HBC NHDC SADC SBC TRDC WBC TOTAL 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

DFG works spend  450   567   384   435   605   701   350   418   386   4,296  

District capital contribution ( 174) ( 228) ( 90) ( 140) ( 146) ( 409) ( 45) ( 262) ( 144) ( 1,639) 

Increased DFG grant 16/17 ( 577) ( 675) ( 530) ( 538) ( 654) ( 531) ( 576) ( 456) ( 523) ( 5,060) 

                     0  

Extra capital money available ( 301) ( 336) ( 237) ( 242) ( 195) ( 240) ( 271) ( 300) ( 281) ( 2,402) 
 
 
Notes 

 The capital impact tables above assume the current level of spend on DFG works will continue, as well as districts putting in the same 
capital contributions going forward.  The impact on each individual district is the same regardless of which model is taken forward. 

 

 Due to the increased DFG grant levels from 16/17 onwards, each authority will have a significant increase in capital money available. 
 

 HCC is excluded from the capital tables as it is not awarded DFG. 

P
age 77



39 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

6.5  Future Planning 
 
6.5.1 Alternative Use of DFG 
 
The BCF Policy Framework clearly encourages innovative use of DFG, as well as setting out an 
expectation that local authorities with housing responsibility are expected to engage in joint BCF 
planning with welfare and Health authorities, and it is expected that health priorities, such as 
delayed transfer of care and readmission to hospital, will become more important in the way DFG 
is spent.  The scope of the Regulatory Reform Order was also extended in 2008-09 to include 
use of DFG money, which enables authorities to use this money for wider preventative purposes. 
 
Hertfordshire’s demographics show an increasingly ageing population and therefore investing in 
more preventative services is key to reducing demand on services and avoiding higher costs in 
the future. 
 
HCC has already begun focusing on prevention as a strategic priority.  Strategic Management 
Board and Health and Wellbeing Board have both endorsed the strategic shift to prevention.  
 
Based on this BCF guidance and the focus on prevention, there is a proposal to gain agreement 
from each district that a proportion of this extra capital money can be top-sliced and pooled 
together to be spent collectively on Hertfordshire wide projects, for example, provision of telecare 
or reablement.  A number of other authorities have already adopted this approach. 
 
Top-slicing 10% of the extra capital funding for each district would give the Hertfordshire BCF 

£240,000 to invest in preventative work.  Top-slicing 20% would provide £480,000.  However, 

this would need agreement from all authorities to proceed. 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



40 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

7  PROJECT MANAGEMENT DELIVERY AND NEXT STEPS   
 

7.1 Project Constraints, Assumptions and Dependencies  
 
Key constraints for consideration by the Chief Executive’s Co-ordination Group (CECG) in 
supporting the Business Case: 
 

 Work stream leads will not be dedicated to the project on a full time basis so capacity, 
particularly for key elements, will need to be kept under review  

 Availability of stakeholders will affect the delivery of the project, for example OT and 
District staff participation in focus groups and scoping exercises 

 
Key assumptions for consideration by the CECG in supporting the Business Case: 
 

 A Finance Manager is assigned to support the project  

 The initial phase of the new service will be from implementation to go-live 

 Go-live is planned for the start of the new financial year 17/18  
 
Key dependencies for consideration by the CECG in supporting the Business Case: 
 

 Harmonising systems or procuring a brand new system 

 The establishment of effective and workable governance arrangements 

 The need to recognised the transitional period into the Shared Service and any 
requirements to support DFG activity over this period 

 The partnership continues for at least five years to ensure the opportunity to develop a 
sustainable solution. Reviews of the partnership would take place periodically.  

 The provision of services which meet each organisation’s needs and strategic 
objectives 

 
 

7.2  Project Next Steps 
 
It is proposed that the current governance arrangements continue into the next phase of the 
project  i.e. that the Business Case is presented to the respective Cabinets, that senior Members 
are kept informed of progress through the usual channels, and all Members generally through 
joint communications where appropriate.  
 
Governance arrangements and decision-making arrangements for the shared service operation 
will be explored in more detail in the next phase of the programme. 
 
7.2.1 Formalising the Commitment of the Participating Councils 
 
The Operational Group agreed in April 2016 that after this Business Case has been approved, 
each potential partner will make its own assessment of the merits of the case in relation to its 
own position. Each Council will apply its own decision-making process and confirm the outcome 
to the Board. 
 
It is recommended that each authority agrees to formally commit to participate in the shared 
service by a date to be agreed. 
 
 

 
7.2.2 Resourcing the Project 
 

Page 79



41 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

At all levels of our organisations, working on this project is a rapid learning curve. The 
engagement of staff and the way they have worked together in the project teams has been 
positive, and needs to continue. Ensuring that staff in each Council at all levels of the project are 
able to continue to commit the necessary time and effort is critical to the success of the 
programme.  
 
It is recommended that the programme continues to be resourced by the participating Councils 
to work alongside the Project Manager to prepare the Service Development phase and start 
preparations for implementation. This resource is required to ensure that the project can be 
delivered in accordance with the proposed timetable.  
  
7.2.3 Change Management  
 
The proposed project will impact significantly on how DFG services are provided, commissioned 
and managed throughout the participating Councils. This will affect not only those staff directly 
engaged in the provision of this service but also the Councils receiving the service.  
 
A key success factor will be the ability of the participating Councils to communicate with a wide 
range of stakeholders and ensure that each is adequately informed and actively and positively 
engaged in the development and delivery of change. 
 
It is vital that all stakeholders in all the participating Councils are kept appraised of the Boards 
decisions, the scope and aims of the project and of project progress. Stakeholder management 
and change management will be run as an integral part of the project management process in 
order to inform and improve the development of the project, identify potential resistance at an 
early stage, shorten delivery timescales and increase the likelihood of all potential project 
benefits being realised.  

 
7.2.4 Implementation plan 
 
The service will need to work to an agreed implementation plan post go-live to prioritise how 
each of these service elements will be brought on stream.  It will be beneficial to have additional 
project support during the early stages of the new service to support this. 

 
7.2.5 Shared Service Operation  
 
Detailed work will need to be carried out on what the Shared Home Improvement Service model 
will look like (business process re-engineering), how it can most effectively operate (management 
and governance arrangements), where it will be accommodated and how each council can best 
monitor its operation (client function). Some consideration will also need to be given to branding 
and how the service is distinguished from other related services. 
 
7.2.6 Shared Service Performance  
 
It will be necessary to define performance indicators and targets for the Shared Home 
Improvement Service.  These will need to reflect the benefit delivered by the service to partners 
in terms of savings and improvements made, and ideally should incentivise the service to 
increase the value of supported living services.  The data required to produce performance 
information will need to be straightforward to obtain.  
 
7.2.7 Systems Convergence  
 
It is recommended that the participating Councils agree in principle to agree to adopt a single 
case management system in order to gain the benefits of moving to a common system.     
 

Page 80



42 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

7.2.8 Harmonising policies  
 
Each Council has its own set of policies in relation to this area. Variance in key policies is 
potentially an area of diseconomy to a future shared services operation. It is recommended that 
policy harmonisation is progressed where it is straightforward to do so, for example in the areas 
of: 
 

 General operation procedure including performance criteria 

 Financial inclusion or debt management policies 

 Social care strategies, including carers, mental health and older people 
  

Harmonisation will help achieve efficiency in terms of minimising any resource required to 
administer divergent policies, and reduced potential for errors in advice given.  
 
 

7.3 Project Stakeholders   
 
 Council staff  
 Council senior managers and CFOs / Chief Executives 
 Serco contract leads 
 Elected Members 
 Voluntary/Health / Housing / Social Care sectors 
 Residents of Hertfordshire 
 CFOs of all interested parties 
 East and North Hertfordshire CCG 
 Herts Valleys CCG 
 NHS England 

 
 

7.4 Project Issues and Risks  
 
A detailed issue log and risk register will be developed by the project team. These registers will 
be monitored and maintained together with appropriate rating and controls. High impact issues 
and risks will be escalated by the Project Manager to the Project Lead and Sponsors as 
appropriate.   
 
Key issues for consideration in supporting the business case: 
 
 How should any funding / charging model work  
 Need for completion of financial baseline activity 
 Difficult to estimate possible TUPE/pension costs to the project 
 Lack of service user input so far 
 Awareness of bringing all professional referral routes into one service e.g. referrals that 

come from Health, independent therapists or those from out of area if a service user 
moves 

 
 
Key risks for consideration in supporting the business case: 
  
 

Page 81



43 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Summary of Key Risks 
 

P
ro

b
a
b

il
it

y
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

R
is

k
 R

a
ti

n
g

  

Containment 

There is a risk  that the existing 

variability in provision and 

contractual arrangements of local 

authorities’ DFG services may 

result in the project not being able 

to deliver the desired model  

4
  

L
ik

e
ly

 

4
  

 M
e

d
iu

m
 

1
2
 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a
n

t 

Early engagement with 
Districts to understand their  
existing arrangements  

There is a risk that the Framework 

agreement may be too expensive   

 

3
  

P
o

s
s

ib
le

 

4
  

M
e

d
iu

m
 

1
2
  

S
ig

n
if

ic
a
n

t Early market testing and 
learning from other similar 
models  

There is a risk that we are unable to 

include Housing OTs in the initial 

set up as the service is part of the 

Serco contract – this runs for 

another three years. 

3
  

P
o

s
s

ib
le

 

8
  

H
ig

h
 

2
4
  

S
ig

n
if

ic
a
n

t 

Early engagement with 
Serco to discuss cost 
implications of the service 
being transferred back to 
the Council early 
 

There is a risk staff retention and 

motivation could drop resulting in a 

turnover of workforce, loss of 

historical knowledge and skills and 

associated costs 

3
 

P
o

s
s

ib
le

 

8
 

H
ig

h
 

2
4

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a
n

t 

Mitigate risk by working 

with HR to develop and 

implement communications 

and staff engagement 

strategy 

 

Page 82



 

44 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Appendix A Options Analysis for Procurement Review 

Option Benefits Drawbacks 
A.  Framework 

Agreement  

 

 

 

 Potential to reduce costs and time 
associated with delivering works 

 Time-saving efficiencies related to 
administrative function and handling 
times 

 Ensures consistency and equity 
across districts signed up to it 

 Resilience of labour supply 

 Can support small providers 
(continuing stream of work, less 
time on admin and pricing, better 
procurement arrangements)  

 If frameworks are delivered 
independently to other 
organisational changes then 
benefits can be realised quickly 

 Can be used effectively with 
schedule of rates to improve cost 
and budgeting control 

 Not paying more than market value 
for works 

 Flexible for customers to choose 
preferred provider 

 Encourages competitive pricing 

 Procurement procedure required 

 Will need to be reviewed 
regularly (at suitable intervals) to 
allow new entrants and release 
those who no longer want to 
participate without penalty 

 Time consuming to set up 

 Will need significant 
district/borough buy-in to make 
effective 

 Frequent review to ensure best 
value is achieved 

 Providers may not want to work 
on complex jobs where margins 
are small   

B.  Direct 

contract 

 

 

 Potential to reduce costs and time 
associated with procurement 

 Time-saving efficiencies related to 
administrative function and handling 
times 

 Ensures consistency and equity 
across districts signed up to it 

 Resilience of labour supply 

 Develop partnership relationship 

 Greater savings from guaranteed 
work 

 Procurement procedure required 

 Could be paying more than 
market value for works 

 Provider may lose out if market 
value fluctuates 

 Time consuming to set up 

 Will need significant 
district/borough buy-in to make 
effective 

 Large, non-local providers are 
likely to win business  

 Less flexibility/viable options if 
provider is underperforming 

C.  Do nothing 

 

 

 Good contractual arrangements in 
place 

 Knowledgeable, committed staff 

 Trusted brand 

 Support local business 

 Not a standardised approach to 
costs 

 Time-consuming 

 Admin-heavy 

 Paying too much for big-ticket 
items 

 ‘postcode lottery’ for self-funders 
and those with contributions who 
may have to pay more for the 
same adaptation 

 
 

Page 83



 

45 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

B.1 Options Analysis for Delivery Model 

Option Benefits Drawbacks 
A: DFG service  Relatively low-cost 

 Retained control of budget for local authorities 

 Strong trusted brand  

 Better use of staff resources 

 Knowledgeable, committed staff 

 Needs a strong lead from within 

 Still not a fully integrated, holistic approach 

 Possible TUPE/redundancy issues  

 May not be seen as delivering sufficient benefits for 
effort required 

B: Small Home 

Improvement 

Agency (HIA)  

 

 Opportunity for technical officer, caseworkers and integrated 
OT service in one place 

 Future opportunities to develop as social enterprise 

 Some resilience from fluctuating demand in the system 

 Single system/database used 

 Eradicates issues with local authority recruitment (workforce 
recruited  externally) 

 Less bureaucracy in decision-making 

 Improved customer experience including reduced waiting 
times for clients 

 Better use of staff resources and reduced revenue costs 

 Cost of incorporating organisation 

 Still only a partially integrated, holistic approach 

 Possible TUPE/redundancy issues  
 

C.  Complete 

Home 

Improvement 

Agency (HIA) 

 Opportunity for technical officer, caseworkers and integrated 
OT service and minor adaptations in one place 

 Opportunity to develop as social enterprise 

 Strong resilience from fluctuating demand in the system 

 Single system/database used 

 Improved customer experience including reduced waiting 
times for clients 

 Better use of staff resources and reduced revenue costs 

 Cost of incorporating organisation 

 Possible TUPE/redundancy issues 

D.  Do nothing 

 

 

 Effective service currently being delivered 

 Good contractual arrangements in place 

 Adult OT referrals have improved consistently  

 Open budget for legal charges 

 Districts top-up BCF budget 

 Good political buy-in 

 Added value – picking up on other needs 

 Knowledgeable, committed staff 

 Missing out on opportunities to improve service and 
realise benefits 

 Current timescales across the whole chain 

 Lack of consistency between districts (variation in 
cost and response times) 

 Client support/agency work is varied 

 Process is complicated for vulnerable clients 

 Poor support for clients not eligible for DFG 

P
age 84



 

46 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 Strong trusted brand 

 Supports local business 

 Driven by need not profit 

 Stays local 

 No need to delegate grant paying powers 

 Lack of promotion of DFG services 

 Lack of work with GPs to promote independent living 

 Lacking a single point of contact 

 Poor management of expectations  initial assessment 
then OT closes the case 

 Lack of good housing advice at the start of the 
process 

 Lack of integration around the individual 

 No economies of scale 

 Lack of monitoring 

 Does not have a multi-channel view of independent 
living – more integration required for this 

 HES would continue to incur costs for contractor fees 
for minor adaptations work 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 85



 

47 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

B.2 Options Analysis for Delivery Approach 

Option Benefits Drawbacks 
A.  Shared 

service model 

 

 

 Greater resilience 

 Opportunity for caseworkers and integrated OT service  

 Not costly to set-up 

 Fits with Care Act 2014 

 Future opportunities to develop as social enterprise 

 Driven by need not profit 

 Retained control of budget  

 Strong trusted brand  

 Stays local  

 More unified ownership of service/problem/budget  

 Single entity for range of outcomes and monitoring 

 Allows less interested LAs to still meet legal obligations 
vicariously 

 No need to delegate grant paying powers 

 Better use of staff resources 

 Knowledgeable, committed staff 

 Could be complicated to set-up  

 Needs a strong lead from within 

 Still not a fully integrated, holistic approach 

 Possible TUPE/redundancy issues  

 Financial risk to LA managing shared staff if made 
redundant – to be flagged as shared risk if taken forward 

B.  

Outsourcing to 

external 

contractor 

 

 

 Cost effective approach, possible savings 

 Almost total resilience from fluctuating demand in the 
system 

 Good customer service with ‘One-stop shop’ approach 

 Commercial approach – becomes Trusted Trader for 
advice, home improvements and adaptations 

 Single system/database used 

 Eradicates issues with local authority recruitment 
(workforce recruited  externally) 

 Less bureaucracy in decision-making 

 Perceived loss of control/ local expertise and knowledge 

 Possible TUPE/redundancy issues 

 An outsourced service will only deliver to specification (only 
what is in the contract) 

 Political lack of will for contracted services 

 Private sector focus may lead to poor service for customers 

 Lack of access/control to external databases/data 
protection 

 Need for tight legal contact with provider 

 Different political groups across districts and different 
agendas 

 Governance arrangements 

 On-going financial stability of external agency 

 3 - 5 year contracts could lead to disruption of service to 
customers when contracts come to an end, or a new 
provider is appointed 

P
age 86



 

48 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 Local authority still responsible party if contractor fails to 
deliver 

 Possible implications for OTs such as clinical oversight, 
registration etc.  

C.  A local 
authority 
arms- length 
organisation 
managing the 
DFG and 
adaptation 
services 
across 
Hertfordshire 

 Strong CCG/HCC influence 

 Buy-in from LAs 

 Standardised practice across the county 

 Resilience of capacity 

 History of this approach in the county with HILS 

 Better use of staff resources 

 Freedom to innovate 

 Opportunity to develop private work for able to pay 
market 

 Opportunity for caseworkers and integrated OT service 

 Driven by need not profit 

 Stays local 

 More unified ownership of service/problem/budget 

 Knowledgeable, committed staff 

 Cost of incorporating organisation 

 Lack of support 

 Possible TUPE/redundancy issues 

P
age 87



 

49 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Appendix B Home Improvement Service Process Draft 

 

 

 

P
age 88



 

50 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

Appendix C Home Improvement Service High Level Timeline

 
 

 

Go/No-Go Decision Point 

1.  Initiation 
and Options 

September -
January 16 

•Project 
Initation 
Document  

•Data 
gathering 
with districts

•Initial  In 
Scope / Out 
of Scope  

•Appraise  
Options for 
Model 
Delivery and 
Procurement

•Develop 
Options 
paper

•CECG Sign-
off

2.  Outline 
Business Case 

January - May 
16

•Outline 
Business 
Case 

•Define Vision 
& Objectives 

•Define  Scope

•Establish 
Baseline

•Quantify Cost 
& Benefits

•Identify 
Challenges, R
isks & Issues 

•Staff 
Briefings 

•Equality 
Impact 
Assessment 

3. Political 
Process

May 16-
Septembe

r 16•Sign-off 
Process

•County 
Council 
sign-off 
processe
s

•SMB 
9th/23r
d May

•HCFO 
12th 
May/2n
d June

•CECG 
1st 
June

•CLG 
15th 
June

•Cabinet 
11th 
July

•District 
council 
sign-off 
processe
s

4. Procurement       

April 16-October 16

•Framework 
Agreement

•Outline spec and 
PPME 
documentation

•PPME exercise

•Formal spec

•Out to tender

•Evaluate 
submissions

•Award contract

5. High-Level  
Solution Design 

July- October 16 
• Service Design 

•Define New Service 
Structure & Job 
Roles 

•Define Service 
Specification

•Define 
Governance/Legal  
Arrangements

•Define  IT 
requirements

•Define 
Accommodation & 
Location 
preferences.

•Define Framework 
Agreement

•Define  HR 
Requirements -
Employment 
Model, Joint 
Consultation 
Approach etc

•Service Delivery 
Workshops 

•Final Business Case 
(August)

6. 
Implementati

on

October  -
March 17 •Implement

ation   

•Joint Staff 
Consultati
on

•Selection 
& 
Interview 
Process  

•HIA Case 
Manageme
nt System 

7. Go Live -
Shadow HIA 

Service 

3rd April 
2017•Go Live 

with the 
Shadow 
HIA 
Service -
testing 
period

•Inductions 
and team 
building

•Training

•Process 
Design 
and 
testing

•Business 
planning 
2017/18

•Creating  
and 
testing 
reporting 
arrangem
ents

•Define 
individual 
and team 
objectives 

8. Go Live -
formal 

launch of 
service Sep 

2017
•Formal 

launch of 
HIA 
Service

•Finalise 
and carry 
out 
individua
l and 
team 
objective
s 

•Determin
e 
ongoing 
training 
needs

•Finalise 
and carry 
out 
processe
s and 
reporting 
arrange
ments 

P
age 89



 

51 
Herts HIA Final Business Case V2 

 
 

Appendix D 
 

No. Name Page 

Table 1 Representation of authorities within the Business Case 18 

Table 2 District Average Annual Cost of DFG and Home Improvement Related Spend                  21 

Table 3 Total DFG expenditure 22 

Table 4 DFG Grant Allocation 2015/16 and 2016/17 24 

Table 5 Core HIA Process: Boundaries and Interfaces with Councils 27 

Table 6 Business Management and Support: Boundaries and Interfaces with Councils 28 

Table 7 Ongoing costs of the Shared Service 32 

Table 8 Set-up costs of the Shared Service  32 

Table 9.1 Six Authority Model – Revenue Impact 34 

Table 9.2 Full Authority Model – Revenue Impact 36 

Table 10.1 Six Authority Model – Capital Impact 38 

Table 10.2 Full Authority Model – Capital Impact 38 

   

Figure 1 Business Case Development Stages 18 

Figure 2 Adaptation type by district authority 24 

Figure 3 Timescales for processing grant applications by district councils 25 

Figure 4 Business Management and Support 28 

Figure 5 Staffing Model for Shared Home Improvement Agency Function  31 

 

P
age 90



EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
EXECUTIVE - 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT AND COUNCIL SUPPORT        
 

 PROPOSED USE OF DIRECTIONS TO RESTRICT PERMITTED 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS IN CONSERVATION AREAS         

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED:  Potentially all wards with conservation  

    areas 
       

 
Purpose/Summary of Report    

 
 To enable the Executive to consider the principle of introducing 

Directions restricting permitted development (commonly referred to 
as Article 4 Directions) relating to permitted development rights in 
conservation areas.    

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE: That  
 

(A) 
 
 
 

the Head of Planning and Building Control, in 
consultation with the Executive Member for 
Development Management and Council Support and 
local Ward Members as appropriate, be authorised to 
introduce an immediate trial Article 4 Direction; and 

(B) a report on the trial, as authorised, be brought back to 
the Executive to enable decisions to be made with 
regard to any future Article 4 Directions. 

 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1 Members will be aware that the Council is carrying out a review of 

 its 42 conservation areas.  In undertaking this review it appears to 
Officers that there are many examples of harm to the special 
interest, character and appearance of the Conservation Areas 
occurring through the unfettered exercise by individual owners of 
‘Permitted Development rights’.   

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



1.2 Permitted Development (PD) rights stem from The Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)  
Order  2015 and allow householders to carry out many types of 
development, including an extensive range  of minor works and 
alterations to dwellings, without obtaining planning permission.  
With a few exceptions, these works are also allowed within 
Conservation Areas (Identified in the Order as ‘Article 2 (3) land’).   
 

1.3 In recognition of the potential harm PD rights can have to local 
character, the government allows Councils to withdraw PD rights 
through the making of a Direction under Article 4 of the same 
Order (an Article 4 Direction).  Once introduced, an Article 4 
Direction would require owners wishing to undertake such minor 
works to first obtain planning permission.  As such, Article 4 
Directions are important tools in controlling these works and 
enabling Councils to carry out their statutory duty in the exercise of 
their planning powers, namely to give special attention ‘to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that (Conservation) area’.  
 

1.4 Most of the Conservation Area Character Appraisals and 
Management Proposal documents completed to date advise that 
Article 4 Directions should be made.  The Character Appraisals 
and Management Proposals (including the proposed Article 4 
Directions) have each been the subject of public consultation 
within the relevant area.  This aspect of the proposals has 
generated little, if any, resistance.  It is now recommended that 
action is taken to commence implementation of Article 4 Directions 
subject to the agreement of the Executive, on a trial basis. 

 
1.5 A more detailed assessment of the harm caused by individual 

Permitted Development rights and the schedules and classes of 
work that might be withdrawn is included in Essential Reference 
Paper B. 
 

2.0 Proposals  
 
2.1 It is proposed that, in accordance with the Conservation Area 

Management plans adopted by the Council to date, any Article 4 
Direction is selective – in that it will apply to a selected range of 
properties and withdraw a selected range of PD rights.  This is 
opposed to a blanket approach, where a Direction is cast widely 
and all residential PD rights removed.  

Page 92



 
2.2 A Direction can be made to take effect immediately (where they 

relate to the withdrawal of, amongst other matters, householder PD 
rights), with a consequent period of consultation, or be introduced 
after the consultative process.  It is recommended that the 
immediate introduction route is followed (once the Council has 
decided that it wishes to proceed) as this avoids the problem of 
certain owners ‘jumping the gun’ and implementing harmful change 
before a Direction is implemented. This does not mean that owners 
would not be consulted.  A consultation exercise would still be 
undertaken, the results of which would be reviewed.  However, the 
Order would be put in place prior to the consultation 
commencement.  If, following the consultation, it is determined that 
the Direction is not appropriate, it can be withdrawn. 

 
2.3 If it is determined that the Direction should remain, then it has to be 

confirmed within 6 months.   Owners and residents will then be 
notified that the Article 4 Direction has been made permanent. 
 

2.4 It is still necessary to review Article 4 directions periodically, to 
ensure that they remain relevant and are effective. It is proposed 
that this would be undertaken as part of further review and 
assessment of the character of the Conservation Areas in the 
future.  
 

2.5 It is proposed then that a trial approach be taken to the introduction 
of Directions.  The trial would involve the introduction of a single 
immediate Direction followed by the appropriate consultation.  The 
action will accord with any appropriate statutory requirements or 
guidance.  Feedback to this would be assessed, along with the 
number of additional planning applications and enforcement 
workload it generated for the six month period following 
introduction.  A decision would then be made with regard to 
making the Direction permanent and proceeding with other 
Directions.  

 
2.6 It is proposed that the Head of Planning and Building Control, in 

consultation with the Executive Member for Development 
Management and Council Support and the appropriate local Ward 
Members, select the location of the trial Direction, its extent and 
PD rights it would withdraw. 

 
2.7 The outcome of this trial process would be reported back to the 

Page 93



executive along with recommendations with regard to how to 
proceed in the future.  This may include, in due course, a 
recommendation that any future decisions in relation to Article 4 
matters be delegated to the Development Management committee. 

 
3.0 Implications and resources 
 
3.1 Article 4 Directions would become a local Land Charge. 

  
3.2 Article 4 Directions have some resource implications in relation to 

staff time and income.  If a property owner wants to undertake 
works for which PD rights have been removed, they are required to 
apply for planning permission.  There is no fee payable for such an 
application, therefore no income to the Council, however, it is 
necessary to undertake the normal processing, consideration and 
determination of that application.  
 

3.3 In relation to adjoining Uttlesford, where six such Directions have 
been served, the advice from that authority is that such impact has 
been 'minimal, not really noticed'.  Similarly, in the LB of Enfield, 
which introduced comprehensive Article 4 directions across all its 
conservation areas in 2006- 2008, the impact on officer time was 
found to be minimal.  This may be because owners, realising that 
harmful change would not be allowed, do not proceed with 
applications, but instead either repair and better maintain the 
existing property features or put forward proposals more likely to 
be acceptable.    

 
3.4 Some unauthorised works must be anticipated.  This may result in 

the creation of workload for the enforcement function.   
 

3.5 Lastly, there is a risk of potential compensation claims from the 
immediate introduction of Directions.  The potential for this arises 
when planning permission is refused, following the Direction, for a 
development that would otherwise be PD.  Any claim has to be 
based on the difference between the capital value of the property 
with permission compared with the value resulting from the refusal.  
Aggrieved owners must be able to demonstrate actual loss, which 
given the enhanced property values generated by well-preserved 
conservation areas, is considered to be highly unlikely.   
 

3.6 Neither Uttlesford nor Enfield have had any claims for 
compensation from any of their Directions.  Indeed, nationally, 

Page 94



while there are very many Article 4 directions in place, only one 
instance of compensation has ever succeeded, related to the value 
of a parking space in St John’s Wood, London.  Any claims would 
be time limited to a 12 month period from the effective date of the 
Direction.  

 
4.0 Implications/Consultations   
 
4.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 

with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper A.  
 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
  

Contact Member:  Councillor Suzanne Rutland-Barsby – Executive 
   Member for Development Management and  
   Council Support  

    suzanne.rutland-barsby@eastherts.gov.uk 
    
Contact Officer:  Kevin Steptoe – Head of Planning and Building 

   Control, Ext 1407  
kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 95

mailto:suzanne.rutland-barsby@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 
 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives  

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities  
 
Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives  
 
Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy  

 

Consultation: Community consultation to date has been undertaken as 
set out in the report. Further consultation/ notification will 
take place.  
 

Legal: The introduction of Article 4 Directions as proposed is 
available under legislation and is a course of action 
undertaken by a number of other Councils to protect their 
important built environments.   
 

Financial: Costs associated with the preparation of the pilot Article 
4 Direction will be met from within existing staffing and 
operational budgets.  
There will be some ongoing financial implications 
because such applications are fee exempt. They are 
anticipated to be modest based on the experiences of 
neighbouring authorities.  
The proposed pilot exercise will properly assess this 
issue.  
 

Human 
Resource: 

No significant impact 
 

Risk 
Management: 

There are potential issues of compensation but these are 
anticipated to be rare as identified by the neighbouring 
example set out in the report. In any event a pilot study is 
proposed to further assess this issue. 
 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 
 

This action seeks to ensure that the character and 
integrity of these areas of the district are retained 

 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER B 
 
Features in Conservation Areas that are important to retain commonly 
include varied roof lines in traditional materials with prominent chimneys, 
traditional windows and doors, walls, railings and boundaries and other 
architectural detailing. Whilst such features on non-listed commercial 
properties such as shops are protected by existing controls there is an 
extensive range of PD rights relating to dwelling houses that can be 
undertaken without obtaining permission. 
 
Illustrations showing potential harm of permitted development rights in conservation 
areas. 

 

 
 
Picture 1. Before  

 

Page 99



 
 
Picture 2.  Potentially after  
 
Pictures 1 and 2. Stylised illustration showing the impact that the exercise of PD rights can 
have in a conservation area. These can only be controlled by the introduction of an Article 4 
Direction.  (Reproduced from Planning Jungle website - being number 8 (excessive front 
alterations) on their selected 10 worst PD loopholes in Part 1 of the General Permitted 
Development Order).   

 
 
Types of permitted development allowed within conservation areas for 
consideration under an Article 4 Direction with a brief commentary.  
  
1.1 Picture 3 below illustrates a typical residential urban street scene in 
the District and shows those features on late 19th/early 20th century 
non-listed dwelling houses that make a positive visual contribution and 
which are worthy of protection. These include roofing materials and 
chimneys, windows and porches and architectural detailing which could 
be removed, altered or added under householder PD rights.  
 

Page 100



 
 
Picture 3.  This photograph illustrates the various and generally unspoilt architectural detailing 
to the front elevations of dwelling houses within a street in the Bishop's Stortford 
Conservation Area. 

 

1.2  Part 1 of Schedule 2 Class A. The enlargement, improvement or 
other alteration of a dwelling house.  
The most damaging visual effects noted have been the alteration of 
historic windows and doors. This is most destructive when different 
modern types are installed on individual terrace houses. Protection of 
other selected architectural features such as historic decorative barge 
boarding is also justified. Picture 4 illustrates a non-listed terrace where 
different window and door types lack co-ordination. Compare this with 
Picture 5. The latter is of similar age but not local to EHDC area and is 
listed. Nevertheless it illustrates the visual benefits of a co-ordinated 
solution where original features are retained. Picture 6 shows another 
terrace in the District where the impact of modern replacement windows 
has been reduced by application of a common design solution. Article 4 
Direction controls are likely to be enacted in respect of these PD rights. 
 
 

Page 101



 
 
Picture 4.  Various window and door types are uncoordinated on this terrace in the District. 

 

 
 
Picture 5.  Co-ordination and visual integrity achieved by retaining original detailing. The 
successful character of historic terraces in part depends on simple repetitive detailing, 
including doors. Individual expression of ownership can be provided by painting doors 
different colours. (Not located in EHDC area). 

Page 102



 

 
 
Picture 6.  Windows, whilst being modern replacements, achieve a degree of architectural 
rhythm and unity because they are of similar design.  
 

1.3 Part 1 of Schedule 2 Class C. Any other alterations to the roof of a 
dwelling house.  This includes works such as re-roofing or the 
installation of roof lights.  
Roof extensions such as dormer windows already require planning 
permission. However re-roofing does not and the retention of traditional 
tile or slate materials is highly important in the District's Conservation 
Areas. The insertion of roof lights is generally Permitted Development, 
but they can detract from the character and appearance of a 
conservation area. Picture 7 illustrates an example of a pair of semi 
detached houses with different roofing materials that appear 
uncoordinated.  Article 4 Direction controls are likely to be enacted in 
respect of these PD rights. 
 

Page 103



 
 
Picture 7.  Different roof materials and roof lights that constitute Permitted Development and 
which harm the conservation area’s special interest.  

 

1.4 Part 1 of Schedule 2 Class D. Erection of a porch.  
Officers have noted a number of examples where the erection of new 
porches have resulted in visually disruptive elevations, most apparent 
when different designs, shapes, and sizes have been erected together 
on a single terrace.  Picture 8 shows, inter alia, several different porch 
types.  Article 4 Direction controls are likely to be enacted in respect of 
this PD right. 
 
  

Page 104



 
 
Picture 8. This picture illustrates several elements of inappropriate development on a street in 
the District. (a) Satellite dishes on a chimney or roof on the front elevation should be 
controlled by grant of permission; (b) various window types (frequently permitted 
development); (c) various porch types (permitted development subject to size); (d) chimneys 
with numbers of pots missing and (e) off-street parking - visually intrusive and, as illustrated 
here, no crossovers, and a danger in forcing pedestrians, the disabled and pushchairs into the 
road. 

 

1.5 Part 1 of Schedule 2 Class E. Provision of buildings and other 
development on land within the curtilage of a house.   
This allows for the provision within the curtilage of a dwelling house any 
building or enclosure, swimming or other pools incidental to the 
enjoyment of the house and oil and petroleum gas storage tanks.  This 
PD right does not extend to the front or sides of dwellings, but can cause 
harm where the dwelling forms a corner plot or its rear garden is visible 
from the public realm.  It may, therefore, in specific circumstances, be 
appropriate to include it within an Article 4 Direction. 
 
 

Page 105



1.6 Part 1 of Schedule 2 Class F.  The provision within the curtilage of a 
house of a hard standing. 
Bishop’s Stortford Town Council has drawn attention to the destruction 
of gardens.  Where such front gardens make an important contribution to 
the character and appearance of the conservation area, their loss should 
be controlled.  Their contribution tends to be most obvious in urban or 
suburban areas, where they contrast attractively with the hard metaled 
surrounds.  There are many examples in Newtown where off-street 
parking has been appropriated in an uncontrolled and visually disruptive 
manner.   Sometimes the distance between the house and boundary is 
insufficient to provide sufficient parking (see Picture 8 above).  A once 
attractive array of front gardens can become, instead, a row of 
transverse cars, parked on poor quality hard-standings.   
 
Notwithstanding the difficulties encountered by owners of parking on 
streets laid out long before the motor car, this is a harmful development.  
It may, therefore, in specific circumstances, be appropriate to include it 
within an Article 4 Direction.  (This control can also be indirectly 
available through the requirement to obtain planning permission for the 
demolition of boundary walls).  
 
1.7 Part 1 of Schedule 2 Class G. Installation, alteration, or replacement 
of a chimney.  
Chimney stacks and pots are a key component in the roofscapes of 
nearly all conservation areas and their retention is highly important. 
Fortunately most remain and to ensure this continues selective A4 
control is likely to be enacted in respect of these PD rights. 
 
1.8 Part 1 of Schedule 2 Class H. Installation, alteration, or replacement 
of satellite dishes and other antennae.  
In conservation areas satellite dishes need permission to be installed on 
a chimney, wall or roof slope facing onto and visible from a highway. 
Thus a key control relating to the most important locations in 
conservation areas is already available but there is a question mark as 
to compliance with the legislation. This PD right has recently been 
extended to include other types of antenna and consideration will be 
given to the addition of this class in any future Article 4 directions. 
 
 

Page 106



 
 
Picture 9. A typical grouping of 19

th
 century 2 storey dwellings with decorative and highly 

visible chimneys. Chimneys are a most important component of the high quality of many of 
the district's conservation areas. 

 

1.9 Part 11 of Schedule 2 Class B and Part 2 of Schedule 2 Class A. 
Respectively (a) the demolition of gates, fences and walls and railings or 
(b) their erection or construction and (importantly) their alteration.  
There are many such features that contribute to the character and 
appearance of conservation areas which the character appraisals have 
identified. Such walls and boundaries vary in character and function and 
most are in good condition. Some are subject to Listed Building control 
whose demolition and alteration is already controlled by this legislation. 
Most of the remainder which are not listed exceed the prescribed heights 
relevant to their locations (being 1m to frontages and 2m elsewhere) 
where total or substantial demolition is controlled by the need to obtain 
planning permission in a conservation area. However, a few lie below 
these prescribed heights have thus been identified as candidates for 
Article 4 protection. Following case law, partial demolition is considered 
to be alteration and could only be controlled by a Direction withdrawing 
PD rights relating to alteration. Thus introduction of such an A4 control is 
likely to be enacted in this regard. 
  
 

Page 107



 
 
Picture 10. The demolition of a wall less than 1 m in height abutting a highway in a 
conservation area is not protected. Several such walls have been identified as candidates for 
Article 4 protection. Such walls below prescribed heights are in a minority.    

 

 
 
Picture 11. Walls and railings vary in type and function. Most in conservation areas exceed 
prescribed heights set out in legislation and are thus protected from total or substantial 
demolition.  

 

Page 108



 
 
Picture 12.  Good quality unlisted boundary wall and railings. Substantial demolition would 
require planning permission but alteration or partial demolition such as the removal of gates 
could only be controlled via the introduction of an Article 4 Direction restricting alteration.   

 

 
 
Picture 13.  One example of a fine unlisted wall which is now included within an extended 
conservation area which protects it from total or substantial demolition. Partial demolition 
however is generally held to be alteration, which can only be controlled by Article 4 Direction.  

 

Page 109



1.10 Part 14 of Schedule 2.  Renewable Energy. The installation of 
domestic solar panels etc.  
Subject to conditions these can be installed on roofs in a conservation 
area but not on walls. Their impact could result in significant visual 
damage. Government advice is that there should be particularly strong 
justification for the withdrawal of PD rights for such equipment although 
it is noted that other nearby authorities, mindful of the potential harm to 
the character and appearance of its conservation areas, have introduced 
such controls.  The importance of using traditional clay tiles and slate for 
roofs is noted above under 2.3, and it would negate that effort if they 
were then to be covered with PV or solar panels.  Nevertheless, officers 
would seek to negotiate reasonable and practical solutions that also 
avoided harm to the conservation area.  Modern equipment can function 
efficiently on non-south facing slopes and it would be appropriate for 
such equipment to be installed on rear or slopes not visible from the 
public realm.  This would ensure a balance between the desire for 
renewable energy and that of protecting conservation areas from harm.  
c 
 

 
 
Picture 14. The impact of solar panels. This example is not in EHDC area where, to date, the impact of 
such equipment is limited.  Controlling such installations so that where permitted they are at the rear of 
dwellings would protect the District’s conservation areas.    

 

 
 

Page 110



EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
EXECUTIVE - 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT AND COUNCIL SUPPORT        
 

 HERTINGFORDBURY CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL  
AND MANAGEMENT PLAN              

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED:  HERTFORD CASTLE  
 
Purpose/Summary of Report    

 

 To enable Members to consider the Hertingfordbury 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 
following further public consultation and 
reconsideration. 

   
 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE: That Council 
 

(A) note the responses to the further public consultation 
and support the Officer responses and proposed 
changes to the Hertingfordbury Conservation Area 
Appraisal and Management Plan;  
 

(B) delegate authority to the Head of Planning and 
Building Control, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Development Management and Council 
Support, to make any further minor and consequential 
changes to the  document which may be necessary; 
and 
 

(C) support for adoption of the Hertingfordbury 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan. 
 

 
 
1.0 Background.   
 
1.1  East Herts has a rich environmental heritage which includes 

42 Conservation Areas. The East Herts Local Plan commits 

Page 111

Agenda Item 9



the Council to review its Conservation Areas, a requirement 
which is also set out in national legislation. 

   
1.2 The review of Hertingfordbury Conservation Area is one of a 

series of reviews being undertaken. 
  
1.3    Each document identifies the special character of the 

respective Conservation Area together with the elements 
that should be retained or enhanced and those which 
detract from the identified character. Existing boundaries 
are reviewed and, where appropriate, practical 
enhancement proposals are suggested.  

 
1.4 Once Members have considered each document and it has 

been adopted by the Council, it becomes a ‘material 
consideration’ in the process of determining planning 
applications. 

 
2.0  The Hertingfordbury Conservation Area Appraisal and 

Management Plan. 
 
2.1 The Hertingfordbury Conservation Area was designated in 

1968 and reviewed/redesignated in 1981. The first 
appraisal document was completed in 2013 and went 
through a period of public consultation October/December 
2013. A public meeting was held on 24 October 2013 at 
which about 25 persons attended.  

 
2.2.   This was considered by Members at their Executive 

meeting on 4 February 2014 whose committee broadly 
supported the proposals including the principle issue of 
boundary revisions which were opposed by the Town 
Council and Amenity Society.  

 
2.3 However at that time there was an outstanding 

representation relating to Epcombs and principally 
associated with No. 214 Hertingfordbury Road and whether 
or not this property was legally considered to be within in 
the listed curtilage of Epcombs. Officers have now obtained 
an independent legal opinion which supports the objector’s 
view that it should not be considered to form part of the 
listing.   

  

Page 112



2.4 The time lapse in obtaining this opinion combined with other 
factors, including awaiting the outcome of an appeal 
elsewhere in Hertingfordbury, has delayed processing this 
appraisal to adoption.  

 
2.5   The same objector also had a further concern relating to 

land being identified as a locally important Historic Park and 
Garden. Officers undertook additional work and with advice 
from the Hertfordshire Gardens Trust produced a brief 
report that was presented to the owner later in February 
2014.  This concluded that the garden to the south of 
Epcombs was properly identified as such.  

 
2.6 Elsewhere the main recommendation was a significant 

amendment to the conservation area boundary, involving 
removing a number of modern properties off St Mary’s 
Lane. This proposal is still considered appropriate. 

 
2.7   Because of the significant time lapse, a re-consultation with 

the affected residential properties has recently been 
undertaken and was for a three week period 19 May – 9 
June 2016. The Town Council and local Amenity Society 
(who originally objected) were so advised of the process.  

 
2.8 With the passage of time a number of other environment 

improvements (some identified by the appraisal) and 
changes have occurred in the village and these require 
further minor alterations to the document.  Finesse to the 
text and mapping makes it clear that the north wall of 
Stonyfields remains within the conservation area. 

 
3.0 Consultation Feedback in relation to the 2016 second 

period of consultation May 19- 9 June 2016) 
 
3.1 A summary of comments received through the consultation 

process and officer responses are set out in the table 
included as Essential Reference Paper B. Of the eleven 
residential houses involved responses were received from 
two within the time period. One was broadly in favour whilst 
another representation expressed concern regarding a 
reduction ‘in planning controls on tree work’. Such concerns 
can be overcome by making selected trees subject to a 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO).  

Page 113



 
3.2.  Other relevant feedback and consideration: This relates to 

No. 214 Hertingfordbury Road. The opinion obtained on 
behalf of the Council from Robert Jameson of Attwoods 
Jameson Hill Solicitors concludes that ‘214 Hertingfordbury 
Road should not therefore, in my opinion, be regarded as a 
curtilage Listed building to the property Epcombs…   
Therefore amendments need to be made – particular 
reference new paragraph 6.21. The objector has been 
advised and no further response has been received.   

 
3.3.  Conclusion:  It is considered the original recommendation to 

remove areas principally consisting of 20th century housing 
to the west of St Mary’s Lane and south of Cole Green Way 
remains appropriate. This housing lacks any overall 
coordinated layout and design and cannot be described as 
having special architectural or historic interest. However it is 
accepted that selected trees are worthy of retention and 
that a detailed survey be undertaken and selected tree 
specimens be made subject to a TPO. It is also concluded 
that No. 214 Hertingfordbury Road should not be regarded 
as curtilage listed but that the designation of part of 
Epcombs garden is properly identified as a locally important 
Park and Garden.   

 

3.4  Essential Reference Paper C is a copy of the 
Hertingfordbury Conservation Appraisal and Management 
Plan as it appeared at the earlier consultation draft stage 
with subsequent track changes to text and alterations to 
plans that incorporate any necessary changes. Further 
minor changes will be incorporated reflecting the status of 
the final document once Members have considered it for 
adoption.   

 

3.5 Implications/Consultations.  Information on any corporate 
issues and consultation associated with this report can be 
found within Essential Reference Paper A.   

 
 
Background Papers 
 

1. Representations received from the 2016 consultation 
exercise.  

Page 114



2. Documents associated with the outstanding representation 
referred to by Members at their Executive of 4 February 2014 
as needing resolution being:  

 Legal opinion and accompanying correspondence dated 18 
February 2016 relating to No.214 Hertingfordbury Road.  

 Officer paper (February 2014) regarding Epcombs status as 
a Locally Important Historic park and Garden. 

 
 
Contact Member: Councillor S Rutland-Barsby, Executive 

Member for Development Management and 
Council Support 

     suzanne.rutland-barsby@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

Contact Officer: Kevin Steptoe – Head of Planning and 
Building Control, ext 1407  

    kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
Report Author   John Bosworth – Assistant Conservation 
    Officer   
    john.bosworth@eastherts.gov.uk    

Page 115

mailto:suzanne.rutland-barsby@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:john.bosworth@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 

 
IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 

 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives : 

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities.  
 
Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives.  
 
 

Consultation: Undertaken with residents and local stakeholders and 
summarised in Essential Reference Paper B. 
 

Legal: Preparation of the Appraisal fulfils statutory 
requirements.  
  

Financial: Costs associated with the preparation of the Appraisal 
are met from within existing staffing and operational 
budgets.  
 
The Appraisal suggests works and actions which could 
be undertaken to enhance the character and appearance 
of the Conservation Area and remove detracting 
elements which would generally be the responsibility of 
individual owners. Actions such as the possible 
introduction of an Article 4 Direction might result in 
additional cost. The Council is not yet committed to 
undertaking such further action in Hertingfordbury and 
such costs can be further assessed should such a 
decision be reached.  
 

Human 
Resource: 

 No additional staffing implications. 
 

Risk 
Management: 

 No significant risk issues. 

Health and 
Wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 

The Appraisal seeks to protect and secure the character 
of the area. 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper B 
 
These representations relate to the second ‘mini consultation’ of a three week 
period May/June 2016.   
 
Issue. Representations made. Officer comment.  

Proposed 
exclusion of 
residential 
properties to the 
west of St Mary’s 
Lane and south of 
Cole Green Way. 

Two representations have 
been received within the 
consultation period.  
 
 
On representation is ‘broadly 
supportive’. 
 
The other representation is 
concerned that the removal of 
the need to notify the Council 
in relation to tree work is ‘a 
worrying development’ and 
concludes ‘We would not like 
to see a reduction in planning 
controls on tree work’.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For information another  
representation advising ‘we 
would be pleased if our house 
is taken out of the 
conservation area as we need 
to increase the living space 
and this will give us more 
scope’ …was received before 
the consultation period began.  

 
 
 
 
 
Noted. 
 
 
There is a duty to review 
conservation areas and in this case 
the view has been formed that these 
areas of 20th century detached 
housing of varying design are not of 
special architectural or historic 
interest.  
 
Conservation area designation 
provides limited protection for trees 
and requires an owner to notify the 
Council of any works to them.  On 
receiving such notification and should 
the Council object to the proposed 
works, it can make a Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) within a six 
week period. Removing the areas 
from the conservation area means 
this control no longer exists.  
 
It is acknowledged the areas do 
contain a number of mature trees of 
quality whose retention could be 
secured by making them subject to a 
TPO, ideally before adoption of the 
appraisal document.    
 
Discussions have commenced 
between officers and owner. 

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 

HERTINGFORDBURY CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL AND 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 
DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 2013 

 
REVISED AND UPDATED 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cover photo in final document to be replaced by alternative one of church 
 
 

 
 
East Herts District Council 
Pegs Lane, Hertford, SG13 8EQ 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER C

Page 121



 2 

 
CONTENTS 

 
 
 

       Paragraphs    Pages 
 
1. Introduction      1.1- 1.12   3-5 
     
2.  Legal and Policy framework   2.1- 2.18   5-9 
  
3.  Origins and historic development  3.1- 3.15   9-13 
 
4.  EnvironmentalG Designations and criteria    
     used to identify other Iimportant  
     environmental fFeatures    4.1- 4.11   13-16 
 
5.  General Character and Setting 
     of Hertingfordbury Conservation Area 5.1- 5.5   16 
 
6. Detailed Character Analysis   6.1- 6.6)1   17-44 
 
 General overview    6.1    15 
  
7. Management Proposals    7.1-7.17   45-49 
 
 EHDC Contact details   7.3    45 
 
 Schedule of Enhancement  
 Proposals     7.17    48-49 
 
Plan 1 Existing Conservation Area on historic map dating from 1874 
 
Plan 2 Character Analysis 
 
Plan 3 Management Plan  
 
Note track changes may have resulted in inaccurate page numbering that 
will be rectified in adopted document

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 122



 3 

This Appraisal has been produced by Officers of East Hertfordshire District 
Council to assess the current condition of the Hertingfordbury 
Conservation Area, to identify where improvements can be made and to 
advise of any boundary changes that are appropriate.  
 
 
The original document is in draft form wasand will be subject to public 
consultation in late 2013. and agreement by District Council Members.  
but was not formally adopted following Members preliminary consideration 
at that time. However as outstanding issues have now been resolved it is 
proposed to conclude the process and present a revised document for 
consideration. The original 2013 document suggested areas of modern 
development be excluded from the Conservation Area which this revised 
document retains. With the passage of time it has been decided to advise 
those properties affected by the proposed boundary revisions and take any 
further representations into account.   
 
The document has been revised to incorporate the outstanding issues. It 
has also been updated in other respects to reflect physical changes that 
have occurred in the intervening period and other selected changes to 
legislation etc. that have occurred. 
 
 
Revisions/updates are in RED. Any accompanying necessary changes have 
also been made to the plans. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION. 
 
1.1. The historic environment cannot be replaced and is a resource that is 
both fragile and finite.  Particularly in an age when society and its needs 
change with rapidity, the various historic and architectural elements of 
Conservation Areas can be perceived to interact in a complex manner and 
create a ‘unique sense of place’ that is appreciated by those lucky enough 
to reside in such special places and by the many interested persons who 
appreciate and visit them.  
 
1.2. East Hertfordshire District has a particularly rich and vibrant built 
heritage, featuring 42 Conservation Areas and approximately 4,000 fine 
listed buildings displaying a variety of styles representative of the best of 
architectural and historic designs from many centuries. Generally and very 
importantly the clear distinction between built form and open countryside 
has been maintained.  
 
1.3. The District is situated in an economically buoyant region where an 
attractive environment, employment opportunities and excellent transport 
links, road, rail and air, make it a popular destination to live and work.  In 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 123



 4 

addition to London a short commuting distance away, the District is 
influenced by other factors beyond its administrative area, such as 
Stansted Airport and the towns of Harlow and Stevenage.  With such 
dynamics it is inevitable that the historic environment will be subject to 
pressures which emphasize the need to protect it.   
 
1.4. The East Hertfordshire Local Plan Second Review, adopted in April 
2007, recognises these facts and commits the Council to review its 
Conservation Areas and their boundaries.  The production of this 
document is part of this process.   
 
1.5. Conservation Areas are environments which are considered worthy of 
protection as a result of a combination of factors such as the quality of 
design and setting of the buildings or their historic significance. In addition 
to the individual qualities of the buildings themselves, there are other 
factors such as the relationships of the buildings with each other, the 
quality of the spaces between them and the vistas and views that unite or 
disrupt them. The relationship with adjoining areas and landscape, the 
quality of trees, boundary treatments, advertisements, road signage, street 
furniture and hard surfaces, are also important features which can add to 
or detract from the Conservation Area.  
 
1.6. This Appraisal recognises the importance of these factors and will 
consider them carefully. Once approved this document will be regarded as 
a ‘material consideration’ when determining planning applications. The 
document also puts forward simple and practical management proposals 
that improve the character of the Conservation Area which are capable of 
being implemented as and when resources permit.   
 
1.7. The recommendations concerning non-listed buildings and structures 
are normally formed by the field workers observations made from the 
public realm and seldom involve internal inspection or an assessment of 
their structural condition. Therefore recommendations contained in this 
Appraisal might be subject to reconsideration through the planning 
application process, where that is necessary, and which would involve the 
submission of additional information. Similar considerations may apply to 
estimating dates of buildings.   
 
 
1.8. This Conservation Appraisal will:  
 

 Identify the special character of Hertingfordbury; 
 Identify elements that should be retained or enhanced; 
 Identify detracting elements; 
 Review the existing boundary; 
 Put forward practical enhancement proposals; 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 124



 5 

 
1.9. The Conservation Area lies within the Hertford urban area where there 
is a very wide spectrum of facilities and organizations.  
 
1.10. The document will be prepared in partnership with the TownParish 
Council and the local community through the consultation process.  
 
1.11. Acknowledgement and thanks are recorded to Hertfordshire County 
Council who’s Natural Historic and Built Environment Unit has been 
particularly helpful. 
   
1.12. This Appraisal is written in three parts: Part A - Legal and Policy 
Framework. Part B - Appraisal; Part C - Management Proposals. 

 
 

PART A - LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORK  
 
2. LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORK.  

 
2.1. The legal background for designating a Conservation Area is set out in 
Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990. This states that the Council shall from time to time designate 
Conservation Areas, which are defined as being ‘areas of special 
architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is 
desirable to conserve or enhance’. The same section of the Act also 
requires that Councils undertake periodic reviews.  

  
2.2. Section 71 of the Act requires Councils to ‘formulate and publish 
proposals for the preservation and enhancement’ of Conservation Areas 
and hold a public meeting to consider them.  
 
2.3. Within Conservation Areas there are additional planning controls and if 
these are to be supported it is important that the designated area accords 
with the statutory definition and is not devalued by including land or 
buildings that lack special interest.  
 
2.4. Planning permission is required for the demolition of a building in a 
Conservation Area but is subject to certain exceptions. For example, it 
does not apply to Listed Buildings which are protected by their own 
legislation but is relevant to other non listed buildings in the Conservation 
Area above a threshold size set out in legislation.* Looking for and 
assessing such buildings is therefore a priority of this Appraisal. 
 
 * The demolition of a building not exceeding 50 cubic metres is not development and can be demolished without 
planning permission. Demolition of other buildings below 115 cubic metres are regarded as 'Permitted 
Development' granted by the General Permitted Development Order, subject to conditions that may require the 
Council's  'prior approval' regarding methods of proposed demolition and restoration.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 125



 6 

2.5. Certain ecclesiastical buildings (which are for the time being used for 
ecclesiastical purposes) are not subject to local authority administration 
provided an equivalent approved system of control is operated by the 
church authority. This is known as the ‘ecclesiastical exemption’. 
Importantly in such circumstances, church authorities still need to obtain 
any other necessary planning permissions under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  
 

2.6. The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development 
Order)1995 (as amended)2015, defines the range of minor developments for 
which planning permission is not required and this range is more restricted 
in Conservation Areas. For example the Order currently requires that the 
addition of dormer windows to roof slopes, various types of cladding, 
satellite dishes fronting a highway and a reduced size of extensions, all 
require planning permission in a Conservation Area. 
 
2.7. However, even within Conservation Areas there are many other minor 
developments that do not require planning permission. So as to provide 
further protection the law allows Councils’ to introduce additional controls 
if appropriate. Examples of such controls can commonly include some 
developments fronting a highway or open space, such as an external 
porch, the painting of a house or the demolition of some gates, fences or 
walls. The removal of important architectural features that are important to 
the character or appearance of a Conservation Area or individual buildings 
within it such as chimneys, traditional detailing or materials, distinctive 
porches, windows and doors or walls or railings to some non-listed 
properties can be subject to a more detailed assessment and if appropriate 
made subject to protection by a legal process known as an ‘Article 4 
Direction’ which withdraws ‘Permitted Development Rights’. The use of 
such Directions needs to be can only be made in justified circumstances 
andwhere  a clear assessment of each Conservation Area has been 
made.considerably assists in this respect.  In conducting this Appraisal, 
consideration will be given as to whether or not such additional controls 
are necessary. 
 
2.8. Works to Trees. Another additional planning control relates to trees 
located within Conservation Areas. Setting aside various exceptions 
principally relating to sizeand condition, any proposal to fell or carry out 
works to trees has to be ‘notified’ to the Council. within 6 weeks of the 
works.  The Council may then decide whether to make the tree/s subject to 
a Tree Preservation Order.  This Appraisal diagrammatically identifies only 
the most significant trees or groups of trees that make a particularly 
important contribution to the character of the Conservation Area.  Other 
trees not specifically identified may still be suitable for statutory 
protection. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 126



 7 

2.9. Some hedges may be protected by the Hedgerow Regulations 1997.  
This legislation is extremely complicated and only applies in certain 
situations that are determined by the location of the hedge, its age and or 
its historical importance, the wildlife it supports and its number of woody 
species. The Regulations do not apply to domestic garden hedges. 

 
2.10. National Planning Policy Framework. Published in March 2012, this 
document replaces previous advice, including PPS 5, Planning for the 
Historic Environment. The principle emphasis of the new framework is to 
promote sustainable development. Economic, social and environmental 
roles should not be considered in isolation because they are mutually 
dependent and positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural 
and historic environment should be sought, including replacing poor 
design with better design. Whilst architectural styles should not be 
imposed it is considered proper to reinforce local distinctiveness.  

 
2.11. Of particular relevance to this document the new National Planning 
Policy Framework advises as follows:  

 

 There should be a positive strategy in the Local Plan for the 
conservation of the historic environment and up-to-date evidence used 
to assess the significance of heritage assets and the contribution they 
make.  

 

 Conservation Areas. Such areas must justify such a status virtue of 
being of ‘special architectural or historic interest’. 

 

 Heritage assets. A Heritage asset is defined as ‘a building, monument, 
site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of 
its heritage interest. Heritage asset (sic) includes designated heritage 
assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including 
local listings)’. 

 

  Considerable weight should be given to conserving such heritage 
assets and the more important they are the greater the weight. For 
example the effect of an application affecting a non- designated heritage 
asset should be taken into account and a balanced judgment reached. 
Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II Listed Building should be 
exceptional whilst harm to heritage assets of higher status, e.g. a grade 
I or II* Listed Building should be wholly exceptional. 

 

 Local Planning Authorities should look for opportunities for new 
development within Conservation Areas to enhance or better reveal 
their significance and proposals that preserve such elements should be 
approved.     

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 127



 8 

 

 The use of Article 4 Directions to remove national permitted 
development rights should be limited to situations ‘where this is 
necessary to protect local amenity or the well being of the area…’   

 

 

 Green Areas. Such areas of particular importance can properly be 
identified for special protection as Local Green Spaces in selected 
situations. 

 
2.12. East Hertfordshire’s environmental initiatives and Local Plan Policies.  
East Hertfordshire is committed to protecting Conservation Areas and 
implementing policies which preserve and enhance them; to support their 
preservation through the publication of design and technical advice and to 
be pro-active by offering grants and administering an Historic Buildings 
Grant Service. With regard to the latter grants are awarded on a first come 
first served basis in relation to listed buildings and other unlisted buildings 
of architectural or historic interest. The maximum grant will not normally 
exceed £1,000.Details are available on the Council’s web site. 

 
2.13. In respect of the above the Council has produced a number of leaflets 
and guidance notes that are available on line and on request.   Further 
details are provided in Appendix 1. These guidance notes on the 
preservation and repair of historic materials and buildings provide useful 
information relevant to the preservation and enhancement of conservation 
areas. They will be updated as resources permit.  

 
2.14. The Council also has a ‘BuildingsHeritage  at Risk Register’, produced 
in 2006 and updated in 2012/13 and 2016. This document is available on the 
Council’s web site. In relation to Hertingfordbury’s Conservation Area there 
is one structure entered on the Register as being ‘At Risk’, namely the 
Sedilia in St Mary’s churchyard Grant assistance not exceeding £10,000 
may be available for works that lead to such a structure’s long term 
security.  

 
2.15. The East Herts Local Plan was adopted by the Council in 2007.  The 
‘saved’ policies set out in the plan remain in force and are relevant in 
relation to Conservation Area and Historic Building considerations.  The 
Local Plan and its policies can be viewed on the Councils website or a 
copy can be obtained from the Council (contact details are set out in 
section 7).   

 
2. 16. In accordance with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, the Council is in the process of preparing a planning 
policy document which will replace the 2007 Local Plan. This will be known 
as the East Herts District Plan (DP).  Once adopted, the DP will contain the 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 128



 9 

relevant Council planning policies. As currently drafted this emerging 
District Plan advises that development in conservation areas should, inter 
alia, confirm with the content of the Appraisals. 

 
2.17. EHDC has produced several documents as Supplementary Planning 
Guidance. The Supplementary Planning Document ‘Historic Parks and 
Gardens’ produced in 2007 identifies several parks and gardens in the 
Hertingfordbury area. Panshanger Park north of the A414 and beyond the 
Conservation area is designated Grade II* and Cole Green House that was 
demolished in the mid 20th century was built for William Cowper who died 
in 1723. There are other Locally Important Historic Parks and Gardens. 
These are Hertingfordbury Park, to the east of St Mary’s church described 
in the above document as being ‘one of the earliest recorded deer parks in 
this area dating from 1285.  Another is Cole Green Park, described as ‘a 
deer park dating from 1749 worked on by Capability Brown’ and yet another 
at Roxford Grotto Wood, the site of Roxford Manor owned by the Quaker 
Brassey family. The one relevant to this document is within the 
Conservation Area at Epcombs and is described as being ‘formal gardens 
between the house and river that appear on the Dury and Andrews map of 
1766…’1 

 
2.18. The Conservation Area was first designated in 1968 and reconsidered 
in 1981. 

 
 

3. ORIGINS AND HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT.  
 
3.1. There is some evidence of early settlement as Paleolithic 
(Old Stone Age) implements have been found. Notable is a hand axe made 
of porphyry found in a pit close to a small tributary of the River Mimram 
just beyond the Conservation Area boundary to the west of the White 
Horse Hotel. 
 
3.2. Some have considered a Roman route from Welwyn Garden City to the 
Ermine Street may have passed nearby but this has not been confirmed by 
excavation and is considered ‘doubtful’ by the County Archeologist.  
 
3.3. At the time of the Domesday Survey the manorial estate is called 
Herefordingberie meaning ‘stronghold of the people of Hertford’ but how 
this should properly be interpreted is unclear. The site of the property 
known as Epcombs (existing property dating from the 17th century) is 
recorded in Domesday Book thus ‘a priest holds 1/2hide of the kings 
alms…1 plough: 1mill at 12d’.  

  

                                                 
1
 East Herts District Council, Historic Parks and Gardens: Supplementary Planning Document, September 

2007, page 31.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 129



 10 

3.4. A leaflet entitled ‘St Mary with St. John, Hertingfordbury, A Short 
Introduction’ advises that during the 1950’s, a plague pit was discovered at 
the north west corner of the churchyard. This discovery was made when 
tombstones were relocated alongside the boundary wall.  

    
3.5. Much of historic Hertingfordbury that is visible today dates from the 
17th century (approximately 26% of all Listed Buildings are from this period) 
and from the 18th and 19th centuries (approximately 22% each). All other 
centuries from 13th to 16th and 20th centuries are represented.   

 
3.6. Additional building of quality took place in the 19th century and such 
buildings are identified later in this Appraisal. Further development took 
place in the mid 20th century principally by a concentration of modern 
properties set in large grounds to the west of St Mary’s Lane and also on St 
Mary’s lane, south of the former railway line. 

 
3.7. Several families of historic importance who influenced the settlement 
are buried in the church and its graveyard. Robert Addis who opened a 
toothbrush factory in Hertford after WW1, lived at The Old Rectory; 
Epcombs is accredited as being the inspiration and model for ‘Longbourn’ 
home of the Bennett Family in Jane Austin’s ‘Pride and Prejudice’ whilst 
Garth House was residence of Spencer Frederick Gore the artist ( 1879-
1914) whose works appear in Galleries in the United Kingdom and abroad.  

 
3.8. In more detail, mapping dating from 1874 shows the main street much 
as today’s alignment with an Infant’s School in the centre of the village 
(now no. 261 Hertingfordbury Road). At this time there was an extensive 
area of allotment gardens on land to the west of 260-274 Hertingfordbury 
Road that is now Mayflower Close. This was in addition to the large area of 
allotments south of the same road that still exists. The Hertford Branch 
Line together with its station crossed St Mary’s Lane to the south where 
the railway bridge still exists together with Station House, now a residence. 
The area south of the railway line was principally woodland, named Corner 
Wood. On this site and nearby, six 20th century detached properties of 
limited historical or architectural importance have been built in the 20th 
century. A greenhouse of commercial size once existed on the car park to 
the Prince of Wales PH. A Corn Mill was operational where Hertingfordbury 
Road crosses the River Mimram and other records shown that no. 228 
opposite was built in the early 19th century as the Miller’s House. At this 
time a building existed in the south west corner of the graveyard.  

 
3.9. Kelly’s Post Office Directory of 1874 describes the settlement as 
follows: Hertingfordbury is a parish between the rivers Mimram, or Maran, 
and Lea …Here is a station on the Hertford and Welwyn branch on the 
Great Northern Railway… The church of St Mary’s is an ancient 
edifice…level with the chancel on the north side is a mausoleum of Earl 

Page 130



 11 

Cowper’s family, containing monuments of beautiful design and 
workmanship… Several charities are noted, one of which financially 
supported apprenticing boys and girls.  

   
3.10. In addition to the several farmers Kelly’s list at this time, the following 
trades are entered: builder, beer retailers, boot and shoe makers, 
shopkeepers, brick maker and coal merchant, seedsman, wheelwright, 
baker, tailor and draper and miller. Some of these were located elsewhere 
in the various Greens that make up the whole parish.  Its population in 1871 
was 828.  

 
3.11. Mapping from 1897 shows few changes, one difference being 
extensive gravel pits that had been established by this time south of the 
branch railway line. Significantly less tree cover than previously existed is 
shown on mapping of this date and cress beds existed on a tributary north 
of the River Mimram. The spelling of the house name ‘Epcombs’, was 
changed from the earlier map where it was identified as ‘Epscombe’. 

 
3.12. The mapping from 1920 showed that the extensive gravel pits had 
been worked out by this time, the commercial size greenhouse in the 
Prince of Wales PH had been demolished as had the building in the south 
west corner of the graveyard. St Joseph’s Lodge had been constructed and 
the former track to Hertingfordbury Park is shown as a properly defined 
access.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Picture 1 –To be replaced by photo of Little Manor courtesy Mr Crawley Garth 
House.  

 
 
3.13. Few changes occurred from examining the next available mapping 
which dates from 1938. A new building identified on the 1963 map as ‘The 
Rectory’ (now Glebe House) had been built south west of the sports ground 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 131



 12 

on St Mary’s Lane.  The map dating from 1963 shows that the railway line 
had been dismantled and that housing at Mayflower House, housing 
opposite the sports ground and housing south of the dismantled railway 
had been constructed by this time. Also a large nursery and greenhouses 
is shown to the west of no. 214 Hertingfordbury Road, now the approximate 
location of the A414 and roundabout access to Hertingfordbury. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Picture 2 –To be replaced by current  picture of Cole Green Way in final 
document.  

  
3.14. The Place Names of Hertfordshire published by Cambridge University 
Press refers to the following ancient names: Herefordingberie (1086), 
Hertfordingeberie (1220), Hertfordingesberi (1248), Herfordynggeberi (1309) 
Hartyngfordbury (1507), Hertingfordburi (1535); amongst others.  

 
3.15. The existing Conservation Area is shown on Plan 1, a map dating 
from 1874-1894. 

 
 

4. GENERALENVIRONMENTAL DESIGNATIONS AND CRITERIA USED TO 
IDENTIFY OTHER IMPORTANT ENVIRONMENTAL FEATURES.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 132



 13 

4.1. Scheduled Ancient Monuments. A National designation. There are no 
designated Scheduled Ancient Monuments in the Conservation Area.  
 
4.2. Areas of Archaeological Significance.  Designated locally by EHDC on 
advice from HCC.  Much of the Conservation Area is so designated. Not all 
archeological sites are of equal importance and the Council will decide a 
course of action that may vary from recording any remains prior to 
development or protecting it from development, when determining 
planning applications.    
 
4.3. Listed buildings. A National designation. Individually listed buildings 
have been identified, plotted and some are briefly described below.  Such 
abbreviated descriptions being based on the national Dept. of Culture 
Media and Sport’s list.  Full descriptions can be obtained on line at Historic 
England’s English Heritage’s website or Heritage Gateway website 
(www.heritagegateway.org.uk)  Listed Buildings are protected from 
unauthorised demolition, alteration or extension. Structures, including 
railings and walls, within the curtilages of listed buildings, if they are pre-
1948, are subject to the same controls as listed buildings.  
 
4.4. Non-listed buildings of quality and worthy of protection from 
demolition. Such other There are several non- listed buildings that make an 
important architectural or historic contribution to the Conservation Area 
and these have been separatelyare  identified by this Appraisal.. The basic 
questions asked in assessingidentifying such buildings/structures are:  
 

(a)  Is the non listed building/structure of sufficient architectural or 
historic interest whose general external form and appearance 
remains largely unaltered? 

 
(b)  Does the building contain a sufficient level of external original 

features and materials?  
 
(c)  Has the building retained its original scale without large 

inappropriate modern extensions that destroy the visual 
appearance, particularly in respect of the front elevation?  

 
(d) Is the building/ structure visually important in the street scene? 

 
4.5. Trees and Hedgerows.  There are a number of trees and hedgerows 
that particularly contribute to the quality of the Conservation Area. The 
basic criteria for identifying such important trees and hedgerows are:- 
 

(a)  They are in good condition;  
 
(b)  They are visible at least in part from public view points. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 133

http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/


 14 

 
(c)  They make a significant contribution to the street scene or 

other publicly accessible areas. 
 
4.6. Open land, open spaces or gaps of quality that contribute to the visual 
importance of the Conservation Area where development would be 
inappropriate have been identified. The basic question asked in identifying 
such areas is does the open space or gap form an important landscape 
feature contributing to the general spatial quality and visual importance of 
the Conservation Area? Private open spaces forming an important setting 
for an historic asset and unkempt spaces that have the potential to be 
enhanced are candidates for selection subject to complying with the 
principle question. 
 
4.7. Other distinctive features that make an important visual or historic 
contribution are noted and shown diagrammatically. In relation to walls and 
railings those above prescribed heights (1m fronting a highway including a 
footpath or bridleway, water course or open space or 2m elsewhere) are 
protected and require permission for their demolition).  
 
4.8. Reference has previously been made to the potential of introducing 
Article 4 Directions in justified circumstances and the criteria for their 
selection in relation to features associated with selected non listed 
properties is as follows:  
 

 In relation to chimneys, these need to be in good condition, 
contemporary with the age of the property, prominent in the street 
scene and complete with chimney pots. Exceptionally particularly 
important chimney stacks without pots may be selected. 

 
 

 In relation to selected windows, these need to be on front or side 
elevations, fronting and visible from the street/s, contemporary with the 
age of the property and where the majority of windows of respective 
elevations retain their original characteristics and have not been 
replaced by modern glazing units. 

 

 In relation to walls or railings in a Conservation Area, those selected 
need to be below the prescribed heights (those fronting a highway 
including a footpath or bridleway, water course or open space1m or 2m 
elsewhere require prior consentpermission  for their demolition), be 
prominent in the street scene and make a positive architectural or 
historic contribution to its visual appearance.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 134



 15 

 In relation to other features, these may include good quality 
architectural detailing to non-listed buildings, constructed of wood, 
metal or other materials.    

 

 It may also be appropriate to introduce Article 4 Directions to retain 
quality buildings below the prescribed 4 Directions to threshold where 
consent for demolition in Conservation Areas is not required.Permitted 
Development threshold.  

 
 
4.9. Features that detract or are in poor repair have been identified.  
 
4.10. Important views are identified. 

 
4.11. Conservation Area boundaries. In suggesting any revisions to the 
Conservation Area boundaries, principal consideration has been given as 
to whether or not the land or buildings in question form part of an area of 
special architectural or historic interest whose character or appearance 
should be conserved. The extent of the Conservation Area can include 
open land that has historical associations with the built form. This may 
particularly be the case if such open land is environmentally important and 
visually forms part of the Conservation Area’s setting and is distinct from 
open farmland. 

 
 

5. GENERAL CHARACTER AND SETTING OF HERTINGFORDBURY 
CONSERVATION AREA.  

 
5.1. In terms of its wider setting, the Landscape Character Assessment 
produced in 2007 as a Supplementary Planning Document describes the 
Cole Green and Hertingfordbury Settled Farmland as being ‘an unusual 
area in terms of the grouping of small settlements and the road network 
which reflects the area’s former parkland character… Any impact from the 
edge of Hertford is well screened by vegetation. Although the A414 is 
observable only at some points on the northern edge it has the effect of 
cutting this are off from the adjoining areas to the north and west’.   

 
5.2. The Conservation Area, the subject of this Appraisal, stretches from 
the southern boundary of the A414 to modern 20th century development 
south of the former railway line. The latter, now Cole Green Way, is 
extensively used as a walking, cycling and riding route. The historic 
Conservation Area is centred on Hertingfordbury Road that is linear in 
character and St Mary’s Lane that rises to St Mary’s church, a large 
ecclesiastical building that dominates the local scene.  
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 135



 16 

5.3. There are 27 separately Listed Buildings in Hertingfordbury 
Conservation Area, 2 of which are listed grade grade II*. The grade II* 
Listed Buildings are ‘Amores’ and St Mary’s Church.   

 
5.4. In relation to Listed Buildings, all centuries between the 13th - 20th 
centuries are represented. Approximately 7% date from the 16th century; 
26% date from the 17th century; 22% from the 18th century; 22% from the 
19th century and 11% from the 20th century. The latter include St Josephs 
Lodge, the Paget Memorial and garden gates at ‘Epcombs’.  

 
5.5. As set out below, this Appraisal identifies a small number of other 
buildings of historic interest and architectural quality that are not listed. 
These date from the 19th century and are an important historic and visual 
component of the Conservation Area that need to be protected. 

 
 

6. DETAILED CHARACTER ANALYSIS.  
 

6.1. General overview.  Most of the Listed Buildings are located on 
Hertingfordbury Road where the urban form on the eastern side of the road 
is tighter, as opposed to a more open character elsewhere.  Materials used 
include brick and render finishes with old red tile or slate roofs. Chimneys 
form an important feature of the Conservation Area in respect of both listed 
and some unlisted 19th century buildings. Walls play an important function 
in defining and enclosing the street scene in selected locations and 
elsewhere traditional railings define boundaries and add to the rural quality 
of the Conservation Area. Trees and hedges play an important role in 
adding to the high quality of the Conservation Area on its approach roads 
and in the centre at ‘Amores’ and within the churchyard. The Conservation 
Area includes expansive areas of open land, some being agricultural and 
other areas having parkland characteristics. The River Mimram adds to the 
visual diversity of the Conservation Area. There is a clear distinction 
between the high visual qualities of the historic core and those of the 
modern 20th century developments on St Mary’s Lane. In summary the 
historic core is of a sufficiently high calibre to warrant its designation as a 
Conservation Area but it is considered that its boundaries need amending 
to exclude some areas of modern development.  

 
6.2. Scheduled Ancient Monuments. There are none.  

 
6.3. Archeological sites.  Much of the Conservation Area is an Area of 
Archeological Significance. However this does not apply to open land 
adjacent to the western boundary, including most of the Allotment 
Gardens, most of the sports ground and some modern 20th century 
development alongoff St Mary’s Lane, and all including housing of a similar 
date, south of the former railway line.  The archeological data available 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 136



 17 

from Hertfordshire County Council frequently relates to information 
contained in the Listed Building descriptions.  

 
6.4. Individually Listed Buildings. A selection of these is described below 
and has been chosen to illustrate their wide variety. The descriptions 
provided are much abbreviated and based on English HeritageHistoric 
England’s official entries. 

 
6.5. ‘Amores’ – Grade II*.  Formerly known as ‘The Old Parsonage’. Two 
storey and attics. A number of internal features including an early 18th 
century straight flight stair, a closet with an 18th century 2-panel door, a 
drawing room with similarly dated paneling and moulded dado rail. 
Fireplace on west wall has flush hardwood, an Entrance Hall with  carved 
wood corbels, reputedly by Joseph Mayer of Oberammergau, who carved 
the bench ends in St Mary's Church. Amores was held by copyhold of the 
Manor or Hertingfordbury, held by the Duchy of Lancaster. The name 
derives from a tenant named 'at More', corrupted into John Amores in 1540. 
In 1560 it was held by William North who added the elaborate fireplaces and 
chimney to the north gable in 1563. The house was restored in 1959.  

 
6.6. St Joseph’s- Grade II.  Two storey lodge and gateway dating from the 
early 20th century, extended in the 1980s. Red brick with old tiled roofs with 
Dutch gables with stone copings. Brick chimneystack with 4 low octagonal 
shafted moulded brick flues. Jacobean style.  Front elevation has first floor 
3-light window with moulded brick mullions, iron casements with lattice 
leaded glazing. Gateway has substantial red brick, Flemish bond piers, with 
stone caps and ball finials, and elaborate scrollwork wrought-iron gates. 
The building forms an important part of the setting of St Mary's Church and 
Churchyard. 

 
6.7. Church of St Mary and St John- Grade II*.  Dates from 13th and 14th 
centuries. Restored in 1845 and 1890, virtually rebuilt on the latter 
occasion. Flint with sandstone dressings, clay tiled roof; the tower has 
copper covered setback spire ona 'Hertfordshire spike'. Chancel built 1891. 
19th century nave roof constructed of oak from the Panshanger estate. Tall 
15th century tower arch with attached octagonal columns. 19th century 
chancel arch. East window from 13th century. Cowper Chapel, 19th century. 
A 19th century raised altar area with altar rails in pink and red veined 
translucent marble. Below north window is a 2 seat sedilia in pink and 
white veined marble. The original sedilia was rebuilt in the churchyard (see 
below). Pulpit is in nave, green and pink alabaster. Pews have bench ends 
in Rococo style, carved in 1893 by Joseph Mayr of Oberammergau; the 
Cowper Chapel was built 1890-94 over the family vault in 13th century style 
and separated from the chancel by a wrought-iron screen with gates from 
1891. Principal memorial to Francis Thomas de Grey Cowper is life size 
recumbent effigy by Henry Poole 1909. An earlier church which preceded 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 137



 18 

the present one was built before 1400, and possibly connected with John of 
Gaunt. A small modern extension is of good design and appropriate in 
scale and use of materials.  

 
6.8. Sedilia, St Mary’s churchyard- Grade II. This sedilia. dating from the 
14th century was removed from the church during its restoration and 
rebuilding in 1891. In a decorated Gothic style with stone seats and 
recessed bays, it is now badly eroded. The structure is identified as being 
‘At Risk’ on East Herts BuildingsHeritage  at Risk Register. Careful 
restoration and consolidation is required and its long term protection from 
further erosion might involve returning it to the church interior or providing 
a proper shelter in its external location. Ongoing deterioration continues, 
which if remaining unresolved, will lead to its eventual destruction. 

 

 
 
Picture 43 – 14

th
 century grade II Sedilia removed from church during 19

th
 century 

‘restoration’, now in need of urgent repairs. Included on the Council’s BuildingsHeritage at 
Risk Register.  

 
6.9. Pauline Payne Whitney Paget Memorial in St Mary's Churchyard- 
Grade II. An early 20th century memorial to Pauline Payne Whitney 
Paget of Portland stone. Sculpture of Virgin Mary and Child, with the 
infant St John, below a canopy supported by 2 Tuscan Doric columns, 
frieze inscribed 'Pro patria'. Plinth of sculpture inscribed 'To the 
memory of Almeric Hugh Paget, first Baron Queenborough, 1861-1949'. 
Stepped forecourt to memorial defined with brick dwarf walls. Inset 
stone tablets records 'Pauline Payne Whitney Paget, daughter of 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 138



 19 

William Collins Whitney sometime secretary of the US Navy, 1874-
1916'. Inset into the limestone slab in front of the sculpture are lead 
figures of soldiers and sailors from the First World War.  The artist of 
this important memorial has not been traced. Selected repairs need to 
be undertaken, including the resetting and re-laying of 9 no.its 
forecourt slabs.  

 

 
  
Picture 54 – A fine early 20

th
 century memorial to Pauline Payne       

 Whitney Paget, in need of repair, listed grade II. 

 
6.10. Nathaniel Brassey Tomb in St Mary's Churchyard- Grade II. A 
chest tomb with sarcophagus, 1798 to Nathaniel Brassey. Of Portland 
stone being a chest tomb on stepped base, with corner pilasters and 
long panels inscribed, with tapered sarcophagus on claw feet and 
armorial bearings. Metal railing surround removed. Remove vegetation 
and undertake repairs as necessary.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 139



 20 

 
 
Picture 65 - Nathaniel Brassey tomb from 18

th
 century, listed grade II. 

 
6.11. Sarah Lady Cowper Tomb in St Mary's Churchyard – Grade II. 
Sarcophagus, 1719, to Lady Sarah Cowper. Grey marble on Portland 
stone stepped base sarcophagus with pedestal feet on paneled base, 
coved sides with inscribed tablets; low pyramidal cap. Lady Sarah 
Cowper, widow of William Cowper of Hertford Castle, was mother of 
William, first Earl Cowper, Lord Chancellor to George I. Remove 
vegetation, devise schedule of minor repairs and undertake works as 
necessary.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 140



 21 

 
 

Picture 76 - Sarah Lady Cowper tomb, listed grade II. 

 
6.12. The Old Rectory – Grade II, a former rectory, in landscaped park. 
17th with 18th and early 19th century extensions, altered in the 1930s. 
Yellow stock and red brick, timber framing with plaster and stucco, 
Welsh slated roofs.  Panelled entrance hall with Tudor arch with carved 
corbels representing Gog and Magog. Smoking Room has reproduction 
Jacobean oak panelling brought from Essendon Place. From 1929, the 
Old Rectory was the home of Robert Addis, who opened his toothbrush 
factory on the Ware Road in Hertford after the First World War. The 
house and gardens were embellished during the 1930s.  

 
6.13. ‘Epcombs’ and attached wall – Grade II. Small country house. 17th 
century, altered and extended 18th, 19th and early 20th centuries. Brick 
with timber-framed core. Hipped Welsh slated roofs behind parapets, 
red brick chimneystacks. At the core of the house is a 17th century hall 
with east and west cross wings. Red brick wall, with a garden door with 
recessed pilasters, moulded base, Portland stone caps, and a stone 
keyblock carved with the head of Medusa in a red rubbed brick flat 
arch. This wall also has circular openings, and niches for sculptures 
including a figure of a satyr. ‘Epcombs’ originated as a pre-Conquest 
farm. The gardens are identified in EHDC’s Historic Parks and Gardens 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 141



 22 

Supplementary Planning Guidance as being ‘locally important’. The 
house was reputedly the model for 'Longbourn', the home of the 
Bennett’s in Jane Austen's 'Pride and Prejudice'.  Garden gates are 
separately listed but these no longer exist in the description location. 
However the owner advised they may be in store on site. 
 

6.14. Hertingfordbury Corn Mill – Grade II.  Former corn mill, mid 19th 
century, altered early 20th century. Yellow-grey Cambridge brick with 
old tiled roofs with corbel band cornices and verges.  Hertingfordbury 
Mill was operational until 1933. 
 

6.15. The Moat House – Grade II. Dating from early 19th century with 
20th century alterations. Yellow stock brick, Welsh slated double roofs, 
yellow brick chimneys above parapeted gabled ends. The house was 
built as the Miller's House to nearby Corn Mill.  
 

6.16. No. 249 Hertingfordbury Road - Grade II.  Two storey house, 
formerly with ground floor shop.  Yellow gault brick with gabled old 
tiled roof. First floor has wood mullion and transom casement window, 
with terracotta shield above with date '1876' and Cowper crest.  
 

6.17. No.261 Hertingfordbury Road – Grade II. Formerly used as an 
Infants' school in the 19th century. Of 16th and 17th century origin with 
19th century alterations. Timber-framed and plastered with masonry 
lining. Old tiled roof, with central chimney.  
 

6.18. 279 Hertingfordbury Road – Grade II. A former beer house. Early 
19th century. Timber-framed and plastered, with masonry lining, ground 
floor part weather boarded, Welsh slated roof, brick chimneys. A very 
simple and unaltered vernacular building constructed at end of the 
timber-framed era.  
 
6.19. Important buildings within the curtilages of Listed Buildings.  
 
6.20. No. 214 Hertingfordbury Road. Having studied historic maps and the 
planning history of the building it is our opinion that no. 214 
Hertingfordbury Road is curtilage listed. Single storey painted brickwork 
with hipped slate roof; 3 no.chimneys, some original windows. Historically 
believed to be stabling associated with Epcombs.  Now converted to 
residential uses.  
 
6.210. Single storey outbuilding within curtilage of ‘Little Manor’. nNo. 
265 Hertingfordbury Road. Principally of brick construction and partly 
weather boarded with tiled roof.  
 
6.221. Other buildings that make an important architectural or historic 
contribution.  No. 214 Hertingfordbury Road. Single storey painted 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 142



 23 

brickwork with prominent hipped slate roof and chimneys. Now 
converted to residential use. Selected features are worthy of protection 
by Article 4 Direction subject to further consideration and notification.   
 
6.22. 11-15 St. Mary’s Lane; Group of 19th century cottages constructed 
in 2 phases of yellow stock brick with slate roofs and 2 no. prominent 
chimneys; some vertical sliding sash windows. Despite modern 
additions, these cottages are important and in the street scene. 
Selected features are worthy of protection by Article 4 Direction subject 
to further consideration and notification.   

 

 
 

Picture 87 - 11-15 St Mary’s Lane, 19
th

 century unlisted cottages that add 
architectural diversity to the street scene.  

 
 
6.23. No. 267 Hertingfordbury Road and nos. 1- 3 St. Mary’s Lane.  
Group of 19th century, 2 storey cottages constructed of brick with slate 
roofs. Brickwork to no. 267 is painted.  2 no. chimneys, one prominent 
with decorative pots. Particularly important former shop window and 
vertical sliding sash windows to upper storey of no.3. Some modern 
windows detract. Selected  features are worthy of protection by Article 
4 Direction subject to further consideration and notification. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, No underline

Formatted: Font: Bold, No underline

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 143



 24 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Picture 98 -  No. 267 Hertingfordbury Road and nos. 1- 3 St. Mary’s Lane.  
Unlisted buildings whose mass and selected architectural details contribute to 
the quality of the street scene. 

 
6.24. Mill Farm, Hertingfordbury Road. A tall 2 storey late 19th century 
house of yellow stock brick and tiled roof. Several quality chimneys 
and many original windows. Rubbed brick lintels and date plaque 1892. 
Selected  features are worthy of protection by Article 4 Direction 
subject to further consideration and notification.   

    
6.25. Prince of Wales PH. In a part tall and prominent 19th century building 
with slate roof with decorative ridge tiles, 3 no. prominent chimney stacks; 
vertical sliding sash windows and decorative horizontal banding. These 
features should be retained through existing planning controls. Appeals in 
relation to this site including the demolition of the building were dismissed 
by decision dated 3 March 2016. The Inspector notes that the buildings 
form, age and design is distinctly recognizable meriting a modest degree of 
significance which justifies its status as a non-designated heritage asset 
and that the building would also make a positive contribution to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area for similar reasons. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Page 144



 25 

 
 

Picture 109 – The Prince of Wales PH, a prominent unlisted property in a central 
location whose historic mass and scale and architectural details contribute to 

the street’s environmental qualities, a view supported through the appeal 
process..   

 
6.26. Nos. 240- 242 Hertingfordbury Road. These 2 storey 19th century 
cottages are set back from the road. Extensions and replacement windows 
detract. However their original tall and decorative chimney stacks 
contribute to the general quality of the area and are features worthy of 
protection by an Article 4 Direction subject to further consideration and 
notification. 
 
6.27. Nos. 260 – 274 Hertingfordbury Road. 19th century two storey 
yellow stock brick terrace with steeply pitched tile roof, double gables, 
dormers and series of prominent chimneys. Single storey outbuildings 
to the rear constructed of brick with principal roof tiled and lean to 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered, Indent: Left: 

1.59 cm

Page 145



 26 

roofs in slate. The historic and architectural quality of the main terrace 
has been eroded by replacement windows but its mass and chimney 
detailing remains important. The single storey outbuildings are also 
important, particularly from a historical perspective, and should be 
retained.  Selected  features are worthy of protection by Article 4 
Direction subject to further consideration and notification.   
 
 

 
 

Picture 110 - Nos. 260 – 274 Hertingfordbury Road, an unlisted 19
th

 century 
terrace who’s imposing mass contributes to the Conservation Area in this 

location.  

 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 146



 27 

 
 

Picture 121 - Outbuildings to nos. 260 - 274 Hertingfordbury Road, that should be 
retained; particularly  important from an historical perspective.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 147



 28 

6.28. Other distinctive features that make an important architectural or 
historic contribution.   Wall forming boundary to churchyard and 
Hertingfordbury Road. 1.2 m flint and brick wall with entrance gates, 
probably of late 19th/early 20th century date. Concrete capping slabs, 
some recently replaced in need of replacement. 
 

 
 

Picture 132 – Concrete capping slabs to church boundary wall. Picture 
retained as an historic record. These degraded capping slabs have now 

been replaced.  in need of replacement.  

  
6.29. Other monuments within the churchyard. The churchyard is large 
and contains many high quality monuments and tombstones dating 
from the 18th-20th centuries. Some that are individually listed, have been 
previously identified. There are others also of high quality and interest, 
including about 15 impressive chest tombs, many of which are in need 
of repair. Such repairs differ in complexity varying from significant to 
minor. If left unattended the situation will continue to deteriorate and 
the cost of remedial action will rise. A survey needs to be undertaken 
and remedial work carried out in a logical and on an incremental basis. 
The potential of securing external funding should be explored, 
including grant assistance from bodies like the Heritage Lottery Fund 
(HLF). Preliminary inquiries with HLF have indicated such a proposal 
could be acceptable particularly if it could be linked with community 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 148



 29 

benefit such as local school involvement and the provision of publicly 
available information. The churchyard is a very important open space 
and the range and quality of the monuments it contains is quite 
exceptional. 

 

 
 

Picture 143 – One of many fine chest tombs in the churchyard, this one 
being of stone and rubbed brick. 

 
6.30. Other structures in churchyard. Metal fence to graveyard on 
northern and eastern boundaries. Dates from late 19th/early 20th century 
and is in need of repair works.  Also steps to graveyard extension in 
need of modest repairs. 

 
6.31. Western boundary wall to ‘Epcombs’ . Protected both by its height 
and being within the curtilage of a Listed Building this wall of 
approximately 2m in height is prominent in the local street scene and 
significantly adds to the quality of the Conservation Area in this 
location.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 149



 30 

 
 
Picture 154 – Western boundary wall to ‘Epcombs’, a prominent and important 
feature, protected virtue of being within the curtilage of a Listed Building.   

 
 
6.32. Boundary wall to ‘The Hill’. This tall wall of approximately 4m 
provides a strong distinctive boundary to the western side of 
Hertingfordbury Road, effectively joining ‘The Hill’ with the ‘Prince of 
Wales’ PH.    
 
6.33. Metal fence frontingsurrounding Thames Water facility. Stout 
metal fence approximately 1.6m in height that adds to the quality of the 
Conservation Area in this location. Generally in good condition but in 
need of repainting. Northern side boundary fence is unprotected from 
removal without prior consent and should be retained. An Article 4 
Direction may be appropriate subject to further consideration and 
notification.  Northern side, metal fence, formerly of traditional design, 
has recently been replaced with a less satisfactory solution from an 
historical perspective..  

   

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 150



 31 

 
 

Picture 16 – Metal fence to side of Thames Water facility, worthy of retention and in 
need of repainting.  

 
6.34. Wall forming north boundary to ‘Stoneyf Field’. A yellow stock brick 
wall, probably 20th century, of various height averaging about 2m, 
protected in law from demolition without prior consent. The wall makes an 
important contribution to the street scene in this location. which is in 
contrast with the deteriorating fencing surrounding ‘Amores’ opposite.      

 
6.35. Metal estate fencing approximately 1m in height on access route 
to The Old Rectory. This long run of metal estate fencing dating from 
late 19th/early 20th century is prominent and important in its rural 
parkland setting and is worthy of retention. Its status in law needs 
assessing before considering whether or not  an Article 4 Direction 
may be appropriate.  

   

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 151



 32 

 
 

Picture 175 – 19
th

/20
th

 century metal estate fencing of quality that adds to the 
rural qualities of the Conservation Area in this location and which should be 

retained. 
 

6.36. Metal estate fence on school approach road to St Joseph’s in the 
Park school. Similar to fence described in paragraph above.  Partly 
within the Conservation Area. The long run extends beyond the 
Conservation Area to the school car park. The whole is generally in 
very poor condition and detrimental to the parkland setting. A practical 
solution could be to reuse any sections in reasonable condition but 
complete replacement might be the most practical outcome.  

 
6.37. Wall of bridge over River Mimram.  Small but distinctive wall 
approximately 1.2m in height with stone capping detailing; protected virtue 
of its height adjacent to a highway. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 152



 33 

 
 

Picture 186 – Simply designed bridge over the River Mimram. 

 
 

6.38. Pump to rear of Prince of Wales PH. 19th century pump broken and in 
need of repair.  

 

 
 

Picture 197 - 19
th

 century pump to rear of Prince of Wales PH in urgent need of restoration. 

 

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 153



 34 

6.39. Important open land, open spaces and gaps. There are several 
important open spaces of varying sizes, types and functions.  River 
Mimram -the river traverses the north of the Conservation Area and is 
particularly pleasing when seen from the public vantage point of the road 
bridge.  
 

 

 
 

Picture 2018 – The River Mimram makes a particularly valuable visual 
contribution to the Conservation Area.  

 

6.40. The open space to the front of Mimram House, Hertingfordbury Road. 
This open space with its small orchard of trees neatly cut and traditionally 
shaped, adds character and interest to this part of the Conservation Area. 
Further planting of traditional orchard trees would enhance the site. 

 
6.41. The churchyard. The historic and architectural importance of the 
churchyard has previously been referred to. The extensive open space with 
its traditional churchyard trees in the centre of Hertingfordbury is visually 
most important and extensively used and appreciated by local residents 
and visitors alike.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 154



 35 

 
 

Picture 219 – St Mary’s churchyard. This open space is of the highest quality in terms of 
its open space, ecology and quality tombs. This Appraisal recommends repairs be carried 

out to selected tombs, possibly in association with external funding. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 155



 36 

6.42. The Sports ground. This area to the south of the churchyard contains 
a cricket pitch and tennis courts whose tree lined boundaries enclose the 
open space. A combination of the cricket pitch, surrounded by trees with 
views of the church beyond, creates a traditional quintessentially English 
scene when viewed from the seating provided on the western boundary. 

 

 
 

Picture 220 – The sports ground, church spire and 20
th

 century listed lodge.   

 
6.43. Pasture land either side of St Mary’s Lane and to the south of the 
Sports Ground. This pleasant open pasture land enclosed by boundary 
trees is visually important when from glimpsed from the road and from the 
extensively used and elevated Cole Green Way. Pasture to the west of St. 
Mary’s Lane performs an important landscape function of providing a gap 
between two groups of 20th century development.  

 
6.44. Cole Green Way. This bridleway, formerly the railway line, is 
extensively used by walkers, cyclists and riders. It is in good condition and 
the track is flanked by trees. 

 
6.45. Garden to The Old Rectory.  The access road to The Old Rectory and 
other properties nearby is situated in open parkland countryside.  The 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 156



 37 

garden between The Old rRectory and the access track is visible from the 
approach and is particularly important to the setting of this Listed Building.  

 
 6.46. Two open spaces that are not included are the gardens at ‘Epcombs’ 
and ‘Amores’ because they are both hidden from view and thus do not 
visually contribute to the quality of the Conservation Area when seen from 
the public realm.      

 
6.47. Particularly important trees and hedgerows.  Principal trees and 
groups of trees and hedgerows visible from public vantage points are 
diagrammatically indicated. They are particularly important on all the 
approach roads to the Conservation Area and in its centre around the 
churchyard and ‘Amores’.  

 
6.48. Designated Wildlife sites.  The churchyard is so designated because 
of its moderately diverse neutral grassland supporting a range of fine 
grasses and herbs. Species recorded, some in abundance, include 
Common Knapweed, Lady’s Bedstraw, Burnet-saxifrage, Common Sorrel, 
Bird’s-foot Trefoil and Oxeye Daisy. Meadow Saxifrage has also been 
recorded. The diagrammatic symbol for the Wildlife Site on EHDC’s earlier 
Local Plan mapping needs amending to properly reflect its location.has 
been properly amended on the emerging District Plan mapping. 

 
6.49. Important views.  A selection is marked on the plans. Most important 
are those of the church but views along the river and across pasture land 
north of Cole Green Way and at The Old Rectory are also visually 
important. 

 
6.50. Elements that are out of character with the Conservation Area: A 
number of repair works that would result in improvements have already 
been identified, generally relating to monuments or other distinctive 
features. Other detracting elements are identified below and where 
appropriate a remedial course of action recommended. Implementing such 
improvements will only be possible with the respective owners’ co-
operation.   

 
6.51. Prince of Wales Car park.  This car park is an expansive area of 
tarmacadam enclosed by walls and fencing that detracts the appearance of 
the centre of the Conservation Area. It would benefit from comprehensive 
landscaping should the owner be interested in pursuing such a course of 
action.   
 
6.52. It is now further detracted by security fencing surrounding the site. As 
previously mentioned appeals relating to this site have recently been 
dismissed.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 157



 38 

 
 

Picture 23 - The car park to the Prince of Wales PH – its appearance could be 
improved by comprehensive landscaping. 

 
6.52. Fence around Amores. Amores is an important grade II* listed 
building and the many trees in its extensive grounds greatly contribute to 
the quality of the centre of the Conservation Area. Parts of the boundary 
fencing have recently been replaced, however other lengths remain in a 
deteriorating and unattractive condition. The west elevation to ‘Amores’ 
detracts in part and is in need of repainting. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 158



 39 

 
 

Picture 24 – Boundary fencing to ‘Amores’ that detracts from this important central 
location. 

 
6.532. Telephone kiosk on northern approach. This modern telephone call 
box is in poor condition with some elements missing including door and 
one elevation. Some graffiti is evident. It is suggested that BT contacted to 
ascertain its current use. If the view is taken that it should be retained then 
the necessary repair works need undertaking. If on the other hand it is 
considered redundant, the call box should be removed.   

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 159



 40 

 
 

Picture 251 – Modern telephone box that should either be repaired or removed. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 160



 41 

6.53.4 A highway directional sign to front of Garth House. This poor quality 
black and white arrow sign mounted on rusty iron supports detracts and 
needs replacing.  

 
6.554. Opportunities to secure improvements. Satisfactorily resolve There 
is potential for making improvements to the car parking area at the Prince 
of Wales PH site.; consider improvements to fencing surrounding 
‘Amores’. Approach owners of other boundary walls, fencing, historic 
pump near the Prince of Wales PH and highway directional sign as 
identified in the table as set out in the Management Proposals below with 
view of securing improvements. Discuss possibility of increasing orchard 
planting to front of Mimrams House. Discuss need for modern telephone 
kiosk at northern end of village and dependant on outcome, repair or 
remove it. Should the church authorities favour the idea, consider drawing 
up a prioritorised schedule of repairs for both monuments and boundary 
fencing and other repair work and enhancements in the churchyard and 
consider the potential of securing external funding; possibly with the 
Heritage Lottery Fund.  

 
6.55. The Allotment Gardens whilst being well used and productive consist 
of a variety of sheds, greenhouses and fencing that are often constructed 
from reclaimed materials and whose overall appearance is unattractive. On 
balance their  historical association with the village warrants retention 
within the Conservation Area. Discussion with the owners, Hertford Town 
Council, is taking place to consider any visual improvements.  Such 
improvements could include additional planting, removal of rubbish from a 
number of plots and aspiring to achieve incremental uniformity of 
replacement sheds and boundary fencing. 
 
 

 

 
 

Picture 22 – The allotment gardens are of historic interest. Whilst also being of great worth 
and community benefit, they do not positively contribute to the visual qualities of the area 

and discussions are taking place with the owners to consider improvements. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered, Indent: Left:  0

cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 161



 42 

 
6.566. Suggested boundary changes.  It is considered an area to the south 
and west comprising of the large detached dwellings to the west of St 
Mary’s Lane and to the south of Cole Green Way should be excluded.  The 
Allotment gardens, also to the west of St Marys Lane are to remain in the 
Conservation Area.  Whilst visually the gardens have a detrimental impact, 
there is an historical association with the village which warrants their 
retention within the Conservation Area. The wall forming the northern 
boundary to Stoneyfield previously noted as making an important 
contribution to the street scene remains within the conservation area. 

 
6.57. The Allotment Gardens whilst being well used and productive consist 
of a variety of sheds, greenhouses and fencing that are often constructed 
from reclaimed materials and whose overall appearance is unattractive.  
 

 

 
 

Picture 26 – The allotment gardens whilst being of great worth and community 
benefit, do not positively contribute to the visual qualities of the areaand 

discussions are in hand to consider if visual improvements can be made.  and 
are therefore proposed to be removed from the Conservation Area. 

 

6.587. The large detached houses to the west of St Mary’s Lane and to the 
south of Cole Green Way are set in generous plots often with fine mature 
trees. However the buildings themselves dating from the mid 20th century 
are not considered as being of special architectural or historic interest.  

 
6.598. It is therefore proposed to exclude these locationsdwellings from the 
Conservation Area and redraw the boundary. Should this proposal be 
agreed an option would be to undertake a tree survey should be 
undertaken with a view of protecting trees of appropriate quality by Tree 
Preservation Orders.  
 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 162



 43 

 
 

Picture 273 – An example of a pleasing modern 20
th

 century housing but one of 
insufficient architectural or historic importance south of Cole Green Way. The 

whole area is proposed to be excluded from the Conservation Area.  

 
6.6059. Other actions. Amend EHDC records and mapping in respect of the 
Brassey Memorial and the Wildlife Site and advise English HeritageHistoric 
England  of several mapping errors on their records (i.e. in respect of ‘St. 
Joseph’s Lodge’ and ‘The Hill’).  

 
6.610. Overall Summary.  The designation of Hertingfordbury’s 
Conservation Area is justified but should be amended to exclude 20th 
century housing development to the west of  St. Mary’s Lane and south of 
Cole Green Way. A Tree Preservation Order should be considered to 
provide  protection for selected tree specimens in this area. Several 
unlisted 19th century buildings and other features have been identified as 
being worthy of protection. The most important architectural and historical 
feature is the church whose churchyard contains many high quality tombs 
and monuments, some of which are in need of repair. In this respect a key 
recommendation of this document is that discussions take place with the 
church authorities to explore the potential of seeking external funding for 
their repair and enhancement.  

 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 163



 44 

 
 

PART C- MANAGEMENT PROPOSALS. 
 

7. MANAGEMENT PROPOSALS.    
 

7.1. Revised Conservation Area Boundary. The revised boundary is shown 
on Plans and includes proposes the following amendment:.  
 
Rreduce the Conservation Area to exclude 20th century properties to the 
west of St. Mary’s Lane and development to the south of Cole Green Way. 
(In association with this proposal, consider making unprotected trees 
worthy of protection, subject to Tree Preservation Orders).  

 
7.2. General Planning Control and Good Practice within the Conservation 
Area. All ‘saved’ planning policies are contained in the East Herts Local 
Plan Second Review adopted in April 2007. It is against this document and 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPP) that the District Council will 
process applications. The NPP is supplemented by Planning Practice 
Guidance. One such guidance note of particular relevance is ‘Conserving 
and Enhancing the Historic Environment’. In due course the 2007 Local 
Plan will be replaced by the District Plan whose policies will then be 
relevant.   

 
7.3. Applicants considering submitting any application should carefully 
consider the relevant policies and if necessary contact Council Officers to 
seek pre-application advice. For further details including advice on 
Planning Applications, Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, Landscaping, 
and other general administrative advice please contact the Planning 
Department for assistance.  

 
Telephone no.  01279 655261(For development proposals ask for 
Development Management. For general conservation advice ask for a 
Conservation Officer).   

  
E-mail          planning@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

Or write to Development Management, East Herts. District Council       
E.H.D.C. Wallfields, Pegs Lane, Hertford SG13 8EQ 

  
 

7.4. Applicants may also wish to refer to one of the several Guidance Notes 
previously referred to in Appendix 1 below.which will be updated as 
resources permit. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.59 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 164

mailto:planning@eastherts.gov.uk


 45 

7.5. Planning Control – Potential need to undertake an Archeological 
Evaluation. Within areas designated as being an Area of Archaeological 
Significance the contents of Policies BH1, BH2 and BH3 are particularly 
relevant.  

 
7.6. Listed Building Control and Good Practice. Those buildings that are 
individually listed are identified. Other pre-1948 buildings, structures or 
walls within the curtilage of a Listed Building are similarly protected in law.  

 
7.7. Listed Buildings are a significant factor in contributing to the quality of 
Hertingfordbury’s built environment. It is essential that their architectural 
detailing is not eroded nor their other qualities and settings compromised.  

 
7.8. The Appraisal has identified an individually listed structure as being ‘At 
Risk’, being the Sedilia in the churchyard. This important 14th century 
historic object is declining badly and restoration options alternatively 
involve returning it to the interior of the church or building a shelter to 
protect it in situ.  

 
7.9. Planning Control – Other Unlisted Buildings that make an Important 
Architectural or Historic Contribution. Within the Conservation Area there 
are 67 unlisted buildings/ groups of buildings that have been so identified. 
These are: No. 214 Hertingfordbury Road: Nos.11-15 St Mary’s Lane;  No. 
267 Hertingfordbury Road and Nos.1-3 St Mary’s Lane; Mill Farm; Prince of 
Wales PH in part; Nos. 240-242 Hertingfordbury Road and nNos. 260-274 
Hertingfordbury Road together with their outbuildings. Any proposal 
involving the demolition of these buildings is unlikely to be approved. 

 
7.10. Proposed Article 4 Directions. There are some distinctive features that 
are integral to some of the unlisted buildings identified above that make an 
important architectural or historic contribution which may include selected 
chimneys, windows and other architectural detailing.  In some situations 
protection may exist through existing planning controls but in other cases 
additional protection could only be provided by removing Permitted 
Development Rights via an Article 4 Direction. The latter legislation is 
complex. Should the Council consider such a course of action appropriate 
there would be a process of notifying the affected owners separately at a 
later date. This would be associated with further detailed consideration and 
possible refinement. 
 
7.11. Planning Control – Other Unlisted distinctive features that make an 
Important Architectural or Historic Contribution. This Appraisal has 
identified several walls and railings that make a particular contribution to 
the character of the Conservation Area.  Some of these are protected virtue 
of exceeding the specified heights relevant to Conservation Area or by 
Listed Building legislation. Any proposal involving the demolition of these 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 165



 46 

walls is also unlikely to be approved.  Others fences including the northern 
boundary to the Thames Water compound and fence alongside the access 
road to The Old Rectory may are not be protected where an Article 4 
Directions  may be appropriate subject to further consideration.   

 
7.12 Planning control – Wildlife Site within the Conservation Area. The 
wildlife importance of the churchyard has been set out above. Any 
proposals will be considered against Policies ENV 14 and ENV 16.  Any 
repairs to monuments will need to respect any wildlife considerations.  

 
7.13. Planning Control – Locally Important Historic Parks and gardens. 
EHDC Supplementary Planning Document ‘Historic Parks and Gardens’ has 
identified the gardens of ‘Epcombs’, within the Conservation Area, as being 
‘locally important’2. Proposals that significantly harm its special character 
will not normally be permitted and would require clear justification.  
Proposals will be considered against Policy BH16.  

 
7.14. Planning Control – Important open land, open spaces and gaps. This 
Appraisal has identified the following particularly important spaces: River 
Mimram; open space to the front of Mimram House; the churchyard; the 
sports ground; pasture land south and south west of the Sports Ground; 
Cole Green Way and garden to The Old Rectory. These represent open 
spaces gaps and other open landscape features within the Conservation 
Area that materially contribute to its character or appearance and will be 
protected. 

 
7.15. Planning Control – Particularly important trees and hedgerows. Only 
the most significant trees are shown diagrammatically. It has not been 
possible to plot trees on inaccessible land. Subject to certain exceptions all 
trees in a Conservation Area are afforded protection and a person wanting 
to carry out works has to notify the Council.  Trees that have not been 
identified may still be considered suitable for protection by Tree 
Preservation Orders. Owners are advised to make regular inspections to 
check the health of trees in the interests of amenity and Health and Safety.  
As previously advised some hedges may be protected by the Hedgerow 
Regulations 1997.  

 
7.16. Planning Control –Important views.  The most important views within 
and out of the Conservation area are diagrammatically shown. Policy BH6 
is particularly relevant.  

 
7.17. Enhancement Proposals. The Appraisal has identified a number of 
elements that detract that are summarized in the Table below together with 
a proposed course of action. Within the staff and financial resources 

                                                 
2
 East Herst District Council, Historic Parks and Gardens: Supplementary Planning Document, September 

2007, page 31.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Page 166



 47 

available, Council Officers will be pro-active and provide assistance. It 
must be recognized that such improvements will generally only be 
achieved with the owner’s co-operation.  

 

Detracting 
element 

Location  Proposed Action.  

Car park  Prince of Wales 
PH.  

Contact owner with view of 
discussing landscape 
improvements to this important 
central location.  Seek to achieve 
improvements and an appropriate 
planning solution.  

Selective length of 
boundary fence 
and west elevation 
of property. 

‘Amores’ and 
surrounding 
‘Amores’.  

Contact owner with view of 
discussing improvements. 

Highway 
directional sign  

To front of Garth 
House. 

Seek replacement.  

Modern telephone 
kiosk.   

Northern 
approach, 
Hertingfordbury 
Road. 

Contact BT and ParishTown 
Council to establish usage. If kiosk 
to be retained, repair it. Otherwise 
consider its removal.  

Eroded Sedilia – a 
listed structure ‘at 
risk’. 

Churchyard.  Establish church’s considerations. 
Consider restoration and 
consolidation in situ or returning 
structure to church interior. 
Highest priority.   

Other unlisted 
monuments/tombs 
in the churchyard 
in need of repair. 

St Mary's 
Churchyard. 

Discuss issue with church 
authority/owners. Identify 
monuments in need of repair, 
develop a schedule of restoration. 
Explore the potential for external 
grant aid including Heritage 
Lottery Funding for both listed and 
unlisted monuments. 

Church boundary 
wall.  

Fronting 
Hertingfordbury 
Road. 

Discuss replacement of selected 
capping slabs with church 
authority; possibly in association 
with external grant aid assistance 
should this course be pursued. 

Metal boundary 
fence and steps. 

Churchyard and 
access to 
churchyard 
extension.  

Undertake necessary repairs; 
possibly in association with 
external grant aid assistance 
should this course be pursued.  

Boundary fencing.   Thames Water 
site, 

Discuss with Thames Water, 
seeking to initiate necessary 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 167



 48 

Hertingfordbury 
Road.  

repainting. 

Boundary fencing. Approach road 
to St Joseph’s in 
the Park school. 

Discuss potential of repair/ 
replacement with owners.  

19th century pump.  Rear of Prince of 
Wales PH. 

Establish ownership and potential 
for repair and potential for 
subsequent listing if adequate 
repairs can be executed.  

Orchard area. To front of 
Mimrams House. 

Discuss possibility of additional 
orchard planting with owner. 

Other actions.  

Establish location/fate of separately listed gates at Epcombs and if 
appropriate seek their replacement in original location. 

Advise English Heritage that maps accompanying several listed building 
descriptions have locations wrongly plotted; e.g. St Josephs Lodge and 
The Hill.  

Amend EHDC mapping in relation to location of Brassey memorial on its 
information base.  

The symbol for the Wildlife Site on EHDC’s Local Plan mapping needs 
amending to properly reflect its proper location, i.e. St Mary’s churchyard. 

EHDC records show a Listed Building in the curtilage of The Moat House. 
This cannot be traced on initial search of English HeritageHistoric 
England’s records. The matter needs clarifying and any necessary 
changes to records made.   

Discuss potential of initiating visual improvements to Hertford TC 
allotment site.  

 
 
 
Appendix 1.  Guidance notes produced by East Hertfordshire District 
Council. The following represent useful technical information and can be 
obtained via the details provided above. 
 
1. Brick Repointing and Repair. 
 
2. Conservation Areas. 
 
3. Cleaning Historic Brickwork. 
 
4. Farm Buildings. 
 
5. Flint and Flint Wall Repair. 
 
6. Hard Landscaping in Historic Areas. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 168



 49 

7. Listed Buildings. 
 
8. Rainwater Goods and Lead. 
 
9. Shopfronts. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
EXECUTIVE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 
REPORT BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 REQUEST FOR AREA DESIGNATION FOR NEIGHBOURHOOD 
PLANNING: LITTLE HADHAM PARISH          

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED:   LITTLE HADHAM 
 

       
 
Purpose/Summary of Report 
 

 To enable the consideration of an application for the designation of 
a Neighbourhood Area 
 

RECOMMENDATION FOR EXECUTIVE: That: 

 

(A) the application for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area, submitted by Little Hadham Parish Council, be 
supported. 
 

 

1.0 Background  
 
1.1 Little Hadham Parish Council (PC) submitted an application for the 

designation of a Neighbourhood Area to the Council on 3rd June 
2016. Agreement to the designation of a Neighbourhood Area is 
required by the Council as Local Planning Authority (LPA) before a 
Neighbourhood Plan can be formulated.  

 
1.2 The application was made in the form of a letter from Little 

Hadham PC with an attached plan setting the area to which the 
application relates. The letter and plan form Essential Reference 
Paper ‘B’ to this report. 

 
2.0  Consultation 
 

Page 181

Agenda Item 10



2.1 The Council has undertaken the appropriate consultation with 
regard to the application submission. No comments have been 
received by the Council in response to the consultation.  

 
3.0  Considerations 
 
3.1 Two main areas of consideration to be taken into account when 

determining an application for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area are set out in Schedule 9 of the Localism Act 2011. One of 
these is that the authority determining the application must have 
regard to the desirability of maintaining the existing boundaries of 
neighbourhood plan areas already designated.  

 
3.2 No weight needs to be given to this consideration in this case as 

no other Neighbourhood Areas are currently designated in the 
Little Hadham parish area.  

 
3.3 The other area of consideration is the desirability of designating 

the whole of the area of a parish council as the Neighbourhood 
Area. 

 
3.4 In this case, the area proposed covers the entire parish area, a 

known and existing boundary which does not conflict with 
neighbouring parish boundaries.  

 
3.5 The area designation request has also been considered in relation 

to the emerging District Plan and there are no anticipated conflicts 
between the area designation and the emerging development 
strategy for the District. 

  
4.0 Conclusion 
 
4.1 Neighbourhood planning is now an integral part of the planning 

system with legislative backing through the Localism Act. The LPA 
is charged with determining applications for the designation of 
Neighbourhood Areas. In this case, designation of the whole of the 
parish area of Little Hadham for neighbourhood planning purposes 
is supported.   

 
5.0  Implications/Consultations  
 

Page 182



5.1  Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 
with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’.  

 
Background Papers  
None  
 
 
Contact Member:  Linda Haysey – Leader of the Council 
 linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk  

 
Contact Officer:  Kevin Steptoe – Head of Planning and Building 

Control 
 01992 531407 
 kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk  
 
Report Author:  Laura Pattison – Senior Planning Officer, 

Planning Policy  
laura.pattison@eastherts.gov.uk  

Page 183

mailto:linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:laura.pattison@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 
 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives : 

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy 

 

Consultation: The application for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area was the subject of a 4 week period of consultation. 
 

Legal: The formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan is established 
in the Localism Act 2011. 
  

Financial: The formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan, if it progresses 
to the stages of referenda and adoption will lead to costs 
for the Council. 
 

Human 
Resource: 

There will be a requirement for Planning Officers to 
provide advice and guidance in relation to the formulation 
of any Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

Risk 
Management: 

The issues which are favourable or otherwise to the 
formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan are considered in 
the report. 
 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 
 

The link between planning and health has long been 
established. The built and natural environments are 
major determinants of health and wellbeing.  

 
 

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



Little Hadham Parish Council 
 

Chair Parish Clerk 

Mrs Elizabeth Lloyd-Williams Mr Bev Evans 

Tomways Pryersfield 

Bury Green New Road 

Little Hadham Little Hadham 

Ware, Herts. Ware, Herts. 

SG11 2EY SG11 2AW 

Tel. 01279 508896  Mob. 07773 437551 Tel. 01279 842803 

Email lizlloydwilliams@gmail.com Email clerklittlehadham@gmail.com 

 

By email to: planningpolicy@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

Friday, 3 June 2016 

 

Dear Sir or Madam 

 

Re. Neighbourhood Plan Area Application - June 2016 

Localism Act 2011 (schedule 9) and Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (sections 61f 

& 61g)  

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

 

Little Hadham Parish Council, as a “relevant body”, hereby formally submits an application 

to East Hertfordshire District Council as the local planning authority, for the designation of a 

Neighbourhood Area pursuant to the preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan 

(NDP). 

Background 

Little Hadham Parish Council at its full Council meeting held on Tuesday 7
th

 June 2016 has 

resolved to instigate proceedings to establish a Neighbourhood Planning Group to lead on the 

formulation of a NDP for the Parish of Little Hadham. An application is hereby submitted 

under Regulation 5 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

The designation of the Neighbourhood Area is seen as the first formal step in the process of 

producing the NDP. Regulation 5 requires the submission of the following documents as part 

of the application: 

A. A map which identifies the area to which the application relates. 

B. A statement explaining why the area is appropriate to be designated as a 

Neighbourhood Area. 

C. A statement that the organisation or body making the area application is a relevant 

body for the purposes of section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended). 

A. Neighbourhood Area Map 

A map is attached showing the area to which this application relates. 

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER B

Page 187



 

B. Neighbourhood Area Statement 

The proposed area covers the administrative boundaries of Little Hadham Parish Council, and 

includes the villages and hamlets of Little Hadham [The Ashe], Hadham Ford [The Ford], 

Cradle End, Green Street, Bury Green, Hadham Hall, Church End, Westland Green and all of 

the surrounding areas within the Parish boundary. 

Schedule 9 of the Localism Act 2011, and Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, state that neighbourhood areas may not overlap. There are no known overlaps with 

other relevant bodies promoting other neighbourhood areas. 

In determining the application for designation, the local planning authority must have regard 

to the desirability of designating the whole of the area of a parish council as a neighbourhood 

and the desirability of maintaining the boundaries of already designated neighbourhood areas. 

C. Relevant Body 

This application for designation is submitted by Little Hadham Parish Council, which is 

considered to be a relevant body under the terms of Section 61G (2a) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 

For the reasons outlined above, the proposed neighbourhood area, as shown on the attached 

map, is considered to be appropriate and justified. Under Section 61G of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, Little Hadham Parish Council is considered to be a “relevant 

body” for the purposes of this application. The Parish Council therefore respectfully request 

East Hertfordshire District Council to process this application in accordance with Regulation 

6 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

B M Evans – Parish Clerk 

  

Page 188



Parish of Little Hadham 

 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
EXECUTIVE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 
REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE & SUPPORT 
SERVICES                
 

 FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN FROM 
2016/17 TO 2020/21               

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED:   All 
 

       
 
Purpose/Summary of Report 
 

 To consider revisions to the Financial Strategy for the years 2016/17 
to 2020/21. This includes the policy on reserves and the proposed 
planning assumptions to be used to update the Medium Term 
Financial Plan in preparation for annual budget setting. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR COUNCIL:  that: 
 

(A) Any revisions to the Medium Term Financial Plan from 
2016/17 to 2020/21 arising from Corporate Business Scrutiny 
be considered; 
 

(B) the proposed Financial Strategy be adopted; and 

(C) the planning assumptions set out in this report be adopted by 
the Council as the basis for framing the 2016/17 budget and 
Medium Term Financial Plan to 2020/21. 
 

 
 
1 Background 

 
1.1 This report sets the context for the future financial position for East 

Herts Council. The Financial Strategy is a statement on the Council’s 
approach to the management of its financial resources to meet its 
Corporate Priorities. The strategy also considers the appropriate level 
of reserves that the Council holds to mitigate current and longer term 
risks. 

1.2 Medium term financial planning must make assumptions about the 

Page 191

Agenda Item 11



 

future demand profile and cost pressures on expenditure and on 
factors that affect income sources. The Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) represents a summary of these assumptions and their impact 
on the funding of the council. 

1.3 The MTFP outlines the anticipated funding and expenditure each 
year and where there is a shortfall the MTFP highlights the amount of 
savings required that have not yet been identified.  

1.4 The MTFP sets the financial envelope within which the council must 
fund its activities in order to set a balanced budget in each of the next 
4 years. In order to begin the budget setting process for 2016/17 and 
beyond it is therefore prudent to revise the MTFP at the beginning of 
the Finance and Business Planning process. Throughout the summer 
and autumn services plans and budgets will be produced to deliver a 
balanced budget for 2016/17. In addition this process will allow the 
council to identify where savings may be achieved in future years and 
begin planning their delivery. 

1.5 One of the outcomes of the Finance and Business planning process 
will be the budget report presented to Council on 1 March 2017 for 
their approval. 

2  Report 
 
2.1 This report considers and outlines the underlying assumptions within 

the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). The report was 
rescheduled from the July round of meetings following the 
referendum vote to leave the European Union on 23 June 2016 to 
allow any immediate impact to be considered.  

2.2 There will be significant financial implications for the Public Sector as 
a whole however until the Government formally triggers Article 50 to 
start the 2 year period of negotiation with the EU the status quo is 
maintained. During this period the UK still retains the full rights and 
obligations as a full EU member state. 

2.3 There is uncertainty with regard to the future of projects and 
initiatives funded by the EU. In the short term the award of funding 
from the European Rural Development Programme for England 
(RDPE) administered by East Herts Council on behalf of the Local 
Action Group has been suspended. 

2.4 The impact on Local Government upon leaving the EU may have 
significant impacts on funding from Government, regulatory changes 
(e.g. procurement rules) and the impacts of changes to wider society 
and the economic environment. 

Page 192



 

2.5 There will be a continued assessment of the impact to the council as 
a result of the referendum vote to leave the EU and this will continue 
to feature in future updates to the MTFP. 

2.6 This report addresses key areas in the following sections: 

Report 
Section 

 

3 Funding Changes 

4 Financial Strategy 

5 Review of Reserves 

6 Underlying Assumptions 

7 MTFP Development 

8 
Budget Setting Risk 
Management 

 

3 Funding Changes 

3.1 The last version of the MTFP was reported to Council on 17 February 
2016. In revising the assumptions within the model a number of 
adjustments have been made to the sources of funding received by 
the Council. Where changes have been made these are outlined in 
the paragraphs that follow. 

3.2 Revenue Support Grant:  

3.2..1 In the 2016/17 Local Government finance settlement the allocation 
of Revenue Support Grant was £1.145m, a reduction of £0.912m 
(44%) compared to the 2015/16 allocation.  

3.2..2 This funding source is forecast to reduce to £0.351m in 2017/18 
reducing to zero from 2018/19 onwards. The Council will need to 
consider how to mitigate this by growing business rates and other 
income sources.  

3.3 Non Domestic Rate income (NDR):  

3.3..1 The 2016/17 NDR income estimate is £1.956m. 

3.3..2 The government has continued to apply a 2% cap on the increase 
to NDR bill demands (a.k.a. Business Rates Multiplier) in 2016/17. 
RPI inflation from Sept 2014 to Sept 2015 was 0.8% although the 
loss in business rate income will be offset by a corresponding 
increase in Section 31 grants. 

Page 193



 

3.3..3 There continues to be a high degree of risk in modelling the future 
income received under the NDR scheme. The Government 
announced in the Budget in March 2016 that consultation will 
begin in summer 2016 on the implementation of 100% business 
rates retention in 2019/20. A number of working groups have been 
set up by the LGA to facilitate this consultation work. 

3.3..4 It is anticipated that the implementation of 100% business rates 
retention will be accompanied by additional responsibilities and 
therefore an increase in the costs borne by Local Government. 
The details of these responsibilities are to be confirmed. 

3.3..5 In the light of the extreme uncertainty surrounding the 
implementation of 100% business rates retention the MTFP has 
included a forecast NDR income in 2020/21 based on current 
assumptions. Following the consultation period and the publication 
of the mechanisms within which the scheme will operate this 
forecast will be updated with the implications on NDR income 
levels and any increased costs passed to Local Government. 

3.3..6 In the meantime a number of changes will be implemented from 
April 2017. Small Business Relief will be doubled to 100% for 
properties with rateable values of £12k and under and be tapered 
for properties between £12k and £15k.The threshold for the 
Business Rates Multiplier will also increase to a rateable value of 
£51k reducing the number of businesses liable to pay the higher 
rate. 

3.4 Section 31 Grant: The estimated income for 2016/17 of £0.712m is 
the amount of grant owed to the Council arising from government 
policy decisions on rate reliefs.  

3.5 Collection Fund: The forecast deficit on the Collection Fund for 
2016/17 is £0.917m. This is due to the Council’s decision to fund 
NDR appeals. This forecast deficit will be funded from the Collection 
Fund Reserve which is earmarked to smooth the effect of NDR 
income volatility. 

3.6 Council Tax:  

3.6..1 The MTFP assumes that the Council Tax demand made by East 
Herts Council will increased in 2017/18 by 2.0% followed by 2.0% 
rises in each subsequent year until the end of the MTFP period in 
2020/21.  

3.6..2 The additional revenue generated by increasing Council Tax 
demands from 1.0% to 2.0% will be ring-fenced to contribute to the 

Page 194



 

Collection Fund Reserve to smooth out anticipated future 
fluctuations in NDR income in the transition to 100% business 
rates retention. 

3.6..3 District Councils may increase Council Tax by up to £5 on a Band 
D property (approx. 3.2% for East Herts Council). 

3.7 New Homes Bonus:  

3.7..1 The 2016/17 allocation of New Homes Bonus from the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) is £3.6m. This is 
made up of incremental allocations from 2011/12. This is 
illustrated in Chart 1 below. 

3.7..2 This source of funding represents a large proportion of East Herts 
Council income. Any change to the New Homes Bonus scheme is 
likely to have a significant impact on the funding of council 
services. Several options for reforming the New Homes Bonus 
have been consulted upon by DCLG in spring 2016.  

3.7..3 DCLG outlined their preferred options and the New Homes Bonus 
allocations in future years have been modelled on that basis. 

  

Page 195



 

Chart 1: New Homes Bonus Allocations and Forecast 

 

3.8 Investment interest:  

3.8..1 The forecast income generated from investments placed on behalf 
of the council in 2016/17 is £843k. This figure has been reduced 
by £24k since the last version of the MTFP. The Bank of England 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted to reduce the base rate 
by 0.25% to 0.25% on 4 Aug 2016. The recent history of the base 
rate is shown in Chart 2 below. 

  

Page 196



 

Chart 2: Bank of England Official Bank Rate 

 

3.8..2 The impact of this reduction is that income generated from short 
term investments is likely to fall. This shortfall can be funded from 
the Interest Equalisation Reserve should it be required.  

3.8..3 The long term investments in Property Funds continue to perform 
well following the referendum vote to leave the EU. There are two 
elements to these investments; the capital unit value and the 
revenue rental return. The capital unit value fell by an average of 
1.2% in July 2016 although the performance year to date is flat. 
The revenue rental returns do not appear to be adversely affected 
and are performing well. The continued performance of the 
Property Fund investments will continue to be closely monitored. 

4 Financial Strategy 

4.1 The current financial strategy is included in Essential Reference 
Paper D.  

4.2 The financial strategy and the MTFP have a 5 year focus and for the 
purposes of the strategy this remains sound. Strategic Finance 
officers will continue to model the impact of financial decisions and 
other scenarios that have an impact upon Council funding. 

4.3 Following the referendum to leave the EU there is a new Prime 
Minister, Chancellor of the Exchequer and a new ministerial team at 
the DCLG. The effect of a new Government being formed on the 

Page 197



 

future funding allocation to Local Government is unclear. There has 
been no emergency Budget and the next budget will follow the usual 
cycle in the autumn.  

4.4 The DCLG are continuing with their work on 100% NDR retention 
with a target implementation date of 1 April 2019 with no indication 
that this will be affected by the referendum vote. 

4.5 The continuation of the New Homes Bonus scheme in its current form 
is also uncertain. This source of funding will be revised following a 
consultation process the results of which are not yet known. The 
implementation of a revised scheme is expected from 1 April 2017.  

4.6 As the impact of these funding changes becomes clear these will be 
fed into the MTFP. 

4.7 There are other emerging issues that may have an impact on the 
MTFP including the development of devolution within Local 
Government. The impact on East Herts is not yet quantifiable but as 
these issues continue to develop and their impact can be measured 
they will be incorporated into the MTFP. 

5 Review of Reserves 

5.1 Reserves are either usable or unusable. Unusable reserves arise 
from statutory accounting transactions and cannot be used to fund 
revenue or capital expenditure. This report only considers the 
Council’s usable reserves. The Council’s Reserves Policy is included 
in Essential Reference Paper E. 

5.2 A review of reserves has been carried out as at 31 March 2016 and 
balances based on the draft final accounts are summarised in 
Essential Reference Paper E.  

5.3 At 31 March 2016 general reserves totalled £5.043m, a reduction of 
£0.124m during 2015/16. The general reserve balances are within 
the maximum level of reserves set out in Essential Reference Paper 
E. 

5.4 At 31 March 2016 earmarked reserves totalled £11.601m. Net 
transfers out of earmarked reserves during 2015/16 totalled £2.218m 
including transfers from general reserves. This included the following 
appropriations: 

 £1,068k Collection Fund deficit transferred from the 
Collection Fund Reserve to fund NDR appeals provisions. 

Page 198



 

This will smooth the effect of income volatility in NDR 
funding in future years. 

 £1,000k utilised to from the Pension Fund Additional 
Contribution Fund. 

 £380k utilised from the Transformation Fund to fund one-off 
investments in service improvement.  

 £265k utilised from the New Homes Bonus Priority Spend 
reserve including funding the Stamp Duty Land Tax costs 
associated with the purchase of the site on Old River Lane. 

 £771k transferred into the Commercial Property Fund to 
support the development of commercial investment 
opportunities. 

5.5 These reserve movements are summarised in the table below: 

 Balance at 
31 March 

2015 

Balance at 
31 March 

2016 

£m £m 

General Reserves 5.167 5.043 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

13.819 11.601 

Total Reserves 18.986 16.644 

 

6 Underlying Assumptions 

6.1 Essential Reference Paper C refers to the assumptions that have 
made in terms of inflation and other price increases during the 
medium term which have been incorporated within the MTFP. 

6.2 The MTFP model highlights that there are unidentified savings that 
will need to be delivered from 2017/18. The Finance and Business 
Planning process that is currently underway will ensure that these are 
fully met and a balanced budget is set. 

7  MTFP Development 

7.1 The MTFP model and assumptions will continue to be assessed and 
revised throughout the year with particular attention being paid to the 
announcements made the Local Government Settlement expected in 
December. 

7.2 The Council Tax base will continue to be monitored throughout the 
year. Any emerging increases or decreases in the tax base will be 
modelled and impact included in the MTFP. 

Page 199



 

7.3 The Finance and Business Planning process will identify future 
funding requirements and future savings required to deliver a 
balanced budget from 2017/18. This will include an assessment of 
historic trend patterns in order to reduce future underspends and 
ensure that resources are directed to reflect the priorities of the 
Council. Any growth or savings proposals that result from this 
process must be contained within the resources available to the 
Council as set out in the MTFP. 

7.4 The Investment Strategy will be revised to ensure that the return on 
investment achieved is optimised based on market expectations and 
performance. The MTFP will be updated to reflect the impact on the 
interest income received. 

7.5 Reserve balances will be monitored throughout the year to ensure 
that the general reserves remain within the limit set out in the 
Council’s Reserves Policy and that earmarked reserves are utilised 
appropriately. 

7.6 The next MTFP will be presented to members to adopt at Council on 
1 March 2017 including recommendations from Executive and 
Corporate Business Scrutiny. 

8 Budget Setting Risk Management 

8.1 There are a number of risks that should be considered in setting the 
budget for 2017/18. These are outlined in the table below: 

Risk 

Agreed savings for 2017/18 are not achieved resulting in 
overspends and budget shortfalls in future years. 

Fees and Charges do not generate the expected income 
in 2017/18 with knock-on effects in future years. 

The level of Council Tax for 2017/18 is reduced resulting 
in a funding shortfall. 

Government funding is reduced at a faster rate than 
expected and/or the New Homes Bonus Scheme is 
revised or ended following DCLG consultation. 

The assumed increases in Fees and Charges for 2017/18 
onwards are not agreed. 

Interest rates rise above 0.5% earlier than expected. 

Inflation rises faster than expected resulting in increasing 
costs. 

Investments do not generate the forecast return on 
investment. 

Page 200



 

Risk 

An unforeseen event occurs which requires significant 
financial resources. 

 

9 Implications/Conclusion 

9.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated with 
this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper A.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Budget Report to Executive; 2 February 2016. 
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=119&MId=2
633&Ver=4 
 
 
Contact Member: Cllr Geoffrey Williamson – Executive Member for 
   Finance & Support Services 
   Geoffrey.Williamson@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
Contact Officer: Philip Gregory – Head of Strategic Finance & Property 
   Ext 2050 
   Philip.Gregory@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Philip Gregory – Head of Strategic Finance & Property 
   Ext 2050 
   Philip.Gregory@eastherts.gov.uk 

  
 

Page 201

http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=119&MId=2633&Ver=4
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=119&MId=2633&Ver=4
mailto:Geoffrey.Williamson@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.Gregory@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.Gregory@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 
 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives: 

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 
 
Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives  
 
Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy  
 

The report summarises the governance of the Council in 
2015/16 and contributes to all the Corporate Priorities. 

 

Consultation: Consultation has taken place with the Leadership team 
on the development of the MTFP. 
 

Legal: No specific implications arise from this report.  

Financial: This report sets out the forecast financial position of the 
Council for the next four years. 
 

Human 
Resource: 

No specific implications arise from this report 
 

Risk 
Management: 

This report documents significant matters related to the 
ongoing financial position of the council. 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 

No specific implications arise from this report. 

 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER B

2015/16 

Outturn
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19  2019/20 2020/2021

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 Net Cost of Services        16,157        14,159        14,058        14,567        15,213        15,511 

 Efficiency savings - to be identified -                    -                    (728)              (1,376)           (1,757)           (1,972)           

 Efficiency savings (one off) - to be identified -                    -                    -                    (111)              -                    -                    

 Fees & Charges Annual Review -                    -                    (45)                (91)                (139)              (189)              

 New Homes Bonus Priority Spend 660               901               820               665               679               601               

 NHB Grants to Town & Parish Councils 699               901               820               665               679               601               

 Contingency Budget -                    150               150               150               150               150               

 Interest Payments 686               662               662               662               662               662               

 Interest & Investment Income (1,089)           (902)              (1,084)           (1,090)           (1,277)           (1,277)           

 RCCO 1,001            25                 25                 25                 25                 25                 

 Pension Fund Deficit Contribution 483               600               600               600               600               600               

 Net Expenditure        18,597        16,495        15,278        14,668        14,835        14,712 

 Contributions to Earmaked Reserves 1,609            1,227            257               232               332               439               

 Contributions from Earmarked Reserves (4,486)           (2,174)           (237)              (301)              (150)              (150)              

 Use of General Reserve (124)              -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 Net Expenditure after reserves        15,595        15,548        15,298        14,599        15,017        15,001 

 Revenue Support Grant (2,057)           (1,145)           (351)              -                    -                    -                    

 Council Tax Freeze Grant (95)                -                    -                    -                    -                    

 NDR (2,385)           (1,956)           (1,975)           (1,886)           (1,948)           (1,948)           

 Section 31 Grants (820)              (712)              (522)              (533)              (548)              (548)              

 (Surplus)/Deficit on Collection Fund 1,368            917               149               -                    -                    -                    

 Other general grants (9)                  (120)              (120)              -                    -                    -                    

 New Homes Bonus (2,798)           (3,602)           (3,279)           (2,662)           (2,716)           (2,404)           

 Demand on Collection Fund          8,801          8,930          9,200          9,518          9,805        10,101 

 Council Taxbase        56,425        57,254        57,827        58,655        59,239        59,829 

 Council Tax at Band D (£)        155.97        155.97        159.09        162.27        165.51        168.83 

Percentage Increase in Council Tax (1.00%) 0.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Summary  Model - Summer 2016

REVENUE BUDGET - MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

 Financial Planning

 Corporate Budgets

 Reserves

 Funding

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER C 

Planning assumptions for August 2016 MTFP Update: 

FACTOR NOTE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Council Tax Increase  2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Pay Settlement 1 2.25% 2.25% 2.25% 2.25% 

Members Allowances 2 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 

Price inflation 3 1.70% 2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 

Contract inflation 4 1.70% 2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 

Council Tax Base 5 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 

Fees and Charges 6 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 

 

Notes: 

1. Based on continued pay restraint through the life of the MTFP period. 

Includes an annual 0.75% increase to allow for increments and local award. 

2. Members allowances are set by an Independent Remuneration Panel but for 

MTFP planning purpose this is assumed to be in line with officer pay awards. 

3. Price inflation is based upon OBR inflation forecasts for future years as at 

March 2016 (CPI). 

4. Contract inflation is based upon OBR inflation forecasts for future years as at 

March 2016 (CPI). 

5. Council Tax base increases have been calculated using trend information. 

Further revisions may occur once certainty around the scale and timing of 

future developments becomes clear. 

6. Fees and Charges are assumed to increase by 2.5% year on year. This may 

be achieved through a combination of appropriate price increases or new 

sources of income being identified. 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER D 

The Financial Strategy 2017/18 – 2020/21 

 

What is it and why is it important? 

The medium term financial strategy is a statement of the objectives and principles 

that underpin the Council's approach to managing its resources looking ahead over a 

period of three years or more. It sets out the framework within which the Medium 

Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is developed and reviewed. 

The strategy is important because the council must ensure that its plans for services 

are affordable and sustainable in the light of the resources it can reasonably expect 

to be available. This allows the Council to take decisions about prioritising the 

resources it has. Included in those resources is income from council tax as well as 

funding from Business Rates, grants and other income streams from fees and 

charges. The future is inherently uncertain and the strategy considers that 

uncertainty and how the council can mitigate the risks. 

Business rates retention and local council tax support were introduced from April 

2013 and the risk profile of our funding changed. In the medium term the pace and 

strength of economic recovery indicate a longer period of spending restraint. In this 

context the proposed strategy is to maximise the Council’s financial resilience and 

consider ways to become more self-sufficient where possible. 

What outcomes is the strategy designed to achieve? 

The objectives of the strategy are: 

 To ensure the Council is well placed to meet uncertainty about the level of 

funding that the government will be able to provide acknowledging that such 

funding will be constrained. 

 To ensure that tax payers, service users, partner agencies and Council 

employees are aware of the funding issues faced by the council and are given 

the opportunity to help shape the Council’s planning. 

 To ensure that funding is available to meet the highest priority future revenue 

and capital needs of the Council as they arise. 

 To maximise the effective use of resources by annual review of the Council's 

resources corporately and by redirecting funding to higher priority areas as 

identified in the Corporate Strategic Plan and individual service plans. 

 To ensure funding is available for priority service improvements. 

Page 209



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER D 

 To inform service planning and ensure that the immediate and future financial 

implications of all decisions are taken into account in a timely manner and in 

the context of the Council’s overall financial situation. 

 To minimise volatility of council tax and ensure that increases are within limits 

set by the government. 

 To manage risks including keeping adequate reserves to ensure so far as is 

reasonably possible that service delivery is not disturbed by calls on funding 

from short term, unforeseeable events. 

 To achieve value for money from all spending. 

 To be aware of and take up funding opportunities where these are consistent 

with the Council’s objectives and where the obligations taken on are 

manageable by the council and commensurate with the sums received. In 

particular consider options that enable a greater self-reliance on our own 

funding and reduce the reliance on Central Government funding. 

 To achieve efficiency in the use of resources including invest to save 

opportunities by taking into consideration relevant life cycle costs. 

 To secure, maintain and renew a stock of physical assets consistent with the 

Council’s corporate priorities as detailed in the Asset Management Strategy. 

 To ensure the Financial Strategy and all the Council's other strategies are 

consistent. 

What principles underpin the strategy? 

The principles underlying the strategy are those of sustainability, transparency and 

consistency as evidenced by: 

 The Council will adopt a prudent approach to assumptions and forecasts of its 

income and spending including assessment of: 

o the resources available to it from government and other external 

sources; 

o changes in input prices both generally - including pay and specific price 

changes where these have significant impact on individual services by 

means of indexation clauses in contracts; 

o interest rates and the growth of the wider economy so far as these 

affect the Council’s ability to generate income from charges; 

o the council tax base and rates of council tax collection and of other 

incomes; 

Page 210



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER D 

o investment returns and factors affecting pension costs as advised by 

the scheme’s actuary; 

o its ability to generate cashable efficiency gains; 

o exposure to VAT and other tax liabilities; 

o exposure to uninsured risks. 

 The council will establish spending plans consistent with its forecast of income 

other than where existing reserves are planned to be used. 

 The council will not commit to ongoing spending from incomes of a one off 

nature without a clear exit strategy in the absence of alternative funding. 

 The council will limit its borrowing by reference to CIPFA’s prudential code 

and will make a prudent provision for repayment in accordance with that code. 

 The council has adopted and will keep under review a policy on the level of 

reserves to ensure adequate but not excessive reserves. 

 The council has adopted and will review a charging policy that is fair in terms 

of: 

o different service users; 

o the call on the tax payer as against the service user; 

o competition with other providers 

 The council will maintain sound financial management practices set out in 

Financial Regulations and Financial Procedure Rules. 

 The Council will maintain the accounts in accordance with relevant codes of 

accounting practice and in particular the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of 

Practice (SeRCOP) and financial planning will be consistent with those 

requirements. 

 The strategy will be reviewed annually. 

 

 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER E 

East Herts Council Reserves Policy 

1.0 The Council’s Reserves Policy 

1.1 The current Reserves Policy was approved by Council at its meeting in 

February 2011. 

1.2 The Policy sets out a maximum and minimum level of General Reserves. 

There is no maximum or minimum level set for Earmarked Reserves but the 

Policy states that they generally will be expected to be used within the period 

of the MTFP.  

1.3 General reserves are a working balance to manage cash flows and limit the 

need for temporary borrowing and to provide a contingency for 

unforeseeable events and emergency spending. Earmarked reserves are set 

aside for a defined purpose to meet known or predicted future liabilities. 

1.4 The minimum level of General Reserves to be held under the Policy is £3m: 

to be specific the sum of the General Fund and General Reserve (less any 

amount in the Building Control Account) should not normally be less than 

£3m.  

1.5 The maximum level of general reserves is based on adding a basket of 

figures and proportions to give a quantum figure, as follows: 

Table 1: Calculation of the maximum level of general reserves to be held 

CALCULATION 

POSITION AS AT 

31/03/16 

£m 

40% of the budget requirement at start of year (2015/16: £8.801m) 3.520 

2.5% of total assets in the last audited financial statements 

(2014/15: £130.878m) 
3.272 

The sum of future planned withdrawals and/or contributions to the 

general reserve in the last approved MTFP 
0.000 

Less any sum held as an insurance reserve (1.010) 

TOTAL 5.782 

 

1.6 General Reserves at the end of the 2015/16 financial year stood at £5.043m, 

£0.739m within the Policy threshold. 

 

 

Page 213



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER E 

2.0 Why Councils need to hold Reserves 

2.1 Reserves are an essential part of good financial management. They help 

Councils cope with unpredictable financial pressures, help them smooth the 

impact of known spending requirements over time, and help to fund any in-

year overspending. The level, purpose, and planned use of reserves are 

important factors for elected Members and council officers to consider in 

developing medium-term financial plans and setting annual budgets. 

2.2 There is no set formula for deciding what level of reserves is appropriate and 

councils are free to determine the level of reserves they hold. Where 

councils hold very low reserves there may be little resilience to financial 

shocks and sustained financial challenges. However where reserves are too 

high there may be opportunity costs involved in holding these reserves (for 

example a lack of investment in making service changes that could generate 

better outcomes for residents and/or increased savings or revenue 

generation for the Council). 

2.3 The requirement for financial reserves is acknowledged in statute (Local 

Government Finance Act 1992). Full Council is responsible for approving the 

level of reserves and the Reserves Policy whilst the Section 151 Officer has 

a statutory duty to report publically to Council on the adequacy of reserves 

when calculating the annual budget requirement. 

2.4 CIPFA issues guidance on reserves and the latest guidance (LAAP Bulletin 

99) identifies the issues to consider in determining an appropriate level of 

reserves as follows: 

 

Page 214



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER E 

3.0 Reporting of Reserves 

3.1 As a minimum, the annual budget report and the final accounts report will set 

out opening balances, expected or actual transfers to and from reserves 

together with closing balances. The Head of Strategic Finance and Property 

as S151 officer will comment on the adequacy of reserves in those reports. 

3.2 During the year the adequacy of reserves will be reviewed as part of the 

health check monitoring in the light of any significant budget variances. If the 

balance on general reserves appears likely to move outside of the minimum 

boundary the need for corrective action will be considered in the next 

planned health check report or earlier if the Council’s S151 officer so 

requires. 

4.0 Governance arrangements in respect of reserves (extracted from Financial 

Regulations (section 3.8)) 

4.1 In the event of a department underspend the Executive may establish an 

earmarked reserve and approve appropriations thereto where the purpose of 

that reserve is to defer expenditure included in a budget (or supplementary 

budget) approved by the Council where the expenditure in subsequent years 

will be in respect of the purpose for which the original budget (or 

supplementary budget) was approved. 

4.2 Proposals to appropriate more than £100,000 to a single reserve or more 

than £500,000 in aggregate in any year beyond sums set out in the Medium 

Term Financial Plan shall be subject to the prior approval of the Council. 

5.0 Current Reserve balances 

5.1 The table below summarises the balances currently held in Earmarked 

Reserves: 

Page 215



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER E 

Table 2: Statement of Earmarked Reserve Balances 

 

 

Balance Transfers Transfers Balance 

31 March Out In 31 March 

2015 2015/16 2015/16 2016 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Interest Equalisation Reserve (1,503) 300  (311) (1,514) 

Insurance Fund (1,010) - - (1,010) 

Emergency Planning Reserve (37) - - (37) 

LDF/Green Belt Reserve (519) 120 - (399) 

Housing Condition Survey Reserve (93) 36 (14) (71) 

Council Elections Reserve (77) 100 (28) (5) 

Sinking fund - Leisure Utilities / Pension Reserve (231) 3 - (228) 

Performance Reward Grant Reserve (22) 11 - (11) 

Waste Recycling Income Volatility Reserve (300) - - (300) 

Footbridge Reserve (150) - - (150) 

Transformation Reserve (2,782) 741 (361) (2,402) 

DCLG Preventing Repossessions (30) 2 - (28) 

Environmental Pollution (14) 14 - - 

New Homes Bonus Priority Spend (3,816) 925 (660) (3,551) 

Collection Fund Reserve (1,551) 1,368 (300) (483) 

DEFRA Flood Support (93) 56 - (37) 

Commercial Property Fund (500) 99 (870) (1,271) 

Pension Fund Additional Contribution Reserve (1,000) 1,000 - - 

Single Person Homelessness (12) 12 - - 

Neighbourhood Planning  (45) - (20) (65) 

IER (34) - - (34) 

Traffic Regulation Order Consolidation Reserve - - (5) (5) 

Total (13,819) 4,787 (2,569) (11,601) 

 

Page 216



EAST HERTS COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016  

REPORT BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2015/16  

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

 

Purpose/Summary of Report: 

 This report presents the 2015/16 Annual Governance Statement at 

Essential Reference Paper „B‟ and the 2016/17 Annual 

Governance Statement Action Plan at Essential Reference Paper 

„C‟. 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE: That: 

 

(A) 

Audit and Governance Committee be advised of any 

comments that the Executive has to make on the proposed 

Annual Governance Statement and Action Plan. 

1 Background 

1.1 The Annual Governance Statement is necessary to meet the 

requirements set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 

that requires authorities to carry out an annual review of the 

effectiveness of its system of internal control. 

2 Report 

2.1 The Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is 

conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and 

that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, used 

economically, efficiently and effectively. 
 

Page 217

Agenda Item 12



2.2 The Council should undertake regular, at least annual, reviews of its 

governance arrangements by means of an Annual Governance 

Statement, to ensure continuing compliance with best practice. It is 

important that such reviews are reported both within the Council, to 

the Audit and Governance Committee and externally with the 

published accounts, to provide assurance that: 

o governance arrangements are adequate and operating 

effectively in practice, or 

o where reviews of the governance arrangements have 

revealed gaps, action is planned that will ensure effective 

governance in the future. 

2.3 The process of preparing the governance statement should itself 

add value to the corporate governance and internal controls 

framework of the Council.  

2.4 A governance statement should include the following information:  

o an acknowledgement of responsibility for ensuring there is a 

sound system of governance (incorporating the system of 

internal control) 

o an indication of the level of assurance that the systems and 

processes that comprise the Council‟s governance 

arrangements can provide 

o a brief description of the key elements of the governance 

framework, including reference to group activities where those 

activities are significant. 

o a brief description of the process that had been applied in 

maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the 

governance arrangements, including some comment on the 

role of: 

 the Council 

 the Executive 

 the Audit and Governance Committee/ overview and 

scrutiny function/ Standards Committee 

 Internal Audit 

 other explicit review/ assurance mechanisms 

Page 218



o an outline of the actions taken, or proposed, to deal with 

significant governance issues. 

2.5 It is important to recognise that the governance statement covers all 

significant corporate systems, processes and controls, spanning the 

whole range of the Council‟s activities, including in particular those 

designed to ensure that: 

o the authority‟s policies are implemented in practice 

o high quality services are delivered efficiently and effectively 

o the authority‟s values and ethical standards are met 

o laws and regulations are complied with 

o required processes are adhered to 

o financial statements and other published performance 

information are accurate and reliable 

o human, financial, environmental and other resources are 

managed efficiently and effectively 

2.6 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

have recently provided five top tips for improving the governance 

statement: 

o Keep it relevant: Make sure the governance statement is 

written specifically for the year being considered. It should 

reflect the adequacy of the governance in place for the year 

and provide an opportunity to reflect on current governance 

challenges. 

o Evaluate and conclude: The statement should be an 

evaluation rather than a description. The statement should 

include a conclusion, e.g. “the arrangements continue to be 

regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance 

framework”. 

o Well founded: The governance statement should be 

underpinned by a robust review and assessment of 

governance. 

o Plan improvement: There is a need to be clear about what 

needs to improve and how that is to be achieved. 

Page 219



o Keep it short: The Annual Governance Statement should be 

brief, focused and high-level, written in an open and readable 

style. 

2.7 In order to add real value to the Annual Governance Statement 

officers have considered the current Annual Governance Statement 

Action Plan, External and Internal Audit reports, Risk registers, 

Management Assurance Statements, Ombudsman reports, 3 C‟s 

reports, National Fraud Initiative reports and the Annual Report. 

2.8 The Audit and Governance Committee has monitored the 

2015/2016 Annual Governance Statement Action Plan throughout 

the year. At the Audit and Governance Committee on 15 June 2016, 

it was reported that one governance issue had been completed and 

two significant governance issues remained outstanding and their 

status showed as “Amber”. These outstanding issues are 

considered to remain significant and have therefore been carried 

forward to this year‟s Action Plan with target dates updated to 

reflect any changes of circumstances. 

2.9 The Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance 

Officer have discussed any items that could be considered 

significant governance issues that have been identified in the past 

year. No new issues have been identified to include in the Action 

Plan; no specific issues were raised either by the external auditor or 

the Shared Internal Audit Service. 

2.10 An Annual Governance Statement and an Action Plan that identifies 

required enhancements to internal control arrangements has been 

drawn up. 

2.11 The static part of the Annual Governance Statement can be found 

at Essential Reference Paper „B‟. This document shows tracked 

changes made to last year‟s statement. Changes have been made 

that update the Council‟s governance arrangements to ensure the 

current position is reflected. 

Page 220



2.12 The Annual Governance Statement Action Plan 2016/2017 can be 

found at Essential Reference Paper „C‟. The two issues identified 

will continue to be monitored through the Leadership Team and the 

Audit and Governance Committee. 

2.13 These documents have been considered by Corporate Business 

Scrutiny Committee on 30 August 2016. Responsibility for approval 

of the Annual Governance Statement rests with the Audit and 

Governance Committee, as part of the approval of the Annual 

Accounts. The results of on-going consultations will be reported 

verbally to each Committee as part of the process.  

2.14 CIPFA and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and 

Senior Managers (Solace) have published a new „Delivering Good 

Governance in Local Government: Framework‟ in 2016. This 

framework will apply to annual governance statements prepared for 

the financial year 2016/17 onwards as required by the CIPFA Code 

of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. The 2016/17 Annual 

Governance Statement will incorporate the changes required by the 

new framework. 

3 Implications/Consultations 

3.1 Consultation documents were sent to the Leader and Executive 

Members, Chairmen of Committees, Leadership Team, the Shared 

Internal Audit Service and EY. Leadership Team considered the 

Annual Governance Statement and Action Plan on 15 August 2016. 

3.2 Corporate Business Scrutiny Committee and the Executive will 

consider the Annual Governance Statement and Action Plan, prior 

to approval by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

3.3 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 

with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper „A‟. 

Background Papers  

None  
 

Page 221



Contact Member:  Councillor Linda Haysey,  

Leader of the Council. 

Extn: 1650  

linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk  

Contact Officers:  Liz Watts 

    Chief Executive 

    Extn: 1650 

    liz.watts@eastherts.gov.uk  

        

Report Author:   Philip Gregory 

    Head of Strategic Finance & Property 

    Extn: 2050 

    philip.gregory@eastherts.gov.uk  

Page 222

mailto:linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:liz.watts@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:philip.gregory@eastherts.gov.uk


 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 
 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives: 

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 
 
Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives  
 
Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy  
 

The report summarises the governance of the Council in 
2015/16 and contributes to all the Corporate Priorities. 

Consultation: Consultation documents were sent to the Leader and 
Executive Members, Chairmen of Committees, 
Leadership Team, the Shared Internal Audit Service and 
EY. 

Legal: No specific implications arise from this report.  

Financial: There are no direct financial implications arising from the 
report. 

Human 
Resource: 

No specific implications arise from this report 
 

Risk 
Management: 

This report documents significant matters related to the 
ongoing governance of the council. 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 

No specific implications arise from this report. 

 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EAST HERTS COUNCIL ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT 20154/20165 AND ACTION PLAN 
20165/20176 

 
Scope of responsibility  
 
East Hertfordshire District Council is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper 
standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 
accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The 
Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for 
putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, 
facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, including 
arrangements for the management of risk.  
 
The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the 
governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the 
Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2010). 
 
The Council has approved and adopted a local code of corporate 
governance, which is consistent with the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’ (CIPFA 2007).  
 
This statement explains how the Council has complied with the code 
and also how it meets the requirements of regulation 46 of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 20151 that requires 
authorities to carry out an annual review of the effectiveness of its 
system of internal control.  
 
The purpose of the governance framework  
 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, 
and culture and values, by which the Council is directed and 

Page 225



 

controlled and by which it accounts to, engages with and leads the 
community. It enables the Council to monitor the achievement of its 
strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have 
led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.  
 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework 
and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  Controls 
cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is 
based on an ongoing process designed to identify risks to the 
achievement of the council’s policies, aims and objectives. It 
evaluates the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact 
should they be realised, and it prioritises and manages them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. 

 
The Governance Framework  
 
The Council’s governance framework derives from the six core 
principles identified by the Independent Commission on Good 
Governance in Public Services – a commission set up by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), and 
the Office for Public Management. The Commission used work done 
by, amongst others, Cadbury (1992), Nolan (1995) and 
CIPFA/SOLACE (2001). These principles were adapted for 
application to local authorities and published by CIPFA in 2007.  
 
The six core principles are:  
 
a. focusing on the purpose of the Council and on outcomes for the 

community and creating and implementing a vision for the local 
area;  

b. Members and officers working together to achieve a common 
purpose with clearly defined functions and roles;  

c. promoting values for the Council and demonstrating the values of 
good governance through upholding high standards of conduct 
and behaviour;  

d. taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to 
effective scrutiny and managing risk;  

Page 226



 

e. developing the capacity and capability of Members and officers to 
be effective; and  

f. engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure 
robust public accountability.  

 
The key elements of East Herts Council’s application of each of these 
core principles are as follows:  
 
a) Focusing on the purpose of the Council and on outcomes for 
the community and creating and implementing a vision for the 
local area  
 
The Sustainable Community Strategy outlines the vision, aims and 
priority themes for the district. It was produced in conjunction with the 
East Herts Strategic Partnership, which brings together all relevant 
stakeholders, including those that deliver services in the area.  
 
The Customer Services Strategy requires all services to individually 
consider insight about their customers, local need and how their 
service is accessed and set out actions, within the Council’s medium 
term financial planning process, to maximise the appropriate digital 
operation and delivery of services. This will include the requirement to 
understand the reasons for customer contact and the methods 
currently used. 
 
The Council’s aimspriorities and objectivesoutcomes are set out in 
the annually updated Corporate Strategic Plan, which is reviewed 
annually. This sets out what the Council expects to deliver over the 
next four years and, in many cases, beyond this timeframe. The 
details of how the Council will get theredeliver these outcomes are 
incorporated into the executive summary of service plans. iIndividual 
service plans set out all strategic and operational activity. The Plan 
will be updated reviewed each year to include new service 
developments and to remove outcomes once they are achieved. The 
Plan sets the direction for the financial planning of the Council based 
on the Council’s priorities. During 2015/16 the financial and business 
planning process is being fundamentally changed. It will ensure that 
service actions reflect changing patterns of demand, need and 
preference balanced against financial constraints in the medium term. 
 

Page 227



 

The Executive receives the Medium Term Financial Strategy covering 
a four-year period, which is used to set initial parameters for the 
coming budget process to ensure that spending proposals are 
affordable and sustainable over the medium term. The Corporate 
Business Scrutiny committee monitor the delivery of the MTFP. 
 
The diagram below sets out the various links in the process of 
establishing and subsequently monitoring the achievement of the 
Council’s ambitions. It shows the links between the Sustainable 
Community Strategy and Corporate Strategic Plan which then feed 
into, and are informed by, service plans, service targets and 
individual employees via specific areas of responsibility allocated to 
them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Council has an effective performance management framework 
using a dedicated IT system to record and report performance. The 
system is driven by the Service PlansCorporate Strategic Plan which 
focuses on activities that will deliver the Council’s ambitions and 
prioritiesoutcomes. This is cascaded through individual employee 
appraisals. 
 

 

 

Sustainable Community Strategy 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Strategic Plan 

 

 

Executive Summary of Service Plans 

Individual Service Plans 

 

 

 

 

 

Targets 

 

 

 

 

Outcomes 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 228



 

This process monitors how the Council is meeting its performance 
targets and triggers corrective actions where targets are proving 
challenging, through the Corporate HealthcheckQuarterly 
Performance report and Service Plan monitoring reports the Mid-Year 
and Annual Report in regard to the Corporate Strategic Plan. 
 
The Council’s Executive and its Scrutiny CommitteesCorporate 
Business Scrutiny Committee monitor and scrutinise progress against 
targets and performance in priority areas affecting relevant service 
areas, and consider and approve corrective action where necessary. 
For ease of interpretation performance graphs are reported.  There 
are reports which include the results of monthly and quarterly budget 
monitoring reports covering the revenue expenditure, capital projects, 
key performance indicators and absence monitoring.  
 
The monitoring process has enabled the Council to concentrate on 
areas which require particular attention. 
 
The Council is therefore able to monitor all key measures on a 
monthly quarterly basis and respond quickly and effectively to 
changes at an early stage. 
 
The Council maintains an objective and professional relationship with 
external auditors and statutory inspectors. The, as evidenced by the 
Annual Audit Letter documents this relationship with external auditors 
and is submitted with the Statement of Accounts to the Audit 
Committee.  
 
Through reviews by external auditors, external agencies, the Shared 
Internal Audit Service (SIAS) and internal review teams, the Council 
constantly seeks ways of securing continuous improvement in the 
way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources. The Council has regularly reviewed Financial Regulations 
and has adopted Procurement Regulations to ensure proper 
arrangements are in place for procurement of goods and services.  
 
All budget cost centres are allocated to a named post holder, who is 
responsible for controlling spend against those budgets, and who is 

Page 229



 

also responsible for maximising the benefits from assets used in the 
provision of their service.   
 
b) Members and officers working together to achieve a common 
purpose with clearly defined functions and roles  
 
The Council has adopted a constitution which sets out how the 
Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which 
are followed. This ensures that decisions are transparent and that 
Members are accountable to local people.  
 
The Council adopted the Leader and Cabinet Executive model. The 
main features are: 
 
 The Council’s Executive consists of a Leader and between two 

and nine other Councillors. 
 The Leader is elected by full Council and will hold office in 

accordance with the Local Government Act 2000, the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007and the 
Localism Act 2011. 

 The other Executive Members will be appointed by the Leader 
who will decide their portfolios and also which executive functions 
will be discharged by full Executive, any of its Committees or any 
individual Executive Member or officers. 

 There are currently seven Councillors on the Executive. 
 
The Council’s Chief Executive retired in May 2015 and a new Chief 
Executive takes up the post in Autumn 2015.     
  
The Council’s LeadershipCorporate Management Team (CMLT) 
consisting of the Chief Executive , Directors and the Heads of 
Services of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
meets on a weeklyfortnightly basis to develop policy policies and 
discuss issues commensurate with the Council’s aims, objectives and 
priorities. LCMTThe Leadership Team also considers internal control 
issues, including risk management, performance management, 
compliances, efficiency and value for money, and financial 
management. Members of CMLTthe Leadership Team meet with 
Portfolio Holders regularlyon a monthly basis to review progress in 
achieving the Council’s ambitions, priorities for action, budget 

Page 230



 

monitoring, performance management and forward planning for major 
issues. CMLTThe Leadership Team has a corporate responsibility for 
the messages that the Council produces, both internally and 
externally. 
 
Below CMLTLeadership Team the management structure is well 
defined. The chart below indicates how decisions are implemented 
and cascaded:  

Page 231



 

Council/Executive 

Objectives/Priorities 

Strategies    Policies    Development 

Strategic Advice 

 
Executive/Portfolio Holders 

 

                                               CMTLT 
DMTHeads of Service 

CWGs Service Teams 

Legend 

 

CMT Corporate Management TeamLT 

Leadership Team 
DMT Divisional Management Team 

SMG Senior Management Group 

CWG Corporate Working Groups  
SCR  Scrutiny Committees 

AUD   Audit and GovernanceCommittee 

 
 

Corporate Priorities 

Policies 

Service Plans 

Service 

StandardsCorporate 

Strategic Plan 

Full Service Plans 

Team and Individual 

Service Plans 

Decision making and 

Information flow 

sh
a

re
 &

 i
n

fo
rm

 

C
a

sc
a
d

e/
in

fo
rm

&
 

tr
a

n
sl

a
te

 

cascades & informs 

management decisions 

 

Review and Challenge 

 (SCR & AUD) 

 

P
age 232



 

 
 

The Council has adopted a number of codes and protocols that will 
govern both Member and officer activities. These are:  
 

 Members’ Code of Conduct  

 Officers’ Code of Conduct  

 Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice  

 Member/Officer Relations Protocol 
 
c) Promoting values for the Council and demonstrating the 
values of good governance through upholding high standards 
of conduct and behaviour  
 
The Council has adopted a number of codes and protocols that will 
govern both Member and officer activities. These are:  
 

 Members’ Code of Conduct  

 Officers’ Code of Conduct  

 Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice  

 Member/Officer Relations Protocol 
 
It is the function of the Monitoring Officer to ensure compliance 
with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations. After 
consulting the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer, s/he will 
report to the full Council if s/he considers that any proposal, 
decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or 
maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of stopping 
the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has 
been considered.  
 
Under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 it 
is the duty of the Council’s Monitoring Officer to report to Council if 
it appears that the Authority, a Committee or Officer of the 
Authority has made a decision which is contrary to law.   

The Council has responsibility for responding to Freedom of 
Information Requests (FOI) promptly and within 20 working days.  

The Council constantly monitors its speed of response to FOI’s 
and seeks to proactively publish regularly requested information by 
making a wider range of information more easily available through 
the Council’s website.  

The Council determines its Members’ Allowances scheme in 
accordance with the legislative framework. Each allowance 
scheme is determined following consideration of the 
recommendations made by its Independent Remuneration Panel. Page 233



 

A scheme forms part of the Council’s constitution and details of 
actual allowances paid are published as soon as possible after the 
end of the year in question. 

All Council services are delivered by trained and experienced 
people. All posts have a detailed job descriptionpost profile and 
person specification. Learning and developmentTraining needs are 
identified through the Personal Development Review Scheme and 
addressed via the Human Resources service and/or individual 
services as appropriate.  
 
The Council achieved SilverBronze standard re-accreditation for a 
further three years from 20 AprilMay 20165 under the Investors in 
People Standard, which is a quality framework to ensure that the 
Council’s employees have the right knowledge, skills and 
motivation to work effectively.  
 
The financial management of the Council is conducted in 
accordance with Financial Regulations that form part of the 
Council’s constitution. The Head of StrategicDirector of Finance 
and PropertySupport Services is the statutory Chief Finance 
Officer in accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government 
Act 1972.  
 
The Council has a Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Annual Investment Strategy in place. Investments are made in 
accordance with the Council’s approved policy. All investment 
transactions and transfers undertaken in house are supported by 
appropriate documentation and are properly authorised. External 
fund managers are subject to strict regulation by the Financial 
Conduct Authority. The Portfolio holder and the Leader of the 
Council receive regular updates from the Head of Strategic 
Finance and PropertyDirector of Finance and Support Services. 
The Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee is invited 
to participate in review meetings with Fund Managers. 
 
The Council utilises an Internal Audit Service delivered under a 
shared partnership with seven other Councils. This service 
operates to the standards set out in the CIPFA Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards which came into effect on 1 April 2013.  
 
The Council utilises an Anti-Fraud service delivered under a 
shared partnership service with five other Councils. The Anti-Fraud 
service provides robust fraud prevention, detection and 
investigation across Council services. 
 

Page 234



 

An Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Strategy and a Disclosure 
(Whistleblowing) Code are in place. A Whistleblowing hotline and 
email facility operates and has been well publicised. Each year all 
staff are required to complete Annual Declaration forms. The 
Council has adopted a policy on bribery. The Council does not 
tolerate bribery committed by Council employees or its contractors 
or partners and will take consistent and swift action against those 
persons committing bribery. 
 
Individual services have produced Service Plans that are updated 
each year so that services know what they are required to do to 
achieve the Council’s priorities and ambitionsoutcomes.  
 
At individual employee level the Council has established a 
Personal Development Review Scheme so as to agree individual 
employee objectives and identify learningtraining and development 
needs jointly. The Scheme provides for regular 121’s anda mid-
year review as well as an annual appraisal at which past 
performance is reviewed. 
 
 
d) Taking informed and transparent decisions which are 
subject to effective scrutiny and managing risk. 
 
The Council has several committees which carry out regulatory or 
scrutiny functions. These are:  
 

 Overview and Scrutiny committees (Corporate Business 
Scrutiny, Community Scrutiny, Environment Scrutiny and from 
2015/16, Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny) review and/or 
scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with 
the discharge of any of the Council’s functions. They also help 
to develop new policy and make considered recommendations 
prior to any major contract tendering., developing the capacity 
and capability of members and officers to be effective.  

 Audit and Governance Committee provides assurance about 
the adequacy of internal controls, financial accounting and 
reporting arrangements, and that effective risk management is 
in place. Its work is intended to enhance public trust in the 
corporate and financial governance of the Council.It has also 
taken on the role previously provided by the Standards 
Committee that promotes and maintains high standards of 
conduct for the Council’s Members.;  

 Development Management Committee determines planning 
applications and related matters;  

Page 235



 

 Licensing Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of 
the Council’s licensing policy and procedures;  

 The Human Resources Committee’s functions relate to all 
aspects of the Council’s role as an employer. This includes the 
monitoring and strategic overview of Human Resources 
activities. 

 Standards Committee promotes and maintains high standards 
of conduct for the Council’s Members, and advises and assists 
Parish Councils and Councillors to maintain high standards of 
conduct;  

 
The Council has data protection policies, a Data Protection Action 
Plan and a data sharing protocol in place to ensure that personal 
data is maintained securely and used correctly. There is a Data 
Protection Compliance Governance Framework which involves the 
Corporate Business Scrutiny Committee in the governance 
structure. The Committee takes a strategic oversight of the 
completion of the Data Protection Action Plan and Data Protection 
compliance through a formal annual report. Data Protection risk 
assessment is also part of the service planning process. 
 
The Risk Management Strategy defines risk management, 
explains the benefits of a strategic approach, outlines how it will be 
implemented, identifies roles and responsibilities and formalises 
the process. The Strategy sets out the links between risk 
management, emergency planning and business continuity. It 
recognises that risk management is a key part of the management 
of projects and partnerships. 
 
The Strategy highlights how risk management supports strategic 
planning, financial planning, policy making and review and 
performance management. 
 
The LeadershipCorporate Management Team is responsible for 
ensuring that the key risks on the strategic risk register are 
managed. Strategic and service risk registers are reviewed 
quarterly. Risks will be amended so that they reflect the current 
situation, obsolete risks deleted and new risks added. This will 
ensure that the risk register and the resulting risk mitigation 
measures are appropriate for corporate objectives and services. 
 
Members have received risk management training. 
 
The Council also has a Partnership Protocol in place.  
 

Page 236



 

The Council is represented on the Joint Committee and the Joint 
Management Board following the introduction of a shared 
Revenues and Benefits service with Stevenage Borough Council.  
 
A shared service partnership operates with Stevenage Borough 
Council to deliver ICT, Business Improvement, Print and Design 
services came into operation on 1 August 2013. A Partnership 
Board with Director representation is responsible for making the 
key decisions about the way that the partnership operates. 
 
The Shared Internal Audit Service (SIAS) is a partnership of eight 
Hertfordshire Authorities. The Council is represented on the Board 
that provides strategic direction and oversight for the partnership. 
The Head of Strategic Finance and PropertyGovernance and Risk 
Management is the Audit Champion for the Council and has 
monitoring meetings every three months with the Director of 
Finance and Support Services and SIAS managers. Progress 
reports are submitted to four Audit and Governance Committee 
meetings per year. 
 
The Shared Anti-Fraud Service (SAFS) launched in June 2015 and 
is a partnership of six Hertfordshire Authorities. It is a ‘sister’ 
partnership with SIAS and has shared  governance arrangements 
through the Partnership Board. SAFS will provides robust fraud 
prevention, detection and investigation across Council services. 
The Council is represented on the Board and the Head of Strategic 
Finance and Property Governance and Risk Management is the 
Council’s Anti-Fraud Champion. 
 
The Council is one of four partners in the Hertfordshire CCTV 
Partnership.  A new company to conduct the commercial trading 
affairs of the Hertfordshire CCTV Partnership is operating.       
 
The Council is one of seven partners of Hertfordshire Authorities in 
a Building Control joint venture due to launch in summer 2016, 
with the TUPE of existing building control staff into the new 
company. Senior officers will  be appointed by East Herts Council 
to act as a shareholder representative and Director of the new 
company within the agreed governance structures of the joint 
venture.  
 
e) Developing the capacity and capability of Members and 
officers to be effective 
 
The Council plans and provides training for members in carrying 
out their roles effectively including their responsibilities for Page 237



 

governance, challenge, scrutiny and review. The Council did hold 
accreditation for the Charter for Member Development but when 
that came to the end of the four year term, it was replaced by a 
local Member Development Pledge (based on the same 
parameters as the Charter).   The Pledge was originally signed in 
December 2014 by the leaders of all the political groups 
represented on the council at the time.  It hwas then recently been 
re-signed by the Leader on behalf of all Members at Annual 
Council in May 2015 and will be reviewed during 2016/17.   
 
The Council’s vision is to empower Members to be more self 
sufficient, confident in their community leadership roles and 
responsive to local issues, problems and challenges in a variety of 
ways by drawing on existing skills, knowledge, strength, resources 
and expertise from within. This vision is being taken forward 
through a comprehensive Member Development programme 
overseen by a Members’ Development Group.  With 22 new 
councillors elected in May 2015, on-going support wasis being 
offered through a co-ordinated Mentor support programme.  A key 
aspect of on-going peer-to-peer support for local problem solving 
is the use of Member Support GroupsAction Learning Sets. 
 
 
The Council has an infrastructure in place to support members’ 
needs in respect of ICT requirements. 
The Council’s Democratic Services team provide general advice 
and assistance. 
 
Protocols have been adopted to ensure clarity of the respective 
roles of officers and members.  
 
The Council’s recruitment process is designed to ensure only well 
qualified applicants are employed and the subsequent induction 
process is robust so that employees are effective. The 
Performance Development Review process ensures individual 
contributions are effective in meeting corporate priorities and 
capability issues addressed by training.  Internal communications 
methods and processes are reviewed to ensure staff remain well 
informed and their feed back is responded to. A biennial staff 
survey leads to action plans to improve effectiveness.  
 
The Council is taking forward the concept of ‘Here to Help’ which is 
an organisational development activity which has been developed 
in-house to allow managers and staff to contribute to the 
development of the Council’s performance, values and behaviours. 
The purpose of ‘Here to Help’ is celebrating what is good, sharing Page 238



 

good practice, making things better and unlocking barriers to better 
working. It is about giving employees greater opportunity to think 
about improvements to their ways of working together to deliver a 
high quality customer experience every time. 
 
The Council reviews its organisation and capacity as part of its 
annual service planning to ensure its staffing is commensurate in 
both quantitative and qualitative terms with its business plans. The 
Council is committed to taking forward the shared services agenda 
which will ensure more effective use of scarce skills by sharing 
across boundaries.  
 
The Council’s Organisational Development Strategy sets out the 
Council’s workforce development plan over the next four years to 
support the Council’s priorities and values. It focuses on how the 
Council attracts, retains, rewards and develops its employees.   
 
The Council seeks to maintain effective employee relations to 
enable a high standard of service to the public to be maintained. 
Staff are fully consulted on proposed changes to terms and 
conditions. The Council engages with the trade union and staff to 
manage issues arising from pay settlements and changes to the 
organisation including the Local Joint Panel and the Human 
Resources Committee. The Council also utilises Staff Surveys. 
  
Use is made of the Intranet to provide staff with ready access to 
learning material and best practice via a series of tool kits.   
 
f) Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to 
ensure robust public accountability.  
 
The Council encourages all members of the local communities to 
contribute to, and participate in, the work of the Council. The 
Council achieves this through the Residents’ Surveys and follow-
up focus groups. Engagement events around specific issues will 
be considered where they provide a proportionate and cost 
effective model for engagement.  
 
The Council’s Communications Strategy has identified a need to 
engage more through social media. A quarterly report is submitted 
to Leadership Team to monitor the delivery of this communications 
strategy and the levels of social media engagement. and 
reconfirmed the use of the LINK magazine quarterly as a 
communications and engagement tool. 
 

Page 239



 

Individual members are active in their localities and with local 
groups and serve on a number of external bodies.  Training is 
offered to all Members who are asked to represent East Herts on 
outside bodies and Trusteeships. 
 
Hertfordshire Forward and the East Herts Strategic Partnership are 
forums for active engagement with wider stakeholders and a 
mutual holding to account in delivering the Community Strategies.   
 
The Council publishes an Annual Report setting out progress on its 
priorities in the prior year. An Annual Report on Overview and 
Scrutiny is also presented to Council and published every year. 
 
There is a strategic approach to consultation to ensure the 
information returned is reliable – the Council has adopted a 
Consultation Toolkit setting out best practice. 
 
The Council’s web site is under constant review to ensure it is of a 
good standard and that information is easily accessed. A 
consultation section has been introduced so members of the public 
can easily access open consultations and information on past 
consultations. Members of the public also have the opportunity to 
present petitions to, and ask questions at, full Council meetings.  
 
The Council manages freedom of information requests effectively 
to ensure transparency including the corporate governance 
arrangements. Information is made available on the website to 
reduce the need for requests. The Council has procedures in place 
to engage with members of the public to receive Comments, 
Compliments and Complaints. Oversight of the Council’s approach 
is provided by annual report to the Corporate Business Scrutiny 
Committee. The Local Government Ombudsman reported on 
complaints made about the authority for the year ended 31 March 
20165 that there were no concerns about response times and no 
issues arising from complaints. 
 
As part of the Council’s drive to increase the transparency of its 
spending, the Council publishes all payments on a weekly basis 
and has complied with the requirements of the Local Government 
Transparency Code. 
 
The Council has approved a Pay Policy Statement as required 
under section 38 of the Localism Act. The statement follows three 
principles when publishing data; responding to public demand; 
releasing data in open formats available for re-use: and releasing 
data in a timely way. Page 240



 

 
Review of Effectiveness  
 
This statement explains the Council’s overall governance 
arrangements. Each year, the Council reviews its governance 
framework including the system of internal control.  The Council 
produces and monitors an Action Plan each year. The process is 
detailed below:  
 

 The Chief Executive,All Directors, Heads of Service, Members 
of the Executive and Chairmen of Committees are given the 
opportunity to make contributions.  

 Consideration by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 Production of a draft Annual Governance Statement.  

 Consideration by LeadershipCorporate Management Team 

 Consideration by the Corporate Business Scrutiny Committee. 

 Consideration by the Executive 

 Approval by the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the 
Leadership Team Directors within the Council who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment, the reports by the SIAS and also by 
comments made by the Council’s External Auditors and other 
review agencies and inspectorates.  
 
The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing 
the effectiveness of the governance framework includes:  
 
The Monitoring Officer has a legal duty to monitor and review the 
operation of the Constitution to ensure its aims and principles are 
given full effect. The Council reviews the Constitution annually to 
incorporate any necessary changes.  
 
The Council hasd four three overview and scrutiny committees (up 
to 2014/15) and four from the start of 2015/16. The committees 
can establish ‘task and finish’ groups, which can look at particular 
issues in depth, taking evidence from internal and external 
sources, before making recommendations on to the Executive. 
Four Members can “call-in” a decision which has been made by 
the Executive but not yet implemented, to enable it to consider 
whether the decision is appropriate. In addition the Corporate 
Business Scrutiny Committee can exercise its scrutiny role in 
respect of Executive functions, Scrutiny Committees will conduct 
regular performance monitoring of all services, with particular 
attention to areas identified as under-performing.  Page 241



 

 
The Council complies with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act (RIPA) 2000: 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee  
 
SevTen Councillors sit on the Audit and Governance Committee, 
which has extensive . The Committee’s terms of reference. are 
detailed below: 
 
Audit Activity 
 
1. To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report and 

opinion, and a summary of internal audit activity (actual and 
proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the 
Council’s corporate governance arrangements. 

 
2. To consider summaries of specific Internal Audit reports as 

requested. 
 
3. To consider reports dealing with the management and 

performance of the providers of Internal Audit services. 
 
4. To consider reports from Internal Audit on agreed 

recommendations not implemented within a reasonable 
timescale. 

 
5. To consider the External Auditor’s annual letter, relevant 

reports and the report to those charged with governance. 
 
6. To consider specific reports as agreed with the External 

Auditor. 
 
7. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work 

and to ensure it gives value for money. 
 
8. To liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of 

the Council’s External Auditor. 
 
9. To commission work from internal and external audit. 
 
Regulatory Framework 
 
10. To maintain an overview of the Council’s Constitution in 

respect of rules of procedure relating to contracts, financial 

Page 242



 

regulations and financial procedures and codes of conduct 
and behaviour. 

 
11. To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a 

Director or any Council body. 
 
12. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk 

management and corporate governance in the Council. 
 
13. To monitor Council policies on “Confidential Reporting” and 

the anti-fraud and anti-corruption strategy and the Council’s 
complaints process. 

 
14. To oversee the production of the Authority’s Annual 

Governance Statement and to recommend its adoption. 
 
15. To consider the Council’s arrangements for corporate 

governance and agreeing necessary actions to ensure 
compliance with best practice. 

 
16. To consider the Council’s compliance with its own and other 

published standards and controls. 
 
17. To review arrangements for delivering value for money. 
 
18. To review the Council’s finances including borrowing, loans, 

debts investments and banking arrangements. 
 

Accounts 
 
19. To approve the annual statement of accounts. Specifically to 

consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been 
followed and whether there are concerns arising from the 
financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought 
to the attention of the Council. 

 
20. To consider the External Auditors’ report to those charged with 

governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 
 

 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee’s terms of references, work 
programme and the minutes of its meetings are public documents 
and are published on the Council’s web site.  
 

Page 243



 

The Shared Internal Audit Service (SIAS) has responsibility for 
delivery of the Internal Audit Plan at the Council.  The SIAS also 
delivers a service to Hertfordshire County Council, Hertsmere 
Borough Council, North Hertfordshire District Council, Stevenage 
Borough Council, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, Welwyn 
Hatfield Community Housing Trust, Watford Borough Council and 
Three Rivers District Council. The three main drivers for this 
partnership are seen as providing greater resilience, higher levels of 
performance and greater efficiencies.  
 
The SIAS is responsible for monitoring the quality and 
effectiveness of systems of internal control. A risk model is used to 
formulate an annual audit plan. A model for assessing risk against 
desirability of audit work is used across SIAS and allows for the 
prioritisation of potential audit projects. Future risks are identified 
as appropriate and a forward plan for future audit work is in 
operation.  
 
The reporting process for SIAS requires a report of each audit to 
be submitted to the relevant chief officer and service manager. The 
report includes recommendations for improvements that are 
included within an action plan (and graded as high, medium or 
merits attention). This requires agreement or rejection by relevant 
chief officer and/or service manager. The process includes follow-
up reviews of high priority recommendations by SIAS and reports 
to the Audit and Governance Committee as part of the SIAS 
update report. The Audit Champion monitors all other 
recommendations and reports progress to LeadershipCorporate 
Management Team on a quarterly basis. All SIAS audit reports 
include an opinion on the quality and effectiveness of internal 
control within the Council’s systems, and an assurance 
assessment.  
 
All final versions of SIAS reports are circulated to members of the 
Audit and Governance Committee. All reports for the key financial 
systems audits are also sent to the Council’s External Auditors 
who place reliance on the work carried out by SIAS. In order to 
comply with the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, SIAS iswill be required to have an independent 
external review of performance at least every five years. 
 
The latest external review conducted in January 2016 was 
undertaken by Veritau Ltd (a local authority controlled company 
which provides internal audit, counter fraud and other governance 
services). The review concluded that SIAS ‘generally conforms’ to 
the PSIAS, including the Definitions of Internal Auditing, the Code Page 244



 

of Ethics and the Standards. ‘Generally conforms’ is the top rating 
and means that the internal audit service has a charter, policies 
and processes that are judged to be in conformance to the 
Standards. 
 
For performance management, a traffic light monitoring and 
reporting system is in place. Performance data is reported to the 
Scrutiny committees on a frequent basisCorporate Business 
Scrutiny on a quarterly basis, with corrective action plans put in 
place for any under-performing areas.  
 
Significant governance issues are reviewed each year and 
required enhancements to internal control arrangements are 
identified. These required enhancements form an Action Plan that 
is monitored through the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
The Head of Assurance’s Annual report and opinion on the internal 
control environment, prepared in accordance with the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards, provides an independent opinion 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s system of 
internal control to inform the Annual Governance Statement. The 
opinion of the Head of Assurance in respect of 2015/16 is one of 
substantial assurance in respect of both financial and non-financial 
systems, giving significant confidence in the effectiveness of 
internal control arrangements of the Council. This report also 
consolidates assurance opinions and actions taken by 
management to address issues raised during internal audit reviews 
undertaken throughout 2015/16, and is informed by the comments 
of external auditors and inspectors. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement is certificated by the Council 
Leader and the Head of Paid Service. 
 
Further copies of this Statement and the Action Plan are available 
within the Annual Statement of Accounts on the Council’s website 
www.eastherts.gov.uk; alternatively paper copies can be obtained 
from:   
 
East Hertfordshire District Council  
Head of Governance and Risk Management 
Wallfields 
Pegs Lane, 
Hertford 
SG13 8EQ 
 
 Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EASTANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

ACTION PLAN 20165/176 
 
Significant governance issues 
 
The following required enhancements to internal control 
arrangements were identified during 20154/165 as a result of the 
review of arrangements and by the work of external and internal 
audit: 
 
Required enhancements to internal control arrangements: 
 

Issue Resp. Off.  Initial 
Target 
Date 

Actions needed to 
achieve milestone 

Asset 
Management 
Plan  
 

CMT Dec 
2015 

 Review assets held by 
the Council. 

 Review asset 
management system. 

 

Impact of 
Welfare 
Reform 
changes 
 

Leadership 
TeamCMT 

October
March 
2016 

 Impending Legislation 
will have an adverse 
financial impact on a 
significant number of 
residents. Officers will 
monitor the impact of 
these changes both on 
residents and the 
business of the 
Council. 

 Provide residents more 
support for services 
across the Council to 
through staffing levels, 
manage the budget 
management and the 
public 
expectationscommunic
ation with residents. 

  Implement Council 
policies effectively. 
 
 

Development 
of a District 

CMT October 
2016 

 Plan to be agreed 
within required 

Formatted: Don't adjust space
between Asian text and numbers

Page 247



 

Plan that is 
approved by 
the planning 
inspectorate.  
 

Decc’be
r 
2017 

timeframe. 

 
 
 
We propose to address the above matters to further enhance 
our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these 
steps will address the need for improvements that were 
identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation as part of our next annual 
review. 
 
Certification by the Leader of the Council and the Head of 
Paid Service: 
 
 
 
Signed………………………………….Dated………………………. 
 
Councillor Linda Haysey 
Leader of the Council 
 
 
 
Signed………………………………….Dated………………………. 
 
Liz WattsSimon Drinkwater 
Acting Chief Executive and Director of Neighbourhood 
Services 
       
 

Page 248



 

EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 
EXECUTIVE – 6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 
QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT – QUARTER 1 JUNE 2016 

 
REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT 
SERVICES                     
 
WARD (S) AFFECTED:   All 
 

       

 
Purpose/Summary of Report: 
 

 To provide a report on finance, performance and strategic risk 
monitoring for East Herts Council for 2016/17.  Information as at June 
2016 for finance and strategic risk and July 2016 for performance. 
 

 The revenue budget for 2016/17 is £14.134m. The forecast position 
as at 30 June 2016 shows an underspend of £424k in 2016/17.  

 

 The capital budget for 2016/17 is £5.578 m. The forecast position 
shows a variance of £752k underspent. 
 

 12 out of the 15 performance indicators in the corporate basket (that 
have a target) are either on target or exceeding their target as at 
July/Quarter 1 for 2016.  Three performance indicators are 6% or 
more off target (Red).  
 

 For the short term trend eight indicators out of the 18 performance 
indicators in the corporate basket are showing an improvement when 
performance is compared to the previous period. Two indicators have 
maintained the same level of performance and eight have declined.  

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE: That: 

 

(A) the revenue budget forecast underspend of £424k be noted 
(paragraph 2.1); 
 

(B) the capital budget forecast underspend of £752k be noted 
(paragraph 6.1); 
 

Page 249

Agenda Item 13



 

(C) the reported performance for the period April 2016 to July 
2016 be noted; and 
 

(D) the risk controls and addition to the Strategic Risk Register 
(paragraphs 9.1 to 9.4) be approved. 
 

 
 
1  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This is the finance, performance and risk monitoring report for the 

council. 
 

1.2 In February 2016 Council agreed a balanced budget for the 2016/17 
financial year. This report sets out the financial position for the year to 
date and provides forecasts for the outturn position. 
 

1.3 Following the Senior Management restructure in April 2016 the 
2016/17 revenue and capital budgets have been realigned in line with 
the new structure. 
 

1.4 This report contains the following sections and Essential Reference 
Papers: 
 
 

REPORT SECTIONS 

2 Revenue budgets 

3 Corporate budgets 

4 Reserves 

5 Financing 

6 Capital budgets 

7 Debtors 

8 Performance monitoring 

9 Risk 

   
 

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPERS 

B Revenue budget 

C Capital Monitor 

D Debtors, aged debt profile 

E Performance monitoring 

F 2016/17 Performance 
indicators 

G Risk 

Page 250



 

 

2  REVENUE BUDGET 
 

2.1 The Council is forecast to underspend in 2016/17 by £424k. Table 1 
below shows the current forecast outturn position as at 30 June 2016 
by Head of Service.  

 
 
 
Table 1: Revenue forecast outturn 

Original 

Budget 

2016/17

Forecast 

outturn
Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive & Directors            466            447            (19) 

Communications, Strategy & 

Policy 
        1,162         1,165                3 

HR & Organisational Development            469            458            (11) 

Strategic Finance & Property         1,445         1,393            (52) 

Housing & Health         2,434         2,293          (141) 

Democratic and Legal         1,102         1,045            (57) 

Planning & Building Control         1,045         1,014            (31) 

Operations         4,439         4,314          (125) 

Shared Revenues & Benefits 

Service
           273            263            (10) 

Shared Business & Technology 

Services
        1,299         1,318              19 

Total Net Cost of Services       14,134       13,710          (424) 
 

 
 
2.2 The key service budget variances in the forecast outturn are  

summarised below in Table 2. 
 
  

Page 251



 

 
Table 2: Quarter one service budget variances. 

Quarter One Variance 
Variance 

£’000 

Senior management restructure (177) 

Financial system consultation 40 

Charringtons House vacant office space 52 

Additional PCSO (Police Community 
Support Officer 

16 

Housing government grant (237) 

Pole Hole works 59 

Legal Services salaries (38) 

District plan expenditure 52 

Building Control consultants 30 

Pay and display income (198) 

Off street parking need 33 

Other small variances (56) 

Total Variance (424) 

 
2.3 The main variances in the forecast outturn are set out below by Head 

of Service. 
 
Strategic Finance and Property 

 
2.4 Following the senior management restructure the salary budget has 

been aligned with the new structure resulting in a £177k predicted 
underspend. 
 

2.5 The Council is looking to replace its finance system, consultants have 
been bought in to provide guidance and assistance. This will cost 
£39k in 2016/17 and will be funded through use of the Transformation 
reserve.  

 
2.6 Up until 2015/16 the Council sublet its office space at Charringtons 

House to Circle Anglia Housing Association. The Housing 
Association no longer leases this space from the Council and 
therefore these costs now fall to East Herts, an overspend against 
budget of £52k is reported. 

 
 

Page 252



 

Housing and Health 
 

2.7 The budget for PCSO’s (Police Community Support Officers) will 
overspend by £16k as 4 posts are being funded rather than the 
budgeted 3. 
 

2.8 Additional Housing government grant of £237k has been received this 
will be used to fund Disabled Facilities Grants in the Capital 
programme. 
 

2.9 The total fee for the Pole hole site works has increased this is due to 
the requirements of additional equipment at the site as ground 
conditions where worse than originally anticipated and an increase in 
time taken for works to be carried out. This has resulted in a £59k 
cost in 2016/17. 

 
Democratic and Legal 

 
2.10 It is reported that there will be underspend of £38k on salaries. 
 
Planning and Building Control 
 
2.11 It is anticipated that an additional £52k will be spent on the district 

plan preparation in 2016/17. This will be funded from the LDF/Green 
Belt reserve. 
 

2.12 Expenditure of £30k for consultation work in relation to the Building 
Control project, this will be funded from the transformation reserve. 

 
Operations 
 
2.13 It is anticipated that pay and display income from car parks will be 7% 

above the 2016/17 budget. Resulting in an additional £198k of 
income. This is due to car park usage being greater than assumed 
when the budget was set. This increase in income is in line with the 
2015/16 outturn position. 
 

2.14 Consultants have been engaged to carry out an off street parking 
need survey, to identify future parking provision requirements in the 
district. This is estimated to cost £33k and is to be funded through the 
additional pay and display income as per paragraph 2.13.  

 
 
 
 

Page 253



 

3 CORPORATE BUDGETS 
 

3.1 Corporate budgets are costs and income received by the Council that 
are not service specific these include income from the Councils 
investments, pension deficit contributions and New Homes Bonus 
grants to Town and Parish Councils. 

 
3.2 Table 3 below shows the forecast outturn position against the 

corporate budgets. Details of movements against the original budget 
are shown in the paragraphs below.  

 
Table 3: Corporate budgets forecast outturn 

Original 

Budget 

2016/17

Forecast 

outturn
Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000
 NHB Grants to Town & Parish 

Councils
         901           901               - 

Contingency Budget          150                2        (148) 

Interest Payments          662           662               - 

Interest & Investment income        (902)         (920)          (18) 

RCCO (Revenue Contribution to 

Capital Outlay)
           25             25               - 

Pension Fund Deficit contribution          600           600               - 

Corporate Budgets Total:       1,436        1,270        (166) 
 

 

3.3 Currently there is only £2k committed from the contingency budget in 
2016/17 this is to fund posts in Environmental Health. Any balance on 
this budget at the end of the year will be transferred to the 
transformation reserve. 

 
3.4 Income from investments and interest is difficult to predict given recent 

events following BrExit and uncertainty over the Bank of England 
interest rates. The £18k favourable forecast outturn position represents 
the additional income from the Councils investment in two property 
funds being above the budgeted figure, this is slightly below the 
2015/16 outturn position.  

 

4 RESERVES 
 

4.1 The Council holds earmarked reserves to fund unpredictable financial 
pressures and to smooth the effect of known spending over time. 

Page 254



 

Graphs 1 and 2 below reflect the forecast outturn position as at 30 
June 2016. 

 
4.2 Funding from reserves will offset expenditure shown in section 2 of this 

report whilst a contribution to reserves will be shown as income in the 
revenue forecast outturn. 

  
 
Graph 1: 2016/17 forecast contributions from reserves 

 
 
4.3  As at 30th June 2016 it is forecast that there will be contribution from 

reserves of £2.296m in 2016/17 this is £157k lower than approved as 
part of the 2016/17 budget setting process. The significant variances 
are reported in the following paragraphs. 

 
4.4 The transformation reserve was created to fund transitional staffing 

costs and service improvements. The total use of reserve is £82k 
below 2016/17 budget. This is made up of: 

 £39k funding for costs relating to consultants for the 
procurement of a new financial system 

 £15k to fund a new graduate from October 2016 

 £30k funding for Building Control project 

 £200k reduced use of reserve relating to a review of 
Community Safety Service 

 £19k to fund temporary posts in Environmental Health 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1,000

Transformation reserve

Local Plan reserve

New Homes Bonus - Priority Spend Reserve

Preventing Reposessions reserve

Neighbourhood planning grant

House condition survey

Collection fund reserve

Traffic Reg Order consolidation 

General Reserve

Interest Equalisation Reserve

Defra Flood Support for Local Businesses Grant 

Performance Reward Grant

2016/17 contributions from reserves

2016/17 forecast outturn £'000 2016/17 Budget £'000

Page 255



 

 
4.5 The New Homes Bonus – Priority spend reserve was established 

from unspent New Homes Bonus monies and utilised to fund items 
agreed by Leadership Team and Executive. The use of this reserve is 
£123k below budget. The main items are:  

 £200k reduced use of reserve for Old River Lane 
Planning costs. 

 £100k to fund East Herts contribution to Public Health 
projects, to match funding received from Hertfordshire 
county Council. 

 
4.6 The DEFRA flood support for local business was established from an 

unspent element of a DEFRA grant received to enable the Council to 
support local businesses following flooding in 2013/14. It is 
anticipated that £37k (the balance on the reserve) will be spent in 
2016/17.   

 
Graph 2: 2016/17 forecast contributions to reserves 

 
 

4.7 The forecast outturn contribution to reserves has increased by £10k to 
£2.438m from the 2016 /17 budgeted position. This is due to a 
Neighbourhood Planning Grant received from the DCLG in relation to 
Bishop’s Stortford south referendum which will be transferred to the 
Neighbourhood Planning Grant reserve at the end of the financial year. 

 
 

5 FINANCING 
 
5.1 These income budgets are general and non-service specific income 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1,000

General Reserve

Housing condition Survey

Provision for future whole council elections

Transformation Reserve

New Homes Bonus Priority Spend

Collection Fund Reserve

Traffic Reg Order consolidation 

MTFP transition funding reserve

NPG

2016/17 contributions to reserves

2016/17 forecast outturn £'000 2016/17 Budget £'000

Page 256



 

sources. The following pie chart shows the value and percentage split of 
these budgets.   
 

 
 
 

6 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
6.1 The revised capital programme for 2016/17 is £5.578m this includes 

slippage of £969k from 2015/16. As at 30th June 2016 an underspend 
of £752k is reported. Details of the movements against budget that 
make up this underspend can be found in the following paragraphs.  

 

6.2  The 2015/16 capital forecast expenditure is summarised in Table 6 
below. Essential Reference Paper C sets out the detailed forecast 
on each scheme. 

 
Table 6: Capital forecast outturn

£8,930k
54%

£1,956k
12%

£712k
4%

£1,145k
7% £3,602k

22%

£120k
1%

0
0% Council Tax

NDR

Section 31 Grants

RSG

New Homes Bonus

Transition Grant

(Surplus)/Deficit on 
Collection fuind

Page 257



 

 2016/17 

Original 

Budget          

 2016/17 

Revised 

Budget    

 2016/17 

Total  to 

Date            

 2016/17 

Forecast 

Outturn   

 Variance 

between 

Forecast 

Outturn & 

Revised 

Budget                   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Strategic Finance & Property 764          928           62           934            6                  

Shared Business & 

Technology Services
675          1,075        12           1,003         (72)               

Operations 1,030       1,353        101         1,360         7                  

Housing & Health 2,028       2,134        160         1,374         (760)             

Planning & Building Control 92            68             8             68              -                   

Communications, Strategy & 

Policy
20            20             -              20              -                   

Director -               -               -              67              67                

TOTAL        4,609         5,578           343           4,826             (752) 

 
 

6.3 It is anticipated that £72k of the £444k ICT (Information and 
communications Technology) rolling capital programme budget will 
not be utilised in 2016/17.  

 
6.4 A capital grant of £500k is to be paid to Network Homes to build 120 

new affordable housing units at the Ridgeway, Hertford. This is to be 
fully funded from S106 developer contributions. 

 
6.5 It is anticipated that the Community Capital Grants budget will be 

£45k underspent in 2016/17. This scheme is dependent on successful 
applicants completing their project within the 6month/1 year 
timescale.  As at 10th June 2016 it was agreed to make 9 awards. The 
next deadline for applications is September 2016. 
 

6.6 There are no current commitments against the Future social housing 
schemes, the first priority is to utilise S106 contributions which have 
been collected relating to affordable housing schemes. This budget is 
therefore showing an £821k underspend at present.  

 
6.7 A countywide review of Disabled Facilities Grants is underway. 

However the outcomes of this review are not expected to impact on 
referral rates until 2017/18. In line with the 2015/16 outturn this 
budget is expected to be £294k underspent in 2016/17.   
 

6.8 There is currently only £3k committed against the Decent Homes 
Grant capital scheme. It is unlikely that more than £50k will be 
required in 2016/17, resulting in an underspend of £50k. 

Page 258



 

 
6.9 There are only a few cases in the pipeline in respect of the capital 

Energy Grants, a maximum spend in 2016/17 of £100k is anticipated, 
this will leave £50k unspent. 
 

6.10 Capital grants totalling £67k to town and parish councils will be fully 
funded from section 106 contributions in 2016/17, these are: 

 Watton–at–Stone Parish Council - new tennis courts (£38k) 

 Bishops Stortford Town Council – path works on Sworders 
Field 

 
7. DEBTORS 
 
7.1 Total Outstanding debt as at 30th June 2016 is £1.213m. This is a 

14% decrease from the previous quarter. 
 
7.2 The outstanding debt over 120 days old totals £568k. Of this debt, 

over 90% relates to disputed invoices where negotiations are ongoing 
to collect the debt owed. The remainder of the debts over 120 days 
are invoices relating to environmental health enforcement, where a 
charge is held against property to pay the debt once the property is 
sold, or housing debts where repayments are being made with a 
payment plan over several months. 

 
7.3 Essential Reference Paper D analyses the profile of aged debtors 
 
 

8 PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 
 

Performance against targets 
 

Corporate priority: Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

  
8.1 Performance indicators for this priority are generally on target with 

only one indicator not meeting its monthly target: 
 

 EHPI 5.13c - Customer Satisfaction (GovMetric) – Website. 
Performance was ‘Red’ in July. Only 24% of respondents gave a 
'Good' satisfaction score during July. 9% gave an 'Average' score 
whereas the majority, 67% gave a 'Poor' satisfaction score for the 
website. There were 107 respondents. However, after reviewing 
customer feedback/comments many of the reasons for giving a ‘poor’ 
satisfaction was related to queries that were the responsibility of 

Page 259



 

Herts County Council i.e. road pot holes. Some customers did not 
know how to navigate the website as they didn’t know how to 
articulate what they are looking for and assumed the information was 
not available. Given in July we had 30,031 visitors to our w/site 
feedback from 107 visitors is very low. As part of the emerging Digital 
East Herts project we are exploring more effective means of 
gathering customer feedback as govmetric is highly limited.  

 
8.2 Please refer to performance indicator summary analysis in Essential 

Reference Paper E for full performance indicator analysis. 
 
Corporate priority: Enhance the quality of people’s lives 
 

8.3 All performance indicators for this priority are meeting their 
performance target. 
 

8.4 Please refer to performance indicator summary analysis in Essential 
Reference Paper E for full performance indicator analysis. 
 
Corporate priority: Enable a flourishing local economy 
 

8.5 All performance indicators for this priority are meeting their 
performance target. 

 
8.6 Please refer to performance indicator summary analysis in Essential 

Reference Paper E for full performance indicator analysis. 
 
Corporate priority: Corporate Health 
 

8.7 There are mixed levels of performance for the indicators relating to 
corporate health with four performance indicators on target and the 
remaining two indicators off target (both relating to complaints): 

 

 EHPI 5.1 - Number of complaints resolved in 14 days or less. 
Traditionally this indicator had a target of 70% (i.e. 70% all complaints 
received need to be resolved within 14 days to meet the target). 
However this was reviewed last year as overall numbers of 
complaints are low which can result in large percentage swings. 
Therefore we have stopped measuring this by percentage and instead 
aim to have all complaints resolved within 14 days.  During the first 
quarter of this year 9 complaints (out of 13 received) were dealt with 
within 14 days. Of those that were not dealt with in time 1 was 
resolved on the 14th day but this was not uploaded to Covalent the 
day after and in another case the complaint was resolved on the 15th 

Page 260



 

day. The remaining two complaints were complex in nature (relating 
to planning) and took longer to resolve.   

 

 EHPI 5.2a - Number of complaints about the Council and its 
services that are upheld a) 1st stage. As per the above we no 
longer measure this in terms of percentages. Of the 13 complaints 
received, one was closed in August so will be reported in the next 
quarterly update. For the remaining 12, our target is to have no more 
than four upheld at stage one.  Four complaints out of 12 were upheld 
at stage 1 meaning performance was off target. One related to a 
contractor driving badly which the contractor admitted, two relate to 
conditions of toilet facilities at Buntingford and two complaints relate 
to missed bin collections due to the location of where bins were 
placed (the service agreed with the customer the new location of 
where bins should be placed for future collections). 

 
8.8 Please refer to performance indicator summary analysis in Essential 

Reference Paper E for full performance indicator analysis. 
 
 
2016/17 missing performance indicators status and targets   
 

8.9 Below is an update on two performance indicators which are present 
in the 2016/17 corporate monitoring basket but have previously been 
excluded from reporting: 
 

 EHPI 133 – Pilot council tax debt intervention project (total 
appointments attended). The service have finalised the 
definitions and collection processes for this indicator and it will now 
be under the title description ‘Pilot council tax debt intervention 
project (total appointments attended)’ and not as it was formerly 
known ‘Number of referrals to money/debt advice’.  

 

 EHPI 141 – Participation in Team Herts volunteering (formerly 
‘participation in Time Banking’). The service have finalised 
definitions and collection processes for this indicator and it will now 
be under the title description ‘Participation in Team Herts 
volunteering’ and not as it was formerly known ‘participation in time 
banking’. The collection frequency of this indicator will be reported 
on a six monthly basis (financial year i.e. April to September) so 
first available data will be in quarter two.   

 
 
 

Page 261



 

Targets 
 

8.10 Members did not previously receive a report to agree the 2016/17 
performance indicator monthly and quarterly targets. Please advise if 
members have any concerns regarding the targets that have been 
set. 
 

8.11 Please refer to performance indicator summary analysis in Essential 
Reference Paper F for full list of 2016/17 performance indicators. 

 
 
9 STRATEGIC RISKS  
 
9.1 The Strategic Risk Register was last considered by The Executive on 

7 June 2016. (A standalone report was submitted as Healthcheck 
reporting takes on a different format for quarter four).  

 
9.2 The report considered on 7 June detailed the scheduled content of 

the Strategic Risk Register for 2016/17 and the differences since 
2015/16. One further new risk has been added following the 
referendum vote to leave the EU 

 
9.3 Controls implemented during the period April to June 2016 have been 

recorded together with scores for the risks as they currently stand. 
However new for 2016/17 is the introduction of a target score. This 
demonstrates where Officers believe the likelihood and / or impact 
can be mitigated. Please see Essential Reference Paper G 
 

9.4 All strategic and operational risks will be loaded to Covalent shortly. 
(All operational risks have been reviewed following the restructure). 

 
10 IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated with 

this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper A. 
 
Background Papers 
None 

 
Contact Member:  Councillor Geoff Williamson – Executive Member for 

   Finance and Support Services  
    geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 262

mailto:geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk


 

Report author:  Philip Gregory – Head of Strategic Finance and  
    Property, Ext: 2050 
    philip.gregory@eastherts.gov.uk  
 
    Ben Wood – Head of Communications, Strategy and 

   Policy, Ext: 1699 
    benjamin.wood@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

Contact Officers: 
For financial budget monitoring: 
Alison Street – Principal Accountant 
Ext: 2056  
alison.street@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

For performance monitoring: 
Karl Chui – Performance Monitoring Officer 
Ext: 2243 
karl.chui@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
For strategic risk monitoring: 
Graham Mully – Risk Assurance Officer 
Ext. 2166 
graham.mully@eastherts.gov.uk  
 
 
  

Page 263

mailto:philip.gregory@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:alison.street@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:karl.chui@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:graham.mully@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 
 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 
 

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives: 

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities  
 
Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives  
 
Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy  

 

Consultation: Discussions have taken place with Chief Executive, 
Directors, Heads of Service and external partners to 
construct an accurate revenue and capital financial 
forecast and performance report. 
 

Legal: There are no legal implications. 
  

Financial: Financial implications are included in the body of the 
report. 

Human 
Resource: 

There are no Human Resources implications. 

Risk 
Management: 

The Healthcheck report considers emerging risks to the 
in-year delivery of the Council budget and performance 
targets and sets out the mitigation of those risks. 
 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 
 

There no direct Health and Wellbeing issues arising as a 
result of the recommendations in this report. 

 
 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper B

2016/17 Revenue Forecast - Month ending June 2016

Original 

Budget 

2016/17

Budget to 

date

Actual to 

date

Variance to 

date

Forecast 

outturn
Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive & Directors              466              115                88              (27)              447              (19) 

Communications, Strategy & Policy           1,162              285              319                34           1,165                  3 

HR & Organisational Development              469              117              110                (7)              458              (11) 

Strategic Finance & Property           1,445              483              668              185           1,393              (52) 

Housing & Health           2,434              779              666            (113)           2,293            (141) 

Democratic and Legal           1,102              260              277                17           1,045              (57) 

Planning & Building Control           1,045              255              156              (99)           1,014              (31) 

Operations           4,439           1,530              772            (758)           4,314            (125) 

Shared Revenues & Benefits Service              273           9,557           8,165         (1,392)              263              (10) 

Shared Business & Technology 

Services
          1,299              325              469              144           1,318                19 

Total Net Cost of Services         14,134         13,706         11,690         (2,016)         13,710            (424) 

 NHB Grants to Town & Parish 

Councils
             901              901                   -            (901)              901                   - 

Contingency Budget              150              150                   -            (150)                  2            (148) 

Interest Payments              662              662                   -            (662)              662                   - 

Interest & Investment income            (902)            (902)                   -              902            (920)              (18) 

RCCO                25                25                   -              (25)                25                   - 

Pension Fund Deficit contribution              600              600                   -            (600)              600                   - 

Corporate Budgets Total:           1,436           1,436                   -            (836)           1,270            (166) 

Contributions to Earmarked reserves           2,429           2,428                   -         (2,428)           2,438                  9 

Contributions from Earmarked 

reserves
        (2,453)         (2,453)                   -           2,453         (2,296)              157 

Finance and Support Services 

Total:
             (25)              (25)                   -                25              142              166 

        15,545         15,117         11,690         (3,427)         15,122            (424) 

RSG         (1,145)         (1,145)                   -           1,145         (1,145)                   - 

NDR         (1,956)         (1,956)                   -           1,956         (1,956)                   - 

Section 31            (712)            (712)                   -              712            (712)                   - 

(Surplus)/Deficit on Collection fuind              917              917                   -            (917)              917                   - 

Other General Grants            (120)            (120)                   -              120            (120)                   - 

New Homes Bonus         (3,602)         (3,602)                   -           3,602         (3,602)                   - 

        (6,618)         (6,618)                   -           6,618         (6,618)                   - 

          8,927           8,499         11,690           3,191           8,504            (424) Total:

N
e

t 
C

o
s

t 
o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 B
u

d
g

e
ts

U
s

e
 o

f 
R

e
s
e

rv
e
s

Total:

F
u

n
d

in
g

Funding Total:

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

 2016/17 

Original 

Budget          

 2015/16 

Slippage               

 2016/17  

Amend-

ments   

 2016/17 

Revised 

Budget    

 2016/17 

Actual to 

Date       

 2016/17 

Commitment 

to Date            

 2016/17 

Total  to 

Date            

 2016/17 

Forecast 

Outturn   

 Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

               4,609              291              678               5,578                162                    181              343                 4,826                    (752) 

RP - ROLLING PROGRAMME

72356/7502 Fabric Improvements to Swimming 

Pools

S. Whinnett Mar-17 AMBER 40                    40                  -                  40                     -                          GREEN Survey & specification stage

72357/7502 Glazing & equalities access works to 

Swimming Pools

S. Whinnett Mar-17 AMBER 40                    40                  -                  40                     -                          GREEN Survey & specification stage

72355/7502 Grange Paddocks Teaching Pool - 

Replace existing handrail & tiles to 

walls, steps & base of pool

S. Whinnett & M. 

Kingsland

Jan-16 Jan-17 RED 34               34                  -                  34                     -                          GREEN Works programmed for Xmas closedown. 

72338/7502 Leventhorpe Swimming Pool - Renew 

main supply fan to the main pool area

S. Whinnett Sep-13 Mar-17 RED 25                    25                  -                  25                     -                          GREEN Need to review scheme as essential repairs already carried 

out. Awaiting decision on joint provision capital expenditure

72352/7531 Hartham Swimming Pool - 

Refurbishment of Pool Filters to 

ensure the efficiency of the pools 

filtration plant operation & to maintain 

the pools water quality

S. Whinnett Dec-16 Jan-17 GREEN 25                    25                  -                  25                     -                          GREEN Works programmed for Xmas closedown. 

72353/7502 Fanshawe Swimming Pool - Joint 

Provision Pools (Ward Freman, 

Leventhorpe & Fanshawe) - 

Replacement Air Conditioning to 

Offices

S. Whinnett Apr-14 Mar-17 RED 15                    15                  -                  15                     -                          GREEN Awaiting decision on joint provision capital expenditure, 

dependant on the Leisure Strategy report due in July.

72345/7531 Fanshawe Swimming Pool - 

Refurbish/Replace Pool Filters, to 

maintain efficient operation of the pool 

filter & pool water quality

S. Whinnett Not known Mar-17 RED 20                    20                  -                  20                     -                          GREEN Awaiting decision on joint provision capital expenditure, 

dependant on the Leisure Strategy report due in July.

72346/7531 Fanshawe Swimming Pool - Replace 

Pool Circulating Pumps

S. Whinnett Dec-13 Mar-17 RED 20                    20                  -                  20                     -                          GREEN Awaiting decision on joint provision capital expenditure, 

dependant on the Leisure Strategy report due in July.

OPERATIONAL BUILDINGS

71280/7502 Rolling programme for planned 

preventative capital maintenance of 

operational buildings

S. Whinnett & J. Earley RP RP 195                  105             300                -                  300                   -                          GREEN Budget in place to allow appropriate schemes to go forward 

upon provision of appropriate business case

Hertford Theatre

72706/7502 Entrance Lobby Roof - to replace the 

existing defective roof with new leak 

free, energy efficient roof and reduce 

S. Whinnett & J. Earley Sep-15 Sep-16 RED 19                    19                  15                     15               19                     -                          GREEN Orders placed, due to be completed August closedown of 

Theatre

72711/7502 Hertford Theatre - Flood Alleviation 

Works to Sump Pumps - To modify the 

existing sump pump installation to 

reduce the likelihood of any future 

flooding of the Theatre

S. Whinnett & J. Earley Aug-16 Mar-17 RED 20                    20                  -                  20                     -                          GREEN Works need to be phased to suit Theatre bookings

Head of Strategic Finance & Property

2016/17 CAPITAL MONITORING JUNE 2016

 Exp Code  2016/17 Approved Schemes 
 Project 

RAG Status 
 COMMENTS 

TOTAL

 Project Manager 
 Outturn 

RAG Status 

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 269

../../Capital Programme 15-16/Approval Forms/Grange Paddocks teaching pool relining Capital bid version 2 @ 3.12.14.doc
../../Capital Programme 11-12/2011-12 PID's/PID Leventhorpe Pool  Gym_Renew air handling plant.doc
../../Capital Programme 14-15/Hartham Pool_Filter Refurbishment.doc
../../Capital Programme 14-15/Joint Provision Pool_Renew ac units.doc
../../Capital Programme 11-12/2011-12 PID's/PID Fanshawe Pool  Gym_Replace pool circulating pumps.doc
../../Capital Programme 15-16/Approval Forms/Hertford Theatre_Entrance Lobby Roof version 2 @ 3.12.14.doc
../../Capital Programme 15-16/Approval Forms/Hertford Theatre_Flood Alleviation Works to Sump Pumps version 2 @ 3.12.14.doc


Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

 2016/17 

Original 

Budget          

 2015/16 

Slippage               

 2016/17  

Amend-

ments   

 2016/17 

Revised 

Budget    

 2016/17 

Actual to 

Date       

 2016/17 

Commitment 

to Date            

 2016/17 

Total  to 

Date            

 2016/17 

Forecast 

Outturn   

 Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

 Exp Code  2016/17 Approved Schemes 
 Project 

RAG Status 
 COMMENTS  Project Manager 

 Outturn 

RAG Status 

71286/7502 Hertford Theatre - Emergency Lighting 

works to backstage areas

S. Whinnett & J. Earley Jul-16 Jul-16 GREEN 11               11                  5                   6                       11               11                     -                          GREEN £11k drawn down from Rolling Programme for these 

emergency works

71284/7502 Buntingford Service Centre - Energy 

Saving Lighting - To replace the 

existing lighting in the recycling, 

workshop and storage area with 

energy efficient/low maintenance LED 

lighting

S. Whinnett & J. Earley Jun-16 Sep-16 AMBER 35                    10               45                  1                   33                     34               45                     -                          GREEN Quotations received, however, anticipated cost of works now 

likely to be £45,000, therefore, drawn down further £10,000 

from Rolling Programme. Need to be phased to suit depot 

users

71203/7531 Replacement of Chairs & Desks T. Smith RP RP 10                    (6)                4                    1                   1                       2                 10                     6                         RED

Charringtons House 2nd Floor Suite 

Refurbishment

71285/7502 Maximise return from Council assets 

by generating rental income & 

business rates income from 

Charringtons House for the Council 

once the suite is refurbished

A. Osborne Apr-16 Aug-16 RED 300                  300                -                  300                   -                          GREEN Refurbishment underway completion due 1st Aug.  No tenant 

escured yet.

72568/7502 North Drive, Ware - reconstruct road & 

drainage

A. Osborne Mar-10 Not known RED (2)                12               10                  -                  10                     -                          GREEN Currently in negotiation with contractor, slow progress

764      (8)      172    928      7         55         62      934       6            

-                     

71414/7531 Replacement Infrastructure P. Wain RP RP 35                    12               47                  -                  47                     -                          GREEN SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

A 5yr investment programme for the shared ICT Infrastructure 

is being developed and proposals will be brought forward 

shortly.

71416/7531 Merging IT systems - Licensing & Env 

Health

J. Geall Aug-16 9                 40               49                  7                   7                 49                     -                          GREEN Additional draw down from rolling programme for consultancy 

to support transition to the new system

71416/7513 Merging IT systems - Licensing & Env 

Health. Capital Salaries

J. Geall 15               15                  -                  25                     10                       RED Budget drawn down from rolling programme to fund contract 

extension in Env Health to support the implementation 

project. Additional costs in relation to IDOX project to be 

incurred, contract further extended for existing member of 

staff. To be drawn down from Rolling Programme. 

71431/7531 Establishment of LES & internet links 

to replace MPLS

H. Lewis Oct-16 24 24                  2 2                 24 -                          GREEN Work to migrate the data connections is now completed. 

Planning to migrate the telephony connections is now 

underway with the majority of remaining spend expected in 

Q3.

71435/7531 Funding for Applications P. Tyler RP RP 40                    (40)              -                     -                  -                        -                          GREEN This scheme has been superseded by the Rolling programme 

to fund ICT projects (71450/7531)71439/7531 Service Desk & Utilities H. Lewis Mar-17 25               25                  -                  25                     -                          GREEN Work to harmonise security software is ongoing with 

implementation expected March 2017

71440/7531 Shared service print investment costs 

50%

H. Lewis 21               21                  -                  21                     -                          GREEN SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

Work is currently being undertaken to review the way forward, 

as a number of new opportunities have been identfied. A 

business case will be presented in the near future, clear 

identifying the investment required

71449/7531 New Desktop Software H. Lewis 4                 (4)                -                     -                  -                        -                          GREEN Funds tranferred to Rolling programme (71450/7531).

Total Strategic Finance & Property

Head of Shared Business & Technology Services

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 270

../../Capital Programme 16-17/Capital Bids 16-17/Buntingford Service Centre Energy Saving Lighting.doc
../../Capital Programme 16-17/Capital Bids 16-17/Charringtons Floor 2.docx


Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

 2016/17 

Original 

Budget          

 2015/16 

Slippage               

 2016/17  

Amend-

ments   

 2016/17 

Revised 

Budget    

 2016/17 

Actual to 

Date       

 2016/17 

Commitment 

to Date            

 2016/17 

Total  to 

Date            

 2016/17 

Forecast 

Outturn   

 Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

 Exp Code  2016/17 Approved Schemes 
 Project 

RAG Status 
 COMMENTS  Project Manager 

 Outturn 

RAG Status 

71453/7531 New HR & Payroll System N. Roberson Mar-17 55               55                  -                  55                     -                          GREEN SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

NGA slected as preferred solution and project kick off taking 

place in July. First payroll on new system anticpated in Apr-

17, although some HR self-serve elements may be launched 

sooner.

71459/7531 New Finance System P. Gregory Mar-17 175 175                -                  175 -                          GREEN Tender to go out Aug/Sept, update on prices once offered. 

Predict most will be in 16/17

71460/7531 New Asset Management System P. Gregory Sep-16 Dec-16 20                    20                  -                  20                     -                          GREEN System is the next in line for implementation following the 

upgrade of Uniform to v10, anticpated completion by Dec-16

71456/7531 Client Equipment H. Lewis RP RP 5                 10               15                  3                   3                 15                     -                          GREEN Budget used to service new and replacement equipment 

needs identified within year

71458/7531 Electoral Management Software 75               75                  -                  75                     -                          GREEN The procurement documentation is complete, and the formal 

procurement process can start when it fits in with the 

service’s timetable (the european referendum has delayed 

matters).  

71461/7531 Revs & Bens EDM Solution R. Brock Dec-17 110             110                -                  110                   -                          GREEN Northgate I@W selected as the preferred solution and the 

project kick-off taking place in July.

71462/7531 Car Park Data Warehousing P. Tyler -                     -                  22                     22                       GREEN

71450/7531 Rolling programme to be utilised on 

ICT projects subject to ITSG review 

H. Lewis RP RP 405                  171             (132)            444                -                  340                   (104)                    AMBER Additional draw down anticipated for infrastructure investment 

and any early projects to support the digital strategy

675      250    150    1,075   12       -            12      1,003    (72)         Total Shared Business & Technology Services

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 271

../../Capital Programme 16-17/Capital Bids 16-17/Finance IT System - Capital Bid Form 201617 v1.1.docx


Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

 2016/17 

Original 

Budget          

 2015/16 

Slippage               

 2016/17  

Amend-

ments   

 2016/17 

Revised 

Budget    

 2016/17 

Actual to 

Date       

 2016/17 

Commitment 

to Date            

 2016/17 

Total  to 

Date            

 2016/17 

Forecast 

Outturn   

 Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

 Exp Code  2016/17 Approved Schemes 
 Project 

RAG Status 
 COMMENTS  Project Manager 

 Outturn 

RAG Status 

71253/7531 Car Park Management System - To 

implement a cost effective car park 

management system for the Council to 

manage its car parks for the next 10 

years

A. Pulham Sep-16 Dec-16 AMBER 340 340                

2

2                 340 -                          GREEN £300,000 Purchase Order placed 04/07/16. Still predict total 

spend of £340k when ancillary items such as tariff board 

amendments are included.

Refurbishment of Hertford Theatre 

Café/Bar

-                     

72712/7502 The layout, design and equipment 

provision is in need of upgrade in 

order to meet the needs of our 

customers and maximise the potential 

for revenue generation

B. Cannell Sep-16 Dec-16 AMBER 50                    50                  -                  50 -                          GREEN Some preliminary works completed re sourcing equipment 

and services, and will be focusing fully on this project from 

June with completion in December

72710/7531 Hertford Theatre replacement of 6 

lighting hoists 

B. Cannell Dec-15 Aug-16 RED 13               13                  -                  13 -                          GREEN Partly completed in 15/16, however, due to timescales of 

events at the Theatre, the remaining work will need to be 

completed in August 2016 when the Theatre closes for 2 

weeks

Refuse Collection & Recycling -                  

75165/7531 Containers Replacement Programme D. Allen RP RP 100                  19               (10)              109                30                 7                       37               109 -                          GREEN Rolling programme for containers - on target

75145/7531 Replacement Litter Bins D. Allen RP RP 6                      3                 (1)                8                    4                   4                 8 -                          GREEN Rolling programme for litter bins - on target

75152/7531 Commercial Waste Bins D. Allen RP RP 34                    11               12               57                  7                       7                 57 -                          GREEN Rolling programme for commercial bins - on target

72513/7502 Bell Street, Sawbridgeworth - 

Modernise the public convenience 

facilities, in preparation for transferring 

the operation to Sawbridgeworth Town 

Council under an agency agreement

D. Allen Sep-15 Sep-16 RED 67 67                  (2) 2 -                  67 -                          GREEN The specification has now been agreed the procurement 

process will commence once the SLA has been agreed with 

STC.

72517/7502 Hartham Pavilion Refurbishment - 

Replace public toilets, redevelop 

existing café area, create functional 

changing area for footballers & 

incorporate meeting/training room

M. Kingsland & S. 

Whinnett

Dec-15 Mar-17 RED 1                 58               59                  1                       1                 59 -                          GREEN Application being prepared for Leadership Team to request 

additional funding to cover priced specification that came in 

above initial estimate. Works still planned to be completed in 

2016/17

72522/7531 Play Area Grange Paddocks, B/S - 

Install new play area, to include new 

activity equipment & surfacing. New 

footpath & installation of new seating

I. Sharratt Mar-17 Oct-16 GREEN 95                    95                  -                  95 -                          GREEN Officers carried out desktop assessment of project in June.  

Site meeting to explore the location and review the PID due in 

July.  Public engagement with stakeholders and residents is 

planned for late July 16 during the summer holidays. 

 Construction should be completed by October 16.
72504/7531 Play equipment & infrastructure 

replacement

I. Sharratt RP RP 50                    50                  -                  50 -                          GREEN A project is underway with CMS to design the Hartham 

Common & Beyond scheme part of which will be funded 

through this budget along with a range of play area and 

access improvements across the district to be finalised in 

August 16 and delivered by March 17
72516/7531 Play Area, The Bourne, Ware (Phase 

2) - Installation of a fitness & play 

facility for older children & open space 

access improvements

I. Sharratt Mar-16 Aug-16 AMBER 41               41                  45                     45               48 7                         GREEN Public engagement completed. Tender awarded. Works on 

site stated 4
th

 July and the major elements of the project to be 

completed by end July.  Supplier issues with product 

manufacture means that a final item of equipment to be 

installed by end August. Due to non delivery of expected 

grant, this scheme will overspend, however, it has been 

agrred that £6,500 is to be funded from Weston Homes S106 

monies. 

72508/7531 Hartham Common, Hertford - 

Preliminary works associated with the 

development of the major play site 

development project to be undertaken 

in 2016/17 in accordance with 

Hartham Common Development Plan

I. Sharratt Mar-13 Mar-17 RED 25                    25                  -                  25 -                          GREEN Early discussions under way with potential suppliers to gauge 

scope.  CMS commissioned to assist in drawing up a draft 

brief.  Works should be tendered by August 16 and designs 

delivered by December 16.  Need to establish whether 

section 106 funds itemised in PID are now available, also to 

ensure that any emerging plans from Leisure Strategy are 

taken into consideration where wider scope may be 

beneficial.

72521/7502 Open Space improvements Bishop's 

Park, B/S - Installation of a car park, 

footpath improvements & health/play 

facilities

I. Sharratt Mar-17 Mar-17 GREEN 106 106                -                  106 -                          GREEN Early discussions under way with Hertfordshire Highways.  

Now arranging to liaise with County officers to explore Rights 

of Way further and opportunities for joined up approach with 

Safer Routes to School.   Preliminary designs have been 

considered and public engagement is planned for August 16.  

Project to be delivered by March 17.

72507/7531 Pishiobury Park, Sawbridgeworth - 

Wetland Habitat Project - 

improvements to boardwalk/paths 

permitting safe access to the wetland 

area of the park

I. Sharratt Mar-13 Oct-16 RED 12 12                  -                  12 -                          GREEN Plans still temporarily on hold due to delays in completing 

agreement with current owners of the Osier Bed woodland.  

 EHC legal documents to secure the transfer have now been 

issued following agreement from the owners who are 

currently instructing their solicitors.  Works are unlikely to be 

possible over the summer due to bird nesting but should go 

ahead in October 16.

72511/7531 Buryfield Recreation Ground, Ware - 

Installation of play area to encourage 

healthy activity for younger children 

I. Sharratt 3 3                    3                       3                 3 -                          GREEN Retention only

Head of Operations

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 272

../../Capital Programme 16-17/Capital Bids 16-17/Car Park Management System.docx
../../Capital Programme 16-17/Capital Bids 16-17/hertfordtheatrebarcaferefurbishmentcapitalbid.doc
../../Capital Monitoring 15-16/PIDS in relation to current programme/CMT_MINUTES_8_September_2015_AGREED.pdf
../../Capital Programme 14-15/Bell Street.doc
../../Capital Programme 15-16/Approval Forms/Hartham Pavilion Capital bid October 2014.doc
../../Capital Programme 15-16/Approval Forms/Capital project approval- Grange Paddocks - installation of play area v13 11 14.doc
../../Capital Monitoring 15-16/PIDS in relation to current programme/Capital project approval- The Bourne - open space and play improvements (phase 2) v13 11 14.doc
../../Capital Programme 15-16/Approval Forms/Capital project approval- Bishop's Park - open space improvements v13 11 14.doc


Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

 2016/17 

Original 

Budget          

 2015/16 

Slippage               

 2016/17  

Amend-

ments   

 2016/17 

Revised 

Budget    

 2016/17 

Actual to 

Date       

 2016/17 

Commitment 

to Date            

 2016/17 

Total  to 

Date            

 2016/17 

Forecast 

Outturn   

 Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

 Exp Code  2016/17 Approved Schemes 
 Project 

RAG Status 
 COMMENTS  Project Manager 

 Outturn 

RAG Status 

75168/7502 Energy Efficiency & Carbon Reduction 

Measures - Installation of solar panels 

at Wallfields, Hertford

D. Thorogood/S. Whinnett Mar-12 Oct-16 RED 45               45                  -                  45 -                          GREEN Discussions taken place with possible suppliers regarding 

option feasibility.  Potential contractors are being asked to 

provide revised costings and estimated Fit paybacks for the 

project (after revisions to government FiT payments earlier 

this year). Assuming paybacks are satisfactory scheme 

expected Autumn 2016.

72591/7502 Castle Weir Micro Hydro Scheme - To 

provide a small Hydro-electricity 

turbine in the river Lee at Hertford 

Weir.  This is an invest to save project 

and will generate electricity providing 

power for Hertford Theatre and for sale 

to the Grid.  The scheme is subject to 

a rigorous approval process by the 

Environment Agency for flood risk and 

protection of biodiversity.

D. Thorogood Mar-12 Mar-17 RED 201                  201                -                  201 -                          GREEN Waiting for EA and their consultants to agree final operating 

protocols together with revised water flow data following 

improvement works and automation of the main weir gates, 

which impacts upon flood risk modelling for the hydro 

scheme. Once confirmed will allow revised modelling to be 

completed  and scheme to progress. Project completion 

currently anticipated March 2017.

74105/7601 Environmental Enhancements to East 

Herts town centres

P. Pullin Not known Mar-17 RED 28               28                  -                  28 -                          GREEN This scheme was expected to complete last year but there 

have been delays in the delivery of the Tudor Square project 

by Ware Town Council. Town Council have given 

reassurances that the scheme will be delivered this year.

74106/7531 Market Improvement Scheme P. Pullin Mar-17 RED 23                    21               44                  2                   2                 44 -                          GREEN This expenditure is expected to be delivered in this financial 

year but is dependent on Herts Highways developing a Traffic 

Regulation Order for Bull Plain in Hertford. If there are any 

further delays then a recommendation will go forward to 

withdraw this scheme

-                     -                  

1,030   49      274    1,353   34       67         101    1,360    7            
-                     -                  

-                     -                  

72442/7601 Community Capital grants - to provide 

the right tools for people to get 

involved with projects that improve 

facilities such as green spaces or 

community buildings – inspiring 

ownership and pride.  

C. Pullen RP Jan-02 120                  (24)              41               137                20                 20               92 (45)                      AMBER As of 10/6/16, it was agreed to make 9 awards, leaving 

£51,423 in the budget to allocate in the next funding round.    

Next deadline is 5 September.  Note: spending this budget is 

always dependant on successful applicants being able to 

complete their project within the 1 year time frame or 6 

months in case of a small capital grant.   It is estimated that 

92k of the budget will be spent by the end of financial year.

72685/7601 Future Social Housing Schemes L. Harris 821                  821                -                  0 (821)                    RED No current commitments.  First priority is to spend S106 sums 

which have been collected for affordable housing.

72685/7601 Ridgeway Scheme, Hertford (Network 

Homes)

L. Harris -                     -                  500 500                     GREEN Grant to be paid to Network Homes - fully funded from S106 

commuted sum. To build 120 new build properties which will 

all be affordable housing units

Private Sector Improvement Grants -                     -                  

72602/7601 Disabled Facilities (Govt funding of 

£530,136 rec'd for 16/17)

S. Winterburn RP RP 694                  694                65                 65               400 (294)                    AMBER Waiting for EA and their consultants to agree final operating 

protocols together with revised water flow data following 

improvement works and automation of the main weir gates, 

which impacts upon flood risk modelling for the hydro 

scheme. Once confirmed w

72605/7601 Disabled Facilities - Discretionary S. Winterburn RP RP 100                  100                -                  50 (50)                      RED Current commitment on DDFG budget is only £3.1K. Unlikely 

to need more than £50K.

72606/7601 Decent Home Grants S. Winterburn RP RP 150                  150                8                   8                 100 (50)                      AMBER A few cases in pipeline. Current commitment +spend is £15k. 

Anticipate max spend of £100k.

72604/7601 Energy Grants S. Winterburn RP RP 20                    38               58                  -                  58 -                          GREEN Scope to expand range of measures was identified in energy 

strategy, to include higher cost measures enabling spend of 

budget.

71201/7513 Capital Salaries P. Gregory RP RP 26                    26                  -                  26 -                          GREEN

75160/7502 River & Watercourse Structures - 

Improve, maintain & renew structures 

along rivers and watercourses to 

alleviate possible flooding throughout 

the district.

G. Field RP RP 47                    8                 55                  11                     11               55 -                          GREEN Awaiting quotes from specialist contractor to carry out 

structural bridge surveys on East Herts owned bridges. These 

are carried out every 2 years and if  remedial works are 

identified  these will be carried out depending on priority & 

budget available. 

75172/7502 Air Quality Capital Grant Scheme - 

Subway improvement works in 

Hertford to include bespoke artwork & 

signage

G. Field Jul-15 Sep-16 RED 1                 1                    -                  1 -                          GREEN Small underspend from 15/16 (from DEFRA Grant of 

£31,320), to be used to install information signage. 

Total Head of Operations

Head of Housing & Health

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 273



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

 2016/17 

Original 

Budget          

 2015/16 

Slippage               

 2016/17  

Amend-

ments   

 2016/17 

Revised 

Budget    

 2016/17 

Actual to 

Date       

 2016/17 

Commitment 

to Date            

 2016/17 

Total  to 

Date            

 2016/17 

Forecast 

Outturn   

 Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

 Exp Code  2016/17 Approved Schemes 
 Project 

RAG Status 
 COMMENTS  Project Manager 

 Outturn 

RAG Status 

75163/7502 Land Management Programme - Land 

Management Asset Register & 

Associated Works

G. Field RP RP 50                    (4)                22               68                  8                   28                     36               68 -                          GREEN Works are ongoing. Many assets have been identified and 

surveyed with areas still to investigate. The data will be 

correlated and any remedial works that are identified will be 

carried out depending on priority & budget available. 

75163/7513 Land Management Programme - Land 

Management Asset Register & 

Associated Works. Capital Salaries

G. Field RP RP 4                 4                    -                  4 -                          GREEN To fund 7 1/2 hour post until September 16

75173/7531 Air Pollution Monitoring Equipment G. Field Feb-16 Jul-16 RED 20               20                  20                     20               20 -                          GREEN Fully funded from HCC Contribution

-                     -                  

2,028   1        105    2,134   101     59         160    1,374    (760)       
-                     -                  

-                     -                  

74102/7601 Historic Building Grants - Enable 

grants to be offered to the owners of 

historic buildings to encourage their 

maintenance and upkeep.

K. Steptoe RP RP 92                    (1)                (23)              68                  8                   8                 68                     -                          GREEN Claimants have 6 months from grant offer date to complete 

works. Maximum payment now £2,000. However, if a grant is 

approved for a property on the Buildings at Risk Register, 

maximum payment will be £10,000.  

71252/7531 Device Responsive Template - 

Revised website templates including 

new navigation, enhanced accessibility 

and device responsiveness

A. McWilliams Not known Sep-16 20                    20                  -                  20                     -                          GREEN Officers working on action plan with Goss (supplier)

Director
72523/7502 Watton-at-Stone Parish Council - New 

Tennis Courts (fully funded from S106)

A. Taylor -                     -                  38                     38                       GREEN Fully funded from S106 as agreed at  CMT 9.2.16

72524/7502 Bishops Stortford Town Council - path 

works on Sworders Field (fully funded 

from S106)

A. Taylor -                     -                  

29                     

29                       GREEN Fully funded from S106 as agreed in May 2014

Head of Planning & Building Control

Head of Communications, Strategy & 

Total Housing & Health

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 274

../../Capital Monitoring 15-16/PIDS in relation to current programme/Land Management Programme Project Approval form Dec 2014.doc
../../Leadership Team Report/Watton at Stone Tennis Court agreement S106.pdf
../../Leadership Team Report/Sworder Field Path agreement S106.pdf


Year Debtor Raised Bal O/S Bal O/S Bal O/S Bal O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S

Qtr2 14/15 Qtr3 14/15 Qtr 4 14/15 Qtr1 15/16 Qtr2 15/16 Qtr3 15/16 Qtr4 15/16 Qtr1 16/17

2004/05 255               240               225                   210                         195.00                      180                          165.00               150.00                  

2008/09 2,020            1,960            1,900                1,840                     1,780.00                   1,720                       1,660.00           1,600.00               

2009/10 2,414            222               1,830                1,598                     1,456.39                   1,384                       558.00               456.00                  

2010/11 3,896            3,896            3,586                2,931                     2,699.00                   2,618                       2,005.00           1,744.00               

2011/12 22,157          21,603          20,367              17,985                   17,691.49                 9,341                       7,987.22           7,678.22               

2012/13 130,612       129,837       126,858           125,403                 125,097.16               119,606                  118,505.14       117,801.14          

2013/14 172,798       163,501       158,003           154,802                 153,976.34               153,655                  151,124.40       149,949.22          

2014/15 628,949       851,923       1,104,696        219,061                 136,943.43               130,216                  124,627.53       122,485.71          

2015/16 -                -                -                    521,475                 1,538,752.75           1,217,492               1,019,900.02    228,551.72          

2016/17 -                -                -                    -                          -                             -                           -                     582,929.44          

TOTAL 963,100       1,173,182    1,417,465        1,045,304              1,978,592                 1,636,213               1,426,532         1,213,345             

#REF! #REF! 21.81                20.82                     26.26-                         461,519.37

583,784.79

Essential reference paper D

The following graph shows the Council's aged debt by year that the debt was raised. This position is shown for the most recent period and the 

preceding 7 periods. The debt outstanding as at 30th June 2016 is £1.2m

The following graph shows the age of the £1.2m of debts outstanding as at 30th June 2016.

<30 30-60 60-90 90-120 >120

Debtors 482,522 23,092 19,260 120,957 567,515

 -

 100,000

 200,000

 300,000

 400,000

 500,000

 600,000

£
 

Aged debtors as at 30th June 2016 

 -

 200,000

 400,000

 600,000

 800,000

 1,000,000

 1,200,000

 1,400,000

 1,600,000

 1,800,000

 2,000,000

Qtr2 14/15 Qtr3 14/15 Qtr 4 14/15 Qtr1 15/16 Qtr2 15/16 Qtr3 15/16 Qtr4 15/16 Qtr1 16/17

Analysis of aged  debt  by year 

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

2013/14

2012/13

2011/12

2010/11

2009/10

2008/09

2004/05

Page 275



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper E 

1 

 

July/Quarter 1 Executive 

 

 

Corporate Priority 1: Improve the health and wellbeing of our communities                                                                                                         Period: July/Quarter 1 for 2016/17 
 

 

PI Code & Name  Status Current 
Target 

Value Movement 
since last 
period 

Direction of travel 
(rolling 12 months or 
4 quarters) 

Comments  

Outcome: Residents living active and healthy lives 

EHPI 140 Number of over 50s participating in 

'Forever Active' programme. 

Trend only 
Trend 

only 
648 

New PI for 
2016/17 so 

no trend 

comparison 
for this 

quarter. 
 

Attendance is within expectations of the project. 648 people mainly between 

the ages of 50 and 75 have participated in a Forever Active sports and 
physical activity class at least once. Future ‘come and try’ events in quarter 

three could further encourage participation.  

Outcome: Support for our vulnerable families and individuals 

EHPI 181 Time taken to process Housing Benefit 
new claims and change events. (MINIMISING 

INDICATOR) 

G 

12.00 
days 

7.63 
days  

 

Performance exceeding target. 

EHPI 151 Number of homeless households living in 
temporary accommodation at the end of the quarter. 

(MINIMISING INDICATOR)  

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

23 
 

 

At end of June 2016 there were 23 households in temporary accommodation. 
The council owned temporary accommodation (hostel) had 11 out 12 flats 
occupied with a twelfth household due to move in on 1 July 2016 to take it to 

capacity. Five households were in B&B: one household was waiting for hostel 
accommodation the remaining were either due to move out soon or their 
circumstances are such that they are not suitable for hostel. Five households 

were in temporary supported accommodation due to mental health issues 
and two are in longer-term private sector leased property.  

EHPI 150 Number of prevented homeless 
applications  

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

61 

New PI for 
2016/17 so 

no trend 
comparison 

for this 
quarter. 

 

The council prevented 61 households from becoming homeless by the 
provision of advice to relieve homelessness or securing alternative 
accommodation through the housing register, supported accommodation or 

actively assisting the household secure accommodation in the private rented 
sector.  

P
age 277



Essential Reference Paper E 

2 

 

EHPI 132 Percentage of full applications for Disabled 
Facilities Grant approved within 7 weeks.  G 

95% 100% 

 

  

Performance exceeding target. 3 grants approved in July all within the target 
time of 35 days.  

EHPI 133 Pilot council tax debt intervention project 
(total appointments attended) 

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

6 
 

 

Three 1st appointments attended, One 2nd appointments attended and Two 
3rd appointments attended.  

Outcome: Communities engaged in local issues 

EHPI 5.13a Customer Satisfaction (GovMetric) - 
Face to Face.  G 

80% 84% 
 

  

In face to face interactions, 84% of respondents gave a 'Good' satisfaction 
level. 7.5% were 'Average' with 8.5% of respondents declaring a 'Poor' 

satisfaction. There were 212 respondents in total.  

EHPI 5.13b Customer Satisfaction (GovMetric) - 
Telephone.  

N/A 90% N/A N/A 

 

No feedback was given in the July period.  

EHPI 5.13c Customer Satisfaction (GovMetric) - 

Website.  R 
35% 24% 

 

 

Only 24% of respondents gave a 'Good' satisfaction score during July. 9% 

gave an 'Average' score whereas the majority, 67% gave a 'Poor' satisfaction 
score for the website. There were 107 respondents. However, after reviewing 
customer feedback/comments many of the reasons for giving a ‘poor’ 

satisfaction was related to queries that were the responsibility of Herts 
County Council i.e. road pot holes. Some customers did not know how to 

navigate the website as they didn’t know how to articulate what they are 
looking for and assumed the information was not available. Given in July we 
had 30,031 visitors to our w/site feedback from 107 visitors is very low. As 

part of the emerging Digital East Herts project we are exploring more 
effective means of gathering customer feedback as govmetric is highly 

limited. 

EHPI 5.12a Social Media: Number of followers 
(twitter followers).  

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

6643 

New PI for 
2016/17 so 

no trend 
comparison 

for this 

quarter. 
 

The breakdown for the quarter is as follows:  
April: 6382  
May: 6498  
June: 6643  

P
age 278



Essential Reference Paper E 

3 

 

EHPI 5.12b Social Media: Number of followers 
(facebook likes).  

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

1,321 

New PI for 

2016/17 so 
no trend 

comparison 

for this 
quarter. 

 

The total number of likes for quarter 1 is 1321.  

 
The breakdown for the quarter is as follows:  
April: 425  

May: 439  
June: 457  

 

 

 

 

Corporate Priority 2: Enhance the quality of people’s lives                                                                                                                                  Period: July/Quarter 1 for 2016/17 
 

 

PI Code & Name  Status Current 
Target 

Value Movement 
since last 

period 

Direction of travel 
(rolling 12 months 

or 4 quarters) 

Comments  

Outcome: Attractive places 

EHPI 2.4 (47) Fly-tips: removal. (MINIMISING 
INDICATOR)  G 2.00 

days 
1.68 
days  

 

Performance is well within target and an improvement on quarter four last 
year.  

EHPI 191 Residual household waste per household. 
(MINIMISING CUMULATIVE INDICATOR)  

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

112 kgs 
 

 

At 112kg waste is down 6.35kg on the same period last year. The service is 
hoping this slight downward trend continues throughout the rest of the year.  

EHPI 192 Percentage of household waste sent for 
reuse, recycling and composting. (MAXIMISING 

INDICATOR)  

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

54.17% 
 

 

A low waste month has seen the recycling rate hit 54.17% compared to 
51.59% for the same period last year. Garden waste and recycling tonnage 

are both lower than the previous month.  

EHPI 2.2 Waste: missed collections per 100,000 
collections of household. (MINIMISING INDICATOR)  G 

30.00 28.06 
 

  

Higher than the preceding month but within target. The service will discuss 

this with the contractor to ensure we remain within target.  

P
age 279



Essential Reference Paper E 

4 

 

Outcome: Future housing development meeting the needs of the district 

EHPI 157a Processing of planning applications: 
Major applications. (MAXIMISING INDICATOR)  G 

60.00% 92.00% 
 

 

Performance exceeding target. 11 out of 12 applications processed on time. 

EHPI 157b Processing of planning applications: 
Minor applications. (MAXIMISING INDICATOR)  G 

80.00% 93.00% 
 

 

Performance exceeding target. 106 out of 114 applications processed on 
time. 

EHPI 157c Processing of planning applications: Other 
applications. (MAXIMISING INDICATOR)  G 

90.00% 97.00% 
 

 

Performance exceeding target. 524 out of 548 applications processed on 
time. 

EHPI 205 Percentage of site visits undertaken in 
relation to urgent cases within 2 workings days of 
‘start date’.  

G 
100% 100% 

 

 

Performance on target. 3 out of 3 site visits undertaken within 2 working 
days of ‘start date’ 

 

P
age 280



Essential Reference Paper E 

5 

 

 

Corporate Priority 3: Enable a flourishing local economy                                                                                                                                        Period: July/Quarter 1 for 2016/17 
 

 

PI Code & Name  Status Current 

Target 

Value Movement 

since last 
period 

Direction of travel 

(rolling 12 months or 
4 quarters) 

Comments  

Outcome: Support for our businesses and the local economy 

EHPI 8 % of invoices paid on time. (MAXIMISING 

INDICATOR)  G 
98.50% 99.18 

 

  

Performance exceeding target. 

Outcome: Vibrant town centres 

EHPI 11.6 Town centre footfall (proxy measure 
based on Wi-Fi connections on market days).  

Trend only 
Trend 
only 

4,946 
 

 

There were a total of 4,946 distinct clients for the July period with a daily 
average of 463 clients. This indicator relates to market days in Bishops 

Stortford only and does not include those in Hertford or Ware etc.  

 

P
age 281



Essential Reference Paper E 

6 

 

 

Corporate Priority: All three                                                                                                                                                                             Period: July/Quarter 1 for 2016/17 
 

 

PI Code & Name  Status Current 

Target 

Value Movement 

since last 
period 

Direction of travel 

(rolling 12 months 
or 4 quarters) 

Comments  

Corporate Health 

EHPI 5.1 Number of complaints resolved in 14 days 
or less.  R 

13 9 

New PI for 
2016/17 so 

no trend 

comparison 
for this 

quarter. 
  

Traditionally this indicator had a target of 70% (i.e. 70% all complaints 
received need to be resolved within 14 days to meet the target). However 

this was reviewed last year as overall numbers of complaints are low which 
can result in large percentage swings. Therefore we have stopped measuring 

this by percentage and instead aim to have all complaints resolved within 14 
days.  During the first quarter of this year 9 complaints (out of 13 received) 
were dealt with within 14 days. Of those that were not dealt with in time 1 

was resolved on the 14th day but this was not uploaded to Covalent the day 
after and in another case the complaint was resolved on the 15th day. The 

remaining two complaints were complex in nature (relating to planning) and 
took longer to resolve. 

EHPI 5.2a Number of complaints about the Council 
and its services that are upheld a) 1st stage.  R 

4 5 

New PI for 
2016/17 so 

no trend 

comparison 
for this 
quarter.   

As per the above we no longer measure this in terms of percentages. Of the 
13 complaints received, one was closed in August so will be reported in the 
next quarterly update. For the remaining 12, our target is to have no more 

than four upheld at stage one.  Four complaints out of 12 were upheld at 
stage 1 meaning performance was off target. One related to a contractor 

driving badly which the contractor admitted, two relate to conditions of toilet 
facilities at Buntingford and two complaints relate to missed bin collections 
due to the location of where bins were placed (the service agreed with the 

customer the new location of where bins should be placed for future 
collections). 

EHPI 10.2 Council tax collection, % of current year 
liability collected. (MAXIMISING CUMULATIVE 

INDICATOR)  
G 

38.8% 38.7% 
 

 

Collection rates remain on target.  

EHPI 10.4 NNDR (Business rates) collection, % of 

current year liability collected. (MAXIMISING 
CUMULATIVE INDICATOR)  

G 
39.2% 38.9% 

 

 

Collection rates performing within target threshold.  

 

 

 
 

 

P
age 282



Essential Reference Paper E 

7 

 

 

 
Key: 

 

G Performance is on target or exceeding 
target  

Performance has improved compared to 
the previous period 

A 
Performance is 1-5% off target 

 

Performance has stayed the same 
compared to the previous period 

R 
Performance is 6% or more off target 

 

Performance has declined compared to 
the previous period 

 

P
age 283



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper F

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

NEW - EHPI 130 Number of Green Flag awards. Operations Annual 2
Environment and 

the Public Space

NEW - EHPI 140
Number of over 50s participating in 'Forever 

Active' programme. 

Health and 

Housing

Six monthly 

(Calendar year) / 

Annual

New PI N/A 854
Health and 

Wellbeing

EHPI 181
Time taken to process Housing Benefit  new 

claims and change events.

Shared Revenues 

and Benefits 
Monthly / Annual 9.73 days 10 days 10 days 10 days

Health and 

Wellbeing

EHPI 151
Number of households living in temporary 

accommodation.

Housing and 

Health
Quarterly / Annual 19

Health and 

Wellbeing

New - EHPI 150 Number of prevented homeless applications.
Housing and 

Health
Quarterly / Annual 229

Health and 

Wellbeing

EHPI 155
Number of affordable homes delivered 

(gross).

Housing and 

Health
Annual 147 125 125 125

Health and 

Wellbeing

NEW - EHPI 132

Percentage of full applications for Disabled 

Facilities Grant (DFG) approved within 7 

weeks

Housing and 

Health
Monthly / Annual 100% 95% 95% 95%

Health and 

Wellbeing

NEW - EHPI 133
Pilot council tax intervention project (total 

appointments attended).

Shared Revenues 

and Benefits 
Monthly / Annual New PI N/A ?? ?? ??

Health and 

Wellbeing

EHPI 3 Overall satisfaction with the authority.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Biannual 69%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

New - EHPI 5.13a
Customer Satisfaction (GovMetric) - Face to 

Face.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Monthly / Annual 83% 80% 80% 80%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

New - EHPI 5.13b
Customer Satisfaction (GovMetric) - 

Telephone.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Monthly / Annual 92% 90% 90% 90%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

New - EHPI 5.13c Customer Satisfaction (GovMetric) - Website.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Monthly / Annual 35% 35% 35% 35%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

NEW - EHPI 141 Participation in Team Herts volunteering
Health and 

Housing

Six monthly 

(financial year) / 

Annual

New PI N/A 200 200 200
Health and 

Wellbeing

NEW - EHPI 5.10
Percentage of services accessible via digital 

channels.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy - via 

Channel Shift 

Project Team

Annual New PI N/A

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

NEW - EHPI 5.11
Percentage of broadband accessibility in the 

district.
Operations Annual New PI N/A

Economic 

Development

NEW - EHPI 5.12a
Social Media: Number of followers (twitter 

followers).

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Quarterly / Annual 6274 Leader

NEW - EHPI 5.12b
Social Media: Number of followers (facebook 

likes).

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Quarterly / Annual 408 Leader

EHPI 2.4 Fly-tips: removal. Operations Quarterly / Annual 1.88 days 2 days 2 days 2 days
Environment and 

the Public Space

N/A - Trend only indicator

N/A - Trend only indicator

N/A - Trend only indicator

2015/16 

Outturn

2015/16 Residents Survey results 

due to be presented to Scrutiny 

Committee in May 2016. New 

target to be set by June 2016.

Targets to be set after first full 

year (2016/17)

Outcome: Attractive places

2016/17 Quarterly Report - Executive and CBS Dashboard

Code Indicator / Action 
Lead Service / 

Data Source

Monitoring 

Frequency
Portfolio Holder

Corporate Priority 1: Improve the health and wellbeing of our communities

Outcome: Residents living active and healthy lives

Outcome: Support for our vulnerable families and individuals

Outcome: Communities engaged in local issues

Corporate Priority 2: Enhance the quality of people’s lives

Future targets - Annual

N/A - Trend only indicator

In total the dashboard will report on 42 performance indicators, of which 28 will be reported in the quarterly report and 13 will be reported annually and 1 biannually. 

Some performance indicators still need targets set, however in the past if no data exists the first year has been used to establish the baseline.

To be determined later

N/A - Trend only indicator

N/A - Trend only indicator

1 Page 285



Essential Reference Paper F

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

2015/16 

Outturn
Code Indicator / Action 

Lead Service / 

Data Source

Monitoring 

Frequency
Portfolio Holder

Future targets - Annual

EHPI 195a
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness: Litter.
Operations Annual 3% 2% 2% 2%

Environment and 

the Public Space

EHPI 195b
Improved street and environmental 

cleanliness: Detritus.
Operations Annual 8% 7% 7% 7%

Environment and 

the Public Space

EHPI 64
Vacant dwellings returned to occupation or 

demolished.

Housing and 

Health
Annual 11 10 10 10

Environment and 

the Public Space

EHPI 191 Residual household waste per household. Operations Monthly / Annual 467 kg 475 kgs 470 kgs 470 kgs
Environment and 

the Public Space

EHPI 192
Percentage of household waste sent for 

reuse, recycling and composting.
Operations Monthly / Annual 48.69% 50% 50% 50%

Environment and 

the Public Space

EHPI2.2 (45)
Waste: missed collections per 100,000 

collections of household waste.
Operations Monthly / Annual 22.47 30.00 30.00 30.00

Environment and 

the Public Space

New - EHPI 149
Percentage of affordable housing delivered on 

affordable sites.

Housing and 

Health or Planning 

and Building 

Control

Annual
60% 

(estimate)

Health and 

Wellbeing

EHPI 157a
Processing of planning applications: major 

applications.

Planning and 

Building Control
Monthly / Annual 78.00% 60.00% 60.00% 60.00%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

N/A - Trend only indicator

Outcome: Future housing development meeting the needs of the district 

2Page 286



Essential Reference Paper F

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

2015/16 

Outturn
Code Indicator / Action 

Lead Service / 

Data Source

Monitoring 

Frequency
Portfolio Holder

Future targets - Annual

EHPI 157b
Processing of planning applications: minor 

applications.

Planning and 

Building Control
Monthly / Annual 89.00% 80.00% 80.00% 80.00%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

EHPI 157c
Processing of planning applications: other 

applications.

Planning and 

Building Control
Monthly / Annual 92.00% 90.00% 90.00% 90.00%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

New - EHPI 205

Percentage of site visits undertaken in 

relation to urgent cases within 2 workings 

days of ‘start date’.

Planning and 

Building Control
Monthly / Annual New PI N/A 100% 100% 100%

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

EHPI 154 Net additional homes provided.
Planning and 

Building Control
Annual

TBA 

(December 

2016)

455 737 748

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

EHPI 159 Supply of ready to develop housing sites.
Planning and 

Building Control
Annual

TBA 

(December 

2016)

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

New - EHPI 11.3a Business Counts: Local units in East Herts. Operations Annual 8,505
Economic 

Development

New - EHPI 11.3b Business Counts: Enterprises in East Herts. Operations Annual 7,625
Economic 

Development

EHPI 8 Percentage of invoices paid on time.
Strategic Finance 

and Property
Monthly / Annual 98.23% 98.50% 98.50% 98.50%

Finance and 

Support Services

New - EHPI 11.6
Town centre footfall (proxy measure based on 

Wi-Fi connections).

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Monthly / Annual
41,537 

(Baseline)

Economic 

Development

New - EHPI 5.6 Total number of jobs in East Herts. Operations Annual
69000 

(2015)

Economic 

Development

Amended - EHPI 

5.1

Number of complaints resolved in 14 days or 

less.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Quarterly / Annual 77.63% 67 67 67

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

Amended - EHPI 

5.2a

Number of complaints about the Council and 

its services that are upheld a) 1st stage.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Quarterly / Annual 24.60% 22 22 22

Development 

Management and 

Council Support

EHPI 10.2
Council tax collection, % of current year 

liability collected.

Shared Revenues 

and Benefits 
Monthly / Annual 98.4% 98.6% 98.8% 98.6%

Finance and 

Support Services

EHPI 10.4
NNDR (Business Rates) collection, % of 

current year liability collected.

Shared Revenues 

and Benefits 
Monthly / Annual 97.8% 97.5% 98.0% 98.0%

Finance and 

Support Services

EHPI 12c
Total number of sickness absence days per 

FTE staff in post.

Human Resources 

and Organisation 

Development

Monthly / Annual 5.62 days N/A

New - EHPI 5.15
FOI compliance: Percentage of FOI requests 

responded to within 20 working days.

Communications, 

Strategy and 

Policy

Monthly / Annual 82.00% 90% 90% 90%
Finance and 

Support Services

New performance indicator

N/A - Trend only indicator

Corporate Priority 3: Enable a flourishing local economy

Outcome: Support for our businesses and the local economy

Targets are to be set by HR 

Committee in July 2016

N/A - Trend only indicator

N/A - Trend only indicator

N/A - Trend only indicator

N/A - Trend only indicator

Outcome: Vibrant town centres

Outcome: Working with others, to have achieved the right infrastructure for our businesses and communities

Supporting Corporate Priorities 1, 2 and 3

Corporate Health

No performance indicators measure this outcome however key actions contained in the Corporate Strategic Plan and Service Plans do.

3 Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



DP  DP 
 
 

 

  MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
DISTRICT PLANNING EXECUTIVE PANEL 
HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD ON THURSDAY 
21 JULY 2016, AT 7.00 PM 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor L Haysey (Chairman) 
  Councillors E Buckmaster and G Jones. 
   
 ALSO PRESENT:  

 
  Councillors A Alder, M Allen, P Ballam, 

R Brunton, S Bull, I Devonshire, M Freeman, 
M McMullen, T Page, M Pope, S Rutland-
Barsby and R Standley. 

   
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
  Chris Butcher - Principal Planning 

Officer 
  Martin Ibrahim - Democratic 

Services Team 
Leader 

  Lorraine Kirk - Senior 
Communications 
Officer 

  James Mead - Assistant Planning 
Officer 

  Laura Pattison - Senior Planning 
Officer 

  George Pavey - Planning Officer 
  Jenny Pierce - Principal Planning 

Officer 
  Claire Sime - Planning Policy 

Manager 
  Kevin Steptoe - Head of Planning 

and Building 
Control Services 

  Liz Watts - Chief Executive 
 
 

Page 289

Agenda Item 14



DP  DP 
 
 

 

14   HERITAGE IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR PANSHANGER 
PARK AND ITS ENVIRONS, JUNE 2016            
 

 

 The Panel considered a report presenting the findings of 
the Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) undertaken for 
Panshanger Park and its environs.  It was proposed that 
the HIA be used as part of the evidence base to inform 
and support preparation of the District Plan, and for 
Development Management purposes. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the Heritage Impact 
Assessment (HIA) for Panshanger Park and its 
Environs, June 2016, be agreed as part of the 
evidence base to inform and support preparation of 
the East Herts District Plan; and  
 
(B) the HIA for Panshanger Park be agreed as 
evidence to inform Development Management 
decisions. 

 

 

15   HERTFORD AND WARE EMPLOYMENT STUDY, JUNE 
2016               
 

 

 The Panel gave consideration to the Hertford and Ware 
Employment Study, June 2016, which comprised a 
thorough assessment of the economic strength and 
potential of the two towns.  The Panel considered: 
 

 an economic profile of the towns; 

 an analysis of the existing and changes to 
the stock of employment floorspace in the 
towns; 

 a summary profile of each of the 
employment sites (except GSK in Ware, as it 
was in single company occupation); 

 an analysis of the strengths and weaknesses 
of the economy of the towns; and, 

 recommendations on policy, strategy and 
planning for employment land in the towns. 

 

Page 290



DP  DP 
 
 

 

 
In response to Members‟ comments and questions, 
Officers acknowledged the need for the Study‟s findings 
on the retention of current employment sites or their re-
provision to be reflected in the Hertford and Ware 
chapters of the District Plan.   
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the Hertford and Ware 
Employment Study, June 2016, be approved as part 
of the evidence base to inform and support the 
East Herts District Plan; and 
 
(B) the Hertford and Ware Employment Study, 
June 2016, be approved to inform Development 
Management decisions. 

 
16   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 1 – 

INTRODUCTION: RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED 
DURING PREFERRED OPTIONS CONSULTATION        
 

 

 The Panel considered a report detailing the issues raised 
through the Preferred Options consultation in connection 
with Chapter 1 (Introduction) of the Draft District Plan 
Preferred Options version, together with Officer 
responses to those issues. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 1 (Introduction) of the Draft 
District Plan Preferred Options, as detailed at 
Essential Reference Paper „B‟ to the report 
submitted, be received and considered; and 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed.  

  

 

Page 291



DP  DP 
 
 

 

17   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 2 – 
VISION AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES: RESPONSE TO 
ISSUES RAISED DURING PREFERRED OPTIONS 
CONSULTATION                
 

 

 The Panel considered the issues raised through the 
Preferred Options consultation in connection with 
Chapter 2 (Vision and Strategic Objectives) of the Draft 
District Plan Preferred Options version, together with 
Officer responses to those issues. 
 
In response to Members‟ comments and questions, 
Officers clarified that due to timing issues, some policy 
changes had been proposed although not necessarily 
arising from the comment made.  Vehicle Parking 
standards would be reported to the Panel meeting on 15 
September 2016.  In noting that the Council had yet to 
make a decision on the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL), the Panel Chairman advised that she would be 
discussing this with Officers. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 2 (Vision and Strategic 
Objectives) of the Draft District Plan Preferred 
Options, as detailed at Essential Reference Paper 
„B‟ to the report submitted, be received and 
considered; and 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed. 

 

 

18   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 7 – 
HERTFORD: RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED DURING 
PREFERRED OPTIONS CONSULTATION         
 

 

 The Panel considered the issues raised through the 
Preferred Options consultation in connection with 
Chapter 7 (Hertford) of the Draft District Plan Preferred 

 

Page 292



DP  DP 
 
 

 

Options version, together with Officer responses to those 
issues. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 7 (Hertford) of the Draft District 
Plan Preferred Options, as detailed at Essential 
Reference Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be 
received and considered; and 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed. 

 
19   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 8 – 

SAWBRIDGEWORTH: RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED 
DURING PREFERRED OPTIONS CONSULTATION         
 

 

 The Panel gave consideration to the issues raised 
through the Preferred Options consultation in connection 
with Chapter 8 (Sawbridgeworth) of the Draft District Plan 
Preferred Options version, together with Officer 
responses to those issues. 
 
In response to Members‟ comments and questions in 
respect of Issue 8.39 and the Thomas Rivers site, Officers 
confirmed that this could be looked at again. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 8 (Sawbridgeworth) of the Draft 
District Plan Preferred Options, as detailed at 
Essential Reference Paper „B‟ to the report 
submitted, be received and considered; and 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed.   

 

Page 293



DP  DP 
 
 

 

20   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 9 – 
WARE: RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED DURING 
PREFERRED OPTIONS CONSULTATION         
 

 

 The Panel considered the issues raised through the 
Preferred Options consultation in connection with 
Chapter 9 (Ware) of the Draft District Plan Preferred 
Options version, together with Officer responses to those 
issues. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations now detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED - that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 9 (Ware) of the Draft District 
Plan Preferred Options, as detailed at Essential 
Reference Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be 
received and considered; and 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed. 

 

 

21   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 11 – 
EAST OF WELWYN GARDEN CITY: RESPONSE TO 
ISSUES RAISED DURING PREFERRED OPTIONS 
CONSULTATION               
 

 

 The Panel considered the issues raised through the 
Preferred Options consultation in connection with 
Chapter 11 (East of Welwyn Garden City) of the Draft 
District Plan Preferred Options version, together with 
Officer responses to those issues. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 11 (East of Welwyn Garden City) 
of the Draft District Plan Preferred Options, as 
detailed at Essential Reference Paper „B‟ to the 
report submitted, be received and considered; and 
 

 

Page 294



DP  DP 
 
 

 

(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed. 

 
22   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 12 – 

GILSTON AREA: RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED  
DURING PREFERRED OPTIONS CONSULTATION          
 

 

 The Panel gave consideration to the issues raised 
through the Preferred Options consultation in connection 
with Chapter 12 (Gilston Area) of the Draft District Plan 
Preferred Options version, together with Officer 
responses to those issues. 
 
In response to Members‟ comments on the timing of 
infrastructure provision, Officers explained that working 
with partners would be crucial and that the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan would be submitted to a Panel meeting in 
September 2016. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 12 (Gilston Area) of the Draft 
District Plan Preferred Options, as detailed at 
Essential Reference Paper „B‟ to the report 
submitted, be received and considered; and 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed. 

 

 

23   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 14  – 
EMPLOYMENT: RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED DURING 
PREFERRED OPTIONS CONSULTATION, FURTHER 
AMENDMENTS AND DRAFT REVISED CHAPTER 
(RENAMED ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT)     
 

 

 The Panel considered a report on the issues raised 
through the Preferred Options consultation in connection 
with Chapter 14 (Economy) of the Draft District Plan 

 

Page 295



DP  DP 
 
 

 

Preferred Options version, together with Officer 
responses to those issues.  Members noted that further 
amendments to Chapter 14 (Economy) had been required 
to ensure that the final draft District Plan reflected the 
most up-to-date policy position and the latest available 
evidence.  The Panel also considered a draft revised 
chapter, for subsequent incorporation into the final draft 
District Plan.  
 
In response to Members‟ comments and questions, 
Councillor G Jones referred to supporting the rural 
economy and the importance of rolling out superfast 
broadband across the whole District.  He also commented 
on the Council‟s actions in support for business start-ups 
through working with Wenta and the Hertfordshire Local 
Enterprise Project. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 14 (Economy) of the Draft 
District Plan Preferred Options, as detailed at 
Essential Reference Paper „B‟ to the report 
submitted, be received and considered; 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed;  
 
(C) the further amendments in respect of 
Chapter 14 (Economy) of the Draft District Plan 
Preferred Options, as detailed at Essential 
Reference Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be 
received and considered; and 
 
(D) the draft revised Chapter 14 (Economic 
Development), as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „C‟ to the report submitted, be agreed as a 
basis for inclusion in the final draft District Plan, 
with the content being finalised when the 
consolidated plan is presented in September 2016. 

Page 296



DP  DP 
 
 

 

24   EAST HERTS DRAFT DISTRICT PLAN – CHAPTER 18 – 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES, LEISURE AND RECREATION: 
RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED DURING PREFERRED 
OPTIONS CONSULTATION, FURTHER AMENDMENTS 
AND DRAFT REVISED CHAPTER             
 

 

 The Panel considered a report on the issues raised 
through the Preferred Options consultation in connection 
with Chapter 18 (Community Facilities, Leisure and 
Recreation) of the Draft District Plan Preferred Options 
version, together with Officer responses to those issues.  
Members noted that further amendments to Chapter 18 
(Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation) had been 
required to ensure that the final draft District Plan 
reflected the most up-to-date policy position and the 
latest available evidence.  The Panel also considered a 
draft revised chapter, for subsequent incorporation into 
the final draft District Plan.  
 
Councillor E Buckmaster referred to the Council‟s 
ongoing work on developing a Leisure Strategy, 
reviewing its facilities and working with partners to 
ensure an emphasis on health and wellbeing and to tackle 
health inequality. 
 
In response to Members‟ comments and questions, 
Officers undertook to check the wording relating to 
“lifetime” and “lifelong” homes to ensure consistency. 
 
The Panel supported the recommendations as now 
detailed. 
 

RECOMMENDED – that (A) the issues raised in 
respect of Chapter 18 (Community Facilities, 
Leisure and Recreation) of the Draft District Plan 
Preferred Options, as detailed at Essential 
Reference Paper „B‟ to the report submitted , be 
received and considered; 
 
(B) the Officer response to the issues referred to 
in (A) above, as detailed in Essential Reference 
Paper „B‟ to the report submitted, be agreed; 

 

Page 297



DP  DP 
 
 

 

 
(C) the further amendments in respect of 
Chapter 18 (Community Facilities, Leisure and 
Recreation) of the Draft District Plan Preferred 
Options, as detailed at Essential Reference Paper 
„B‟ to the report submitted, be received and 
considered; and 
 
(D) the draft revised Chapter 18 (Community 
Facilities, Leisure and Recreation), as detailed in 
Essential Reference Paper „C‟ to the report 
submitted, be agreed as a basis for inclusion in the 
final draft District Plan, with the content being 
finalised when the consolidated plan is presented 
in September 2016. 

 
25   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
 

 The Panel Chairman welcomed Members, Officers and the 
public and reminded everyone that the meeting was being 
webcast. 
 
She advised that further Panel meetings had been scheduled 
for 25 August, 8 September and 15 September 2016.  
Recommendations from the Panel would be considered by the 
Executive on 19 September 2016 and an Extraordinary 
Council meeting on 22 September 2016 would consider and 
determine the District Plan for publication and a further six 
week consultation period. 
 
The Chairman also detailed the dates of forthcoming meetings 
with parish and town councillors on 25 July, 30 August and 20 
September 2016. 
 

 

26   MINUTES  
 

 

 RESOLVED – that the Minutes of the meeting held on 
24 May 2016 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 

 

 

 
The meeting closed at 8.05 pm

Page 298



Document is Restricted

Page 299

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 303

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 305

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Corporate Annual Report 2015/16
	Annual Report - ERP A (implications)
	Annual Report - ERP B (short version)
	Annual Report - ERP C (outturns)

	6 Hertford Urban Design Strategy – Request for Capital Funding
	Hertford Urban Design Study - ERPA (implications)

	7 Herts Home Improvement Agency Proposal
	Home Improvement Agency - ERP A (implications)
	Home Improvement Agency - ERP B (business plan)

	8 Proposed Use of Article 4 Directions
	Article 4 Directions - ERP A (implications)
	Article 4 Directions - ERP B (assessment).compressed

	9 Hertingfordbury Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP A (implications)
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP B (representations)
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP C (CAA 2016 update with track changes).compressed
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP C1 (historic plan)
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP C2 (charecter analysis).compressed
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP C3 (character analysis key)
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP C4 (Management plan).compressed
	Hertfingfordbury Conservation Area - ERP C5 (management plan key)

	10 Little Hadham Neighbourhood Plan Area Designation
	Little Hadham AD - ERP A (implications)
	Little Hadham AD - ERP B (Area Designation Request)

	11 Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 - 2020/21
	MTFP Update - ERP A (implications)
	MTFP Update - ERP B (Model)
	MTFP Update - ERP C (Planning Assumptions)
	MTFP Update - ERP D (Financial Strategy)
	MTFP Update - ERP E (Reserves Policy)

	12 2015-16 Annual Governance Statement
	Annual Governance Statement - ERP A (implications)
	Annual Governance Statement - ERP B (AGS TrackChanges)
	Annual Governance Statement - ERP C (AGS Action Plan)

	13 Quarterly Performance Report - Quarter 1 (June 2016)
	Performance Report - ERP A (implications)
	Performance Report - ERP B (revenue forecast)
	Performance Report - ERP C (capital monitoring)
	Performance Report - ERP D (debts)
	Performance Report - ERP E (indicators)
	Performance Report - ERP F (dashboard)

	14 District Planning Executive Panel: Minutes - 21 July 2016
	18 Sale of Land at Aubries, Walkern
	Land at Aubries, Walkern - ERP A (implications)
	Land at Aubries, Walkern - ERP B (plan)


